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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

LEMHEME
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
“ENF “EtF —T-)0\F —T-NfF| ZBIERE
HKSmilon  HK$milon  HK$milon  HKSmilion | HK$'million
BEATL BEAT BEAT BEATL BEET
iz_]& A
Restaurant, food and hotel & #k ~ & m KB /E 622 713 813 856 768
Property investment and WERERER
245 154 120 114 263
867 867 933 970 1,031
Profit Attributable to SREHERA
Owners of the Parent FEIG M 121 127 317 278 14
Basic Earnings per Share SREARZF (L)
9.65 10.16 25.27 2212 1.12
BEFE 3,535 3,530 3,958 3,830 3,563
BEE 5,834 6,084 6,306 6,262 6,393
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like
to present the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings
Company Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s turnover was
HK$1,031,070,000 (2019: HK$970,210,000), increased by
6% compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$14,123,000 (2019: HK$277,958,000),
reduced by 95% from last year. The increase in turnover was
mainly attributable to the sale of the land numbered “H” and
the construction in progress situated on it of the Lianyungang
project, which was partly offset by the decrease in revenue
from the restaurant, food and hotel businesses. Decrease in
operating profit attributable to shareholders was mainly due
to the significant impact of the outbreak of novel coronavirus
(“COVID-19”) and social events on the results of the restaurant,
food and hotel businesses, and the share of losses of the
associates during the year as compared to the share of large
revaluation gain on the investment properties of the associates
last year.

2019/2020 had been a difficult year. The Hong Kong social
events, together with the global trade disputes and COVID-19
pandemic had hindered economic development and caused
instability to the economy. Economic activities were widely
disrupted as lockdowns and travel bans were imposed in
various cities, which had significantly affected the Group’s
businesses during the year.

The Group continued to focus its property investment and
development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater
Bay Area. Construction of the 13 storeys commercial building
situated at the vibrant central district of the Guangzhou South
high speed train station is scheduled to complete in the
fourth quarter of 2020. After completion and delivery of the
property, it will become a high grade commercial building at
the Guangzhou South Station and will bring additional rental
income to the Group.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

I

In Hong Kong, the residential property re-development
project at Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po is under its progress
of development. The project has a buildable gross floor area
of 42,500 sq.ft.. The acquisition of property ownership by
compulsory auction sale was delayed by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 and is expected to complete by end of 2020. Site
construction works will commence in 2021. The project is
expected to complete by mid-2023.

In May 2019, the Group further expanded its property
development business in Hong Kong by entering into a
residential property re-development project at Castle Peak
Road, Sham Shui Po. The project has a buildable gross
floor area of 42,400 sq.ft.. As at today, approximately 90%
of the property ownership of the phase one development
was acquired, and it is expected all the remaining units will
be acquired by the first quarter of 2021. Site construction
works will be carried out thereafter. The project is expected to
complete by mid-2024.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project was
completed and fully opened for business. Management is
continuously raising the attractiveness of the shopping centres,
through promoting events and new selling points to attract
people flow and more shop tenants in order to increase the
occupancy rates and value of the shopping centres.

The Group had enlarged its investment properties portfolio
in Hong Kong by acquiring a shop and an industrial property
during the year, thus contributing to Group’s rental income.
However, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, rental concessions
were given to the tenants of the investment properties of
Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square and Shenzhen Imperial
Palace in the Mainland during the last quarter of the year. The
Group had recorded an overall decrease of 7% in rental income
for the year.
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The food and restaurant business is another core business of
the Group. Due to the China-US trade war, the social events
and the outbreak of COVID-19, there was a slow-down of the
economic activities in the Mainland and Hong Kong, which had
significantly affected the restaurant, food and hotel businesses
for the year. The business segment recorded a 10% decrease
in turnover from last year, which was the result of the decrease
in mooncake sales, as well as restaurant and hotel businesses.
Construction of the advanced food factory in Hainan was
largely completed. The mooncake production line is in full
operation and will significantly increase the production capacity
of mooncakes. The bread production line will be in its trial run
at end of 2020. Besides, the factory is expected to produce
packaged Hainan-style food and Chinese-style dry meat
products in 2021, which will make the food business more
diversified and will contribute to the growth of the Group’s food
business.

Turnover of the subsidiary Profit Smart group’s bread business
in Hong Kong slightly reduced 1% from last year. The bakery
business had turned around to profit from a loss last year.
The Profit Smart group has managed to improve results of
the retail shops by introducing new products and improving
management efficiency. At the same time, the factory business
performance has continued to grow as a result of better cost
control and sustainability of direct sales. Profit Smart group
has closed down four poor performing shops during the year.
Management will continue to strengthen product development
and introduce more new products with the aim to boost sales
and plan to open one to two new shops in the coming year.

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover for the year decreased
by 8% from last year. Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 and
to comply with the local government preventive policies, the
Group’s Carrianna Chinese restaurant business in the Mainland
was shut down for nearly two months in the last quarter of the
year. “Shun Yi"(JlE&.) Shunde cuisine restaurants continued
to contribute in sales growth and profit for the Group. Two
new “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants were opened in
Shenzhen during the year. The fourth “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurant has also been opened in Foshan, Guangdong in
June 2020. “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants will become
another profit contributing restaurant division of the Group.
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Chairman’s Statement

I

The Hong Kong Delicious restaurant group recorded a
decrease of 2% in turnover for the year. The Hong Kong style
“Cha Chaan Teng”( %<& &) business of Delicious restaurant
group was significantly affected by the social events in Hong
Kong and outbreak of COVID-19 during the year. The loss was
also attributable to the impairment of fixed assets and right-
of-use assets as a result of the shop closures. The Group
has implemented various cost control measures in food,
labour and rent to minimize the impact of the virus outbreak
on the restaurant operation and financial performance. The
Group has been closely monitoring the market conditions and
adjusting its business strategies to boost sales by increasing
promotions, special discounts and takeaway and home
delivery. Management has taken prompt decision to close four
loss-making Delicious restaurants and one noodle shop in
March and April 2020. The Group plans to open two to three
new Delicious restaurants in the coming year.

Although there are economic uncertainties and challenges
ahead, management remains positive and cautiously optimistic
about the prospects of the Group’s property investment and
development business and the restaurant, food and hotel
business.

Management believes that the economic development under
the Greater Bay Areas will continue to create new demand for
commercial buildings and office towers. Also, management
believes that the land supply shortage, low level of interest rate
and strong end-user demand will provide a strong support
to the residential property market in Hong Kong. While the
existing investment property portfolio provides steady income
flow, the new Guangzhou South Station property and the two
Shum Shui Po property re-development projects will provide
additional income return to the Group in the short and medium
term. Management will continue to explore new opportunities of
property investment as they arise.
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With the easing of lockdowns and gradual resuming of
business activities, management has seen the picking up
again of the Group’s restaurant business as well as the
bakery business in the second quarter of 2020. Management
has been monitoring the market conditions and adjusting its
business strategies in response to market changes to increase
competitiveness. The Group is confident that the restaurant and
bakery business performance will greatly improve in the coming
year.

In addition, with the advanced Hainan production facility
in operation, the Group is looking to expand its mooncake
business in the Mainland and to develop the markets for the
meat products, tourist packaged food and bread, making the
food business more diversified and contributing to the growth
of the Group’s food business in the next few years.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board, management team and staff for their support
and dedication to the Group and to shareholders, customers,
suppliers and other business partners for their unfailing
support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, rhD, SBS, BBS, aged 78, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
and re-designated as Non-Executive Director of the Group
since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma has over 30 years’ experience
in the restaurant business and property development. He
was a committee member of the 9th, 10th and 11th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He is the Consultant of All-Chinese Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese, the Permanent Honorary
President of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese International
Association, Permanent Honorary President of Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations Ltd.,
Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce Limited and Permanent Honorary
President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association. Mr. Ma is the elder brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, aged 69, a co-founder of the Group,
has been an Executive Director of the Group since 1984,
and Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma
accumulated many years of management experience from
garment business, property development, hotel and catering
business. Mr. Ma is currently responsible for the important
decision-making and business development of the Group. Mr.
Ma is a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee
of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
also serves as President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow
Public Association, Supervisor of Hong Kong & Kowloon
Chiu Chow Public Association Secondary School, Executive
Chairman of Hong Kong Changsha Chamber of Commerce,
Vice President of Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organization, Vice-Chairman of the Chinese
Manufacturers Association of Hong Kong and Chairman
of Hong Kong Commerce, Industry, and Professionals
Association. Mr. Ma is the younger brother of Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JP, aged 53, is an Executive
Director of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990 and was appointed Vice-chairman on 28
June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of Carrianna
Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently responsible
for the Group’s property development operations. He has
extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. Mr. Ma was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003,
appointed Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in
2004. In 2011, he was awarded the Honorary Citizen by the
Shenzhen government. He was the Chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of
the Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and also serves
as the Executive Vice Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations and the Vice President
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Ma
is an independent non-executive director of Liu Chong Hing
Investment Limited, the shares of which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma
Kai Cheung.

LEUNG Pak Yan, aged 66, is the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director of the Group since August 2015 and
October 2015 respectively. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Leung was a senior civil servant of the Hong Kong government
for nearly 30 years, serving various government departments
including Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, Transport
Bureau, Lands Departments and Education Department. Mr.
Leung served as the first director of the Hong Kong Economic
and Trade Office (the “ETO”) in Guangdong from 2002 to 2009.
Mr. Leung retired from the Hong Kong government as an
Administrative Officer Staff Grade B in 2009. After his long and
distinguished service in the government, Mr. Leung has been
invited to be the business consultant to numerous companies
and trade associations in Southern China and Hong Kong prior
to joining the Group. Mr. Leung holds a bachelor’s degree in
Electrical Engineering at the University of Aston in the United
Kingdom and a master’s degree in Public Administration from
the University of Hong Kong.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 61, is the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Chan joined the Group as the Group Financial Controller
in June 2019 and was appointed Company Secretary of the
Company in November 2019. He was appointed Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1 March
2020. Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan has held senior finance positions in a number
of listed companies and multinational corporations. He was
also the director of an investment and business consultancy
firm and has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment in the Mainland and Hong Kong. He also possesses
substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan
holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University
of Sydney in Australia. He is a member of the Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is currently
an independent non-executive director of China Dynamics
(Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

HATEE ()

BRIARE BT BAEAEBRRTES &
FE B EE RATMWE - BRI ER201956 A
MAREEAEENKBE TR=F—AN
F+—AEZTAARRARME R =
T EF-A—REZAREBHITESK
BEVEEE - RAEHRBEODFIEN &
TR EIRAAR - EMAREER  FREE
CREM M AR RBERCEETMEEE
BB E—HRENERBARES

BEBEEEMERERRAMEBIREL
Bom MG —HERSHTMEFEMIES
F RBEEENEESH LR - REEARFAR
MEBERBLES LB ARMRERIA
WETgMmAe RESGHMAEEE -

PREEBERIATEE N (ER)ERAF (H
BRORBBMERZFBERARZERET)
ZBAEMITES -



INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 70, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr.
Lo is an independent non-executive director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an executive director of
Winshine Science Company Limited from 3 October 2009
until 10 November 2014 when he was re-designated as non-
executive director and served until 18 December 2017. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian counties.

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 59, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in July
2004. Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
consultant of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 30 years of
extensive experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 58, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief financial officer of HAGER
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a
market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor's degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 44, is the Executive Director
of the China Food Division of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering and he holds a professional
engineer license in civil engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has
substantial experience in food and beverage business. Mr. Ma
is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 53, is the Managing Director of the
China Food Division of the Group, Carrianna (Hainan) Catering
Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing Co.,
Ltd.. He has been serving the Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau)
Restaurant in Hong Kong since 1986. Mr. Lee has been in
charge of operation of Hainan Carrianna restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 53, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the Managing Director of Carrianna
restaurant group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
Honorary Chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 56, is the Managing Director of
Delicious Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of
the Delicious restaurant group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
restaurant group.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 59, is the founder of the Profit Smart
group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which became effective on 1 January 2005. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
board of directors (the “Board”), sound internal control,
principles and practices and transparency and accountability
to all shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the
accounting period covered by this report.

In accordance with Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the non-executive director and
the independent non-executive directors are not appointed for
a specific term. However, all the directors (except Chairman) are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the provision of the By-laws of the Company and their
terms of appointment are reviewed when they are due for re-
election.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, save as disclosed below,
the directors of the Company have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard under the Model Code
throughout the year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

According to Rule A.3(g)(ii) of the Model Code, a director must
not deal in any securities of the Company on any day on which
its financial results are published and during the period of 30
days immediately preceding the publication date of the half-
year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the relevant
half-year period up to the publication date of the results,
which was from 28 October to 27 November 2019 (“Blackout
Period”).

Due to inadvertent oversight, Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John, the
executive director of the Company, sold 4,000 shares of the
Company at the average price of HK$0.79 per share on 29
October 2019, and 100,000 shares of the Company at the
average price of HK$0.78 per share on 30 October 2019,
respectively on the Stock Exchange within the Blackout Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2020, the Board comprised eight directors,
including four executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors.

The brief biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 10
to 14 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills, diversity of
perspectives and experience which can meet the requirements
of the business of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All directors of the
Company have made full and active contribution to the affairs of
the Board and the Board has always acted in the best interests
of the Group.

The executive directors and senior management of the
Company are delegated with respective levels of authorities
with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and
contractual commitments. Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads
responsible for different aspects of the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 73 to 81 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four regular

EEG 9

LR
RN EEGTHEE %%ﬁmﬁ%%@%

board meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board & -BEZEHFEETSSHMNBRMT:
meetings was as follows:
Number of
attendance
Directors BE= R E
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBRE (E8FE) 9/10
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 10/10
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BB EE (BIEE) 9/10
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) RBERSE (TTEAEE) 10/10
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BoR R 1 4 A
(appointed on 1 March 2020) (R-FE-_ZFF=HA—HZF) 11
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEE
(resigned on 1 March 2020) (R=ZF=-FF=H—HEHE) 9/9
Mr. Ng Sze Ping RBELEAE
(resigned on 1 August 2019) (R=—ZFE—NFNA—HEHE) 1/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BA B %58 4 A 10/10
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam & XA 10/10
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 10/10

ExellengRELAL UWEL2BESY

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board mesting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) EEEm
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued) FEEFEHR @

According to the records of the Company, during the financial BEARNRARFFLEE REE T -_TF=
year ended 31 March 2020, the directors participated in the A=+—BIFHBEERN EEZLXEMUT

following trainings: =l
Type of training
Directors BE= EIER
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung SNELEE @)
(Honorary Chairman) (EELE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNAREE (FE) (1.2
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BB EE (BIEE) 1.2
(Vice-chairman)
Mr. Leung Pak Yan RERKE 1),2)
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TB 48 %)
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PR IR 4 S0 (1.2
(appointed on 1 March 2020) (RZF=ZFF=H—H
ZIE)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEAE M.
(resigned on 1 March 2020) (R=ZF-—ZFF=H—H
BEIE)
Mr. Ng Sze Ping REEEE 1),2)
(resigned on 1 August 2019) (R=ZF—NFNHA—H
FHE)
Independent Non-Executive BIYKHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA ok M.
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B A M,
Mr. Wong See King HEEBEE @)
(1) Attending training sessions/seminars (1) HEEIEE e

(2)  Reading materials 2 BIEME




CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Leung Pak Yan was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the
roles are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting after their
appointment and shall be subject to re-election by the
shareholders of the Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the
Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or
Managing Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each
annual general meeting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
comprises three independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and
Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) FEZET @)

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the BiZESHEECAE HIZHELESE
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and Bl BEER AR B 2 BA ISR T2 7 - ERESIE &
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal TR A EBE B HEIRE - KRR NAIBRES
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The ERHEHEMER FEUTE2BITHRE -
Audit Committee is also provided with other resources to

enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and FR BRZESAMMA SR EHAIMNE
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance #ZEMHF -ZBEXZESeZNKELER
records of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in~ JLaA N :

the table below:

Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HEEERE

Directors B= HEBRRE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRAR SE () 2/2

Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB A 2/2
Mr. Wong See King BREEE 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of BZZECEHMRAAQRREREENRAQARZ
the Company and Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the /MBI E AN %k & 51 A0 B FFT =B A EEFr
Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted by — ###2 @R LIBH - Wt F/AZ - A ELESHE
the Group and has discussed auditing, internal controls and MM BEHREEEETER UEEEFHALQ
financial reporting matters, including the review of the annual ®IEZE T -_TF=A=+—HILFEZF
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020. B -
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

% ok 2
RRABE BB RIS 2 BE T

2020 2019

—E-BF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Audit fee Z 8RS 3,520 3,827
Non-audit service fees* IEZ B RS 145 145
Total st 3,665 3,972

*

Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other
professional services provided

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
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meetings. The attendance records of the members of the EFHMKAEHEB AT
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:

Number of
meetings
attended/Total
number of
meetings
HEEERE
Directors BEx HERRE
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) EXBEE (EE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles %‘#Eﬂ BEE 2/2
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Remuneration Committee also formulated and evaluated the
remuneration policy and structure for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

EW TMEEERRTESTZHMTBER

REFAEEEREEZ -FMHEZE ST
%U:.T&;.HE$’A7§$&m%&%ﬁAEZ%¥
PN BSCSR B A5 4

FHERBREHEANEM S

RIE KEERERTAD ZFRAHEXFEB.1.6K
RE BE_T_FTF-_A=1T—HILHFE
BENWELRE D 2R REEABNMEES
LN

Number of

individuals

A"

Up to HK$1,000,000 % 11,000,000/ 7T 8
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T £2,000,0007 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 = HK$5,000,000 2,000,001;% 7T 25,000,000/ 7T &)

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

HiEHEEME R ALFMES 2 E S B
T MARE EMARAM S RNATREZE—
HEHEBED RIBFINERE M RERM T8 ROA




Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2012
and comprises one executive director and three independent
non-executive directors, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman),
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong
See King.

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are set out in the table below:

"RHZEE®

BaEFEgelN —_E——F=H -+ AR
H—BWTEE N = RB IEITE B4
BRERENMREE(EE) $HEXLE EX
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T-—F-A-+ABEEZSRMN HEH
REAZBGUZEREBE ETABATE
(REERTA) 2TUABRXRERRER
AR -

REZECAANEFRBERESR UERE
AHABEERANB R ERIEE AR AR
TEEZERERE REFSFEHERM PR
H2PRET REZES2ENEERERE
AWBERE KR RER EXRHEER-

FR REZEBEAF - AEH RREZES
KBz HEREEMT

Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESERE

Directors BE= HERIE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) SNhREE (E/FE) 11
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA 11
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B L E 1/
Mr. Wong See King |mREBRLELE 1/1



COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis
Ping Kuen, who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of Sydney in Australia and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. Mr. Chan has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
as well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group covering
all material controls including financial, operational controls and
risk management pursuant to the Codes and considered that
all the material internal controls and risk management in the
Group were adequate and effective during the year. The Board
will keep review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems on a regular basis to
ensure that the systems in place are adequate.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communications:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i)  updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;

@iy the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v) the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written requests to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at the annual
general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders
of the Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall on the written requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the SGM,
forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM (“Requisition”). The
Requisition, which may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists, must state the
objects of the SGM and be deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)
(Continued)

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Attendance of the directors at the last annual general meeting
which was held on 26 August 2019 was as follows:
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Number of
attendance
Directors = R #
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) SNBEEE (EE8EE) -/1
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) SENREE(EFE) 11
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) Bt E (BEE) 11
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) REREE (7TTHAEE) 11
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RBENESE
(resigned on 1 March 2020) (RZF=ZFF=H—H
BFIE) 1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITESE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B kL 11
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B X E 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 11




Business Review
¥ 7% I gE

PROPERTY

External turnover of property investment and development
segment for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
HK$262,667,000 (2019: HK$114,487,000), an increase of
129% from last year. The increase was mainly attributable to
the sale of the land numbered “H” and the construction in
progress situated on it for RMB160,344,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$179,826,000) of the Lianyungang project
during the year, which was partly offset by the slight decrease
in rental income during the last quarter of the year when there
was an outbreak of COVID-19. Segment profit for the year
was HK$137,731,000 (2019: HK$293,770,000), a decrease
of 53% from last year. Excluding the property revaluation gain
of HK$37,729,000 and the exchange loss of the receivable
from the disposal of Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise Co., Ltd.
of HK$14,143,000, the Group recorded a segment operating
profit of HK$114,145,000 (2019: HK$55,054,000). The
increase in segment operating profit was mainly resulted from
the gain on disposal of the abovementioned Lianyungang
property, which was partly offset by the share of the operating
loss of the Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project
for the year.

The Group’s rental income from investment properties for the
year was HK$82,622,000 (2019: HK$88,764,000), a decrease
of 7% from last year. While there was a small growth in rental
income in Hong Kong due to new additions to the investment
properties portfolio, the investment properties of Shenzhen
Carrianna Friendship Square and Shenzhen Imperial Palace
in the Mainland have recorded a decrease in rental income
due to the offer of rental concessions to the tenants during
the last quarter of the year when there was an outbreak of the
COVID-19. The decrease was also partly due to devaluation in
Renminbi which has resulted in a drop in rental income in Hong
Kong dollars.
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The Group’s investment properties continue to
provide satisfactory rental income

SEREMFBERFRIFES WS

Shenzhen Imperial Palace
w1 B4 BE %

Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square
RIMEE PR HES

Substantially completed commercial building
at Guangzhou South high speed train station
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Sl



Business Review

5 ¥ Il e

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project was
fully completed. The east tower of six storeys and two levels
of basement with a total floor area of 109,000 sg.m. home
furniture and building materials centre is entirely opened for
business. The west tower and north tower with a total area of
164,000 sg.m. of community, dining and shopping mall are
also fully opened for business. The associate is operating at
a loss due to insufficient rental income to cover the operating
expenses. Management has been continuously raising the
attractiveness of the shopping centres, through promoting
events and new selling points to attract people flow and more
shop tenants to both the home furniture and building materials
centre and the community, dining and shopping mall in order
to increase the occupancy rates and value of the shopping
centres.

Construction of the Guangzhou South Station Property,
as described hereunder, is scheduled to complete in the
fourth quarter of 2020. According to the pre-sale agreement
with Vanke Group’s affiliate Guangzhou Wanche Property
Company Limited (EMMEBBEMHMEABR AR ), the
Group has agreed to purchase the 13 storeys commercial
building being constructed at the vibrant central district of
the Guangzhou South high speed train station in Panyu,
Guangzhou (“Guangzhou South Station Property”). The building
comprises the ground floor lobby, all office units from 3rd to
13th floors and 75 car parking spaces at the basement level.
The total gross floor area of the office units is 9,203 sq.m. After
completion and delivery of the property, it will become a high
grade commercial building at the Guangzhou South Station and
will bring additional rental income to the Group.
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Dongguan Home Town Project
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Red Star Macalline International Home Furniture Mall Home Town Furniture and Building Materials Mall
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Home Town Community Shopping Mall Function Hall
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The Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street residential property re-
development project, which is situated at 223-225A Haitan
Street, Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong is under its progress of
development. The project comprises a site area of 4,729 sq.ft.,
buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable floor
area of approximately 34,400 sq.ft.. As of today, the associate,
Grand Creation Development Limited has successfully acquired
approximately 90% of the property ownerships. The acquisition
by compulsory auction sale was delayed by the outbreak of the
COVID-19 and is expected to complete by end of 2020. Site
investigation and demolition works are estimated to commence
in the first quarter of 2021 and construction works will be
carried out thereafter. The project is expected to complete by
mid-2023.

In May 2019, the Group further expanded its property
development business in Hong Kong by entering into an
agreement to subscribe for 50% equity interest in Mega
Success Limited (“Mega Success”). The principal business
of Mega Success is the residential property re-development
project at Castle Peak Road. The project is situated at 300-
306 Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po with a site area of 4,709
sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft., and saleable
floor area of approximately 34,300 sq.ft.. As at today, Mega
Success has successfully acquired approximately 90% of the
property ownership of the Phase 1 development, and it is
expected all the remaining units will be acquired by end of the
first quarter of 2021. Site investigation and demoalition works
are estimated to commence in the second quarter of 2021 and
construction works will be carried out thereafter. The project is
expected to complete by mid-2024.
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Newly-opened Foshan “Shunyi” Shunde cuisine Newly-opened Shenzhen Chegongmiao “Shunyi’
restaurant Shunde cuisine restaurant
B Em3eE MHAERRYIEAR [EE ] IEESEEE

Dongguan Carrianna restaurant Grand Opening of Shenzhen Bay “Shunyi” Shunde
=5/t

SeEEMEE cuisine restaurant
RINE [NEFE | B SR 3 e

Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel Foshan Carrianna Hotel
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Due to the China-US trade war, the social events and the
outbreak of COVID-19, there was a slow-down of the
economic activities in the Mainland and Hong Kong, which had
significantly affected the restaurant, food and hotel segment
businesses for the year. External turnover of restaurant, food
and hotel segment for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
HK$768,403,000 (2019: HK$855,723,000), a decrease of 10%
from last year. Segment profit for the year was HK$22,634,000
(2019: HK$93,795,000), a decrease of 76% from last year. The
decrease was a result of the decrease in mooncake sales, as
well as restaurant and hotel businesses.

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover for the year was
HK$389,445,000 (2019: HK$424,155,000), a decrease of
8% from last year. Restaurant business recorded a loss
of HK$48,550,000 for the year as compared to a loss of
HK$8,044,000 last year.

There was a decrease in sales revenue of Carrianna Chinese
restaurant group of 13% to HK$166,808,000 from last year.
With the opening of two new “Shun Yi” (IEE) Shunde cuisine
restaurants in Shenzhen, the Group operated 7 Carrianna
traditional Chao Zhou cuisine restaurants and 3 “Shun Yi" (JI§
&) Shunde cuisine restaurants during the year. Except for the
“Shun Yi” (IEE) Shunde cuisine restaurants, other Carrianna
Chinese restaurants recorded a drop in sales and results during
the year. The Carrianna Chinese restaurant group recorded a
loss of HK$17,900,000 for the year as compared to a profit of
HK$1,814,000 last year. Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19
and to comply with the local government preventive policies,
the Group’s Carrianna Chinese restaurant business in the
Mainland was shut down for nearly two months in the last
quarter of the year. “Shun Yi” (IEE) Shunde cuisine restaurants
continued to contribute in sales growth and profit for the Group.
The fourth “Shun Vi” (I8 &) Shunde cuisine restaurant has just
been opened in Foshan, Guangdong in June 2020. “Shun Yi”
(IEZ) Shunde cuisine restaurants will become another profit
contributing restaurant division of the Group.
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Rasa Pesta restaurant at Sha Kok Estate, S
DWHEDARERER

Delicious restaurant at Mongkok
HEAKEER

Famous Delicious Hainan chicken rice
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Gusto restaurant at Wo Che Estate, Shatin
DHEREBWMLEREE

Gustation restaurant at Kwong Yuen Estate, Shatin
Y H BRI EIREE

Newly-introduced Delicious Poon Choi
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The Hong Kong Delicious restaurant group recorded a
decrease of 2% in turnover to HK$215,880,000 from last year.
Delicious restaurant group operated 18 Hong Kong style “Cha
Chaan Teng”(Z & &) restaurants under the trade names
“Delicious” (%K 2 ), “Gustation”(iEEK) , “Gusto”(Z£ KX E)
and “Rasa Pesta” (&%) , and 4 northern China style noodle
shops, branded “King Noodle”(# £ ) during the year. The
Delicious restaurant group recorded a loss of HK$21,857,000
for the year (2019: HK$4,666,000). The business of Delicious
restaurant group was significantly affected by the social events
in Hong Kong and outbreak of COVID-19 during the year. The
loss was also attributable to the impairment of fixed assets
and right-of-use assets of HK$11,900,000 as a result of the
shop closures. The Group has implemented various cost
control measures in food, labour and rent to minimize the
impact of the virus outbreak on the restaurant operation and
financial performance. The Group has been closely monitoring
the market conditions and adjusting its business strategies
to boost sales by increasing promotions, special discounts
and takeaway and home delivery. Management has taken
prompt decision to close four loss-making Delicious restaurants
and one noodle shop in March and April 2020. Due to the
challenging business environment, the “ZZhang” Korean food
restaurant and “V. THAI” Thai food restaurant in Causeway Bay
were also closed during the year. The Group plans to open two
to three new Delicious restaurants in the coming year.
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V28 Bakery at Tai Po Fu Heng Shopping Centre
ANEE 7 5 V28 B 5

Empery Bakery at Fanling Town Centre
M eEAEEE B /5

Pak Lok Bakery at Cheung Fat Estate, Tsing Yi
BFREEUELEYE
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Assorted breads and cakes
EXEB KA
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Food business turnover for the year was HK$341,253,000
(2019: HK$380,223,000), a decrease of 10% from last year.
The decrease in food business turnover mainly due to the
decrease in Carrianna mooncake sales. Hainan, Shenzhen and
Kunming markets all recorded a decrease in turnover and profit.
The construction of the new Hainan food factory was largely
completed. The new factory has a site area of 29,968 sqg.m.
and a total floor area of 58,114 sg.m. The production base
comprises 6 individual buildings, which include a composite
administration building, a staff quarter building, a logistics and
storage building, production building One (for mooncake and
filing production), production building Two (for tourist packaged
food and bread production) and production building Three (for
packaged meat production). Each of the production buildings is
installed with modern advanced automatic production facilities.
The mooncake production line is in full operation and will
significantly increase the production capacity of mooncakes.
The bread production line will be in its trial run at end of 2020.
Besides, the factory is expected to produce packaged Hainan-
style food and Chinese-style dry meat products in 2021, which
will make the food business more diversified and will contribute
to the growth of the Group’s food business.

Turnover of the subsidiary Profit Smart group’s bread business
in Hong Kong slightly reduced 1% to HK$111,924,000 from
last year. Profit Smart group operated 17 bakery shops
throughout Hong Kong under the trade names “Empery
Bakery” (2 &), “Pak Lok Bakery’( B£:% 45 ) and “V28
Bakery” during the year. Profit Smart group has turned
around to record a profit of HK$1,826,000 from a loss of
HK$4,573,000 last year. The Profit Smart group has managed
to improve results of the retail shops by introducing new
products and improving management efficiency. At the same
time, the factory business performance has continued to grow
as a result of better cost control and sustainability of direct
sales. Profit Smart group has closed down 4 poor performing
shops during the year. Management will continue to strengthen
product development and introduce more new products with
the aim to boost sales and plan to open one to two new shops
in the coming year.
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Hotel business environment remained difficult for the year
with a turnover of HK$37,705,000 (2019: HK$51,522,000), a
decrease of 27% from last year. The operating loss of the two
hotels decreased by 24% to HK$20,455,000 from last year.
The decrease was mainly due to the one-time impairment of
the goodwill of HK$8,721,000 relating to Foshan Carrianna
Hotel last year. Management is implementing measures to
improve the results of the hotels through tighter cost control
and rendering of better services. Foshan Carrianna Hotel is
undergoing a refurbishment to upgrade its hotel rooms to
improve its competitiveness. After implementing the above
measures, management believes that Foshan Carrianna Hotel
and Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel will be able to achieve
positive cash flows.

OUTLOOK

2019/2020 had been a difficult year. The Hong Kong social
events, together with the global trade disputes and COVID-19
pandemic had hindered economic development and caused
instability to the economy. Economic activities were widely
disrupted as lockdowns and travel bans were imposed in
various cities. Although there are economic uncertainties and
challenges ahead, management remains positive and cautiously
optimistic about the prospects of the Group’s property
investment and development business and the restaurant, food
and hotel business.

Management believes that the economic development under
the Greater Bay Area will continue to create new demand for
commercial buildings and office towers. Also, management
believes that the land supply shortage, low level of interest rate
and strong end-user demand will provide a strong support
to the residential property market in Hong Kong. While the
existing investment property portfolio provides steady income
flow, the new Guangzhou South Station Property and the two
Shum Shui Po property re-development projects will provide
additional income return to the Group in the short and medium
term. Management will continue to explore new opportunities of
property investment as they arise.
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With the easing of lockdowns and gradual resuming of
business activities, management has seen the picking up
again of the Group’s restaurant business as well as the
bakery business in the second quarter of 2020. Management
has been monitoring the market conditions and adjusting its
business strategies in response to market changes to increase
competitiveness. The Group is confident that the restaurant and
bakery business performance will greatly improve in the coming
year.

In addition, with the advanced Hainan production facility
in operation, the Group is looking to expand its mooncake
business in the Mainland and to develop the markets for the
meat products, tourist packaged food and bread, making the
food business more diversified and contributing to the growth
of the Group’s food business in the next few years.
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s turnover was
HK$1,031,070,000 (2019: HK$970,210,000), increased by
6% compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$14,123,000 (2019: HK$277,958,000),
reduced by 95% from last year. Excluding the property
revaluation gain and related tax effect of HK$25,029,000
and the exchange loss of the receivable from the disposal of
Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise Co., Ltd. of HK$14,143,000,
operating profit attributable to shareholders was HK$3,237,000
(2019: HK$35,333,000), decreased by 91% from last year.
The increase in turnover was mainly attributable to the sale
of the land numbered “H” and the construction in progress
situated on it for RMB160,344,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$179,826,000) of the Lianyungang project during the
year, which was partly offset by the decrease in revenue
from the restaurant, food and hotel businesses. Decrease in
operating profit attributable to shareholders was mainly due
to the significant impact of the outbreak of COVID-19 and
social events on the results of the restaurant, food and hotel
businesses, and the share of losses of the associates during
the year as compared to the share of large revaluation gain on
the investment properties of the associates last year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s consolidated net
assets after deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$3,599,359,000 (31 March 2019: HK$3,869,810,000) and
consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$2.86 (31 March 2019: HK$3.08).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$245,895,000 (2019: HK$126,259,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$62,498,000, HK$127,695,000
and HK$55,702,000 respectively. The Group’s free cash
and bank balances, structured deposits, and derivative
financial instrument amounted to HK$486,998,000 (2019:
HK$127,117,000).
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As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s total bank borrowings
amounted to HK$1,675,212,000 (2019: HK$1,284,899,000).
All interest-bearing bank borrowings bear interest at floating
rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for borrowings,
the Group’s net bank borrowings were HK$1,640,516,000
(2019: HK$1,239,487,000). Net bank borrowings less free
cash and bank balances, structured deposits and derivative
financial instrument were HK$1,153,518,000 (2019:
HK$1,112,370,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings, net of cash and bank
balances, structured deposits, derivative financial instrument
and pledged time deposits as a percentage of the Group’s total
equity, was approximately 32% (2019: 29%).

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

The Group generally funds the operations from internal
resources, investment income and bank borrowings. The
liquidity needs mainly comprise general working capital,
capital expenditure and investment, and repayment of bank
borrowings and interest.

During the year under review, management closely monitored
the cash position of the Group from time to time to ensure
that it was adequate to finance the financial and operational
requirements. With the increase in the level of cash balance
at the year end, management will utilize it for appropriate
investments in accordance with the Group’s strategies and
directions from the Board.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL

FORMATION OF ASSOCIATE

On 24 May 2019, Goldfield Properties Limited (‘Goldfield”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Fine
Star Holdings Limited (“Fine Star”) and Mega Success Limited
(“Mega Success”) entered into a shareholders agreement,
pursuant to which (i) Goldfield will subscribe for 100 shares,
being 50% of the total issued share capital, of Mega Success;
and (i) Goldfield and Fine Star agree to manage and operate
the property re-development project of Mega Success at 300-
306 Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong in accordance
with the terms of the agreement. It is expected that the total
capital commitments of Goldfield towards Mega Success
for the property development project will be approximately
HK$200,000,000.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 May 2019.

DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY

On 6 December 2019, China East International Materials
City Development (Lianyungang) Company Limited ( Z &
B R B ) R R 3 (EE B ) BIR 2 A]) (the “Vendor”),
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Lianyungang Zhen Cheng Property Company Limited (#Z
BIREEBEZEARAQA) (the “Purchaser’), an independent third
party entered into a transfer agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor has agreed to sell and the Purchaser has agreed to
acquire (i) the land under construction with a total land area of
approximately 83,618 square metres being the parcel of land
numbered “H” situated at Lingang Industrial Area, Economic
and Technological Development Zone of Lianyungang (&
SR BN R R E ¥ RHM R ) together the land
use right attached thereto (the “Land”) owned by the Vendor
for a cash consideration of RMB100,344,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$112,536,000); and (i) the construction in
progress situated on the Land with an expected total floor area
of approximately 200,677 square metres, more particularly
known as China East International New City ® Dong Wan ( ZER
Bl BR #k @ B 56 ) for a cash consideration of RMB60,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$67,290,000). The transaction
was completed on 25 March 2020 and a gain of approximately
HK$67,443,000 was recorded as a result of the disposal of the
property.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 6 December 2019 and 26 March 2020.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$3,619,000 (2019: HK$6,144,000).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties held for sale, time deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$1,811,441,000 (2019: HK$1,943,288,000)
were pledged to secure general banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions as at 31 March 2020 and for the year then ended
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Majority of the sales, purchases and expenditure incurred
by the operating units of the Group during the year were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures, except for the outstanding consideration receivable
in relation to the disposal of the Group’s equity interest in
Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise Co. Ltd. of approximately
RMB104,858,000 (equivalent to HK$114,473,000) as at the
reporting date. The Group has not used any derivative to hedge
its exposure to foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 700 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,000 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.
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EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY

On 29 May 2020, Shenzhen Jiayizhan Trading Company
Limited CRYITTEERE S AR A7) (the “Purchaser”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Yunan
Longyu Property Development Company Limited (ZEFE gEF
EHEMZEAGR R A) (the “Vendor”), an independent third
party entered into a pre-sale agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor has agreed to sell and the Purchaser has agreed to
purchase all the commercial units numbered 8-S113, 8-S212,
8-S301 and 8-S401 of a 4-storey building (the “Building”),
and ten parking spaces at basement level 1 of the Building
(together the “Property”) to be constructed on a parcel of land
situate at Fifth Avenue, Runcheng, Kunming, Yunan Province,
China (R EIEf4 EAMEME L RE) for a total cash
consideration of RMB41,150,001 (equivalent to approximately
HK$44,474,921), of which RMB40,000,001 is apportioned
to the commercial units, and the remaining balance, being
RMB1,150,000 is apportioned to the parking spaces. The
consideration for the commercial units is based on the
expected aggregate gross floor area of the commercial units of
2036.47 square metres and an agreed price per square metre
for each of the commercial units, which upon completion of the
Building, shall be adjusted based on the actual gross floor area
of the commercial units.

Pursuant to the pre-sale agreement, the Vendor shall deliver the
Property to the Purchaser on or before 30 July 2021.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 May 2020.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 30 to 48 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 82 to 264.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK3 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March
2020. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on or before 9 October 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
Annual General Meeting

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 25 August 2020 to Friday, 28 August 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 August,
2020.

Dividend

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 17 September 2020 to Friday, 18 September
2020, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 16 September 2020.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the results, assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
HE=A=t+-ALEE /R=A=1-H

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EE  —“T-hF T\ —T—tF —T-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT TET TET THT
RESULTS E
REVENUE KA 1,031,070 970,210 932,620 867,468 867,178
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR EREF 14,861 300,720 331,402 149,725 134,426
Attrioutable to: e
Owners of the parent BRAEEA 14,123 277,958 317,017 127 446 121,030
Non-controlling interests FEERER 738 22,762 14,385 22,279 13,396
14,861 300,720 331,402 149,725 134,426
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE 8K
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS HEE 6,393,211 6,261,702 6,306,272 6,084,115 5,334,498
TOTAL LIABILITIES “aE (2,830,207)  (2,431,636) (2,348,599  (2,554,531)  (2,299,906)
NON-CONTROLLING FERER
INTERESTS 36,355 39,744 (215) (90,728) (96,744)
3,599,359 3,869,810 3,057,458 3,438,856 3,437,848




Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision of The
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to approximately
HK$152,150. In addition, the amount of approximately
HK$1,397,359,000 previously included in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$6,937,000 (2019: HK$534,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non-Executive Director:
Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman)

Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Chan Francis Ping Kuen (appointed on 1 March 2020)
Ng Yan Kwong (resigned on 1 March 2020)

Ng Sze Ping (resigned on 1 August 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Ma Hung Ming, John will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Lo Ming Chi, Charles will retire by rotation and, being eligible,
will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as the date of this report still considers them to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 10 to 14 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Leung Pak Yan and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen had
entered into a service contract with the Company. The
contract has no fixed terms of engagement and is subject to
retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s Bye-laws
and termination by either party giving three months’ notice in
writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John had no service contract with the Company as at the end
of the reporting period.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2020 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S FEERFEARABRN KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN MR RiRE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the M- E-_TF=A=+—HB AR ZESE
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, NEZBITHRA BRAA AT IEEEE
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of (F&ER (FEHFRHBEEH) ([ (BEMPE
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of  {&5I) 1) EXVEL) 2 i - BN ME AT
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") as recorded A 2 FA R  BERLRR AR FIRE G&
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant % R EIEEH]) FEI2EMEATEE 2 ER
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the A : SR iE E AR B 2 ZESFRIZB B 1TH
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model @ARRIRBRFTZERZEARIT

Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company (a) AR
Underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares Percentage of
and nature of interests pursuant to the Company’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREZ
BELBERRA#ERESNE HERAE A HARABERST
BEpR B/ BRME AR RikER HihER (Fi3E1) At BRARGE
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, security 253,630,421 7,050,000 259,129,025 - 519,809,446 (L) 41.35
BNE interest in shares, interest (note 8) (note 2) (note 3)
of spouse and beneficiary (GED) GE) GE)
of trust
EREAA BRRDER
REERREEZRA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, security 104,685,149 3,200,000 101,201,040 1,200,000 210,286,189 (L) 16.73
BN interest in shares, interest (note 8) (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
of spouse and beneficiary (GED) GED) (BifzE576)
of trust
ERfAA BRRDER
REERREEZRA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 476,000 2,044,000 = 2,000,000 4,520,000 (L) 0.36
et interest of spouse (note 7)
ExiB AREBER (M3E7)
Leung Pak Yan Beneficial owner - - - 11,000,000 11,000,000 (L) 0.88
2A73 ExBBA
Chan Francis Ping Kuen  Beneficial owner = = = 6,000,000 6,000,000 (L) 048
RInE ERBAA

L - Long position &f &




DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(a) The Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the directors and senior executive under the
2015 Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 36 to
the financial statements.

(2)  The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

(8 Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

(4)  The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

(5) Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

(6) Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (‘Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

(7)  The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.

(8) Included in “Personal interests” are 125,428,754 shares
owned by Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited, of
which 62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of Ma
Kai Cheung, and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

e EX I PN -V S P
Bkt 2 HE & R R B (s

(b) W& 2=

Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share

Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary Name of director  Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTREABDL
WEARARE E3HE 54 FiERO#E L) bl (EBR)
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Limited
EUEERBRAA BNE ERBEBA LEK
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Limited
EUEERBRAA ENR FEREXEA LEK
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
FRERABRAA BNE ERBEBA BERERE TR
Tkt
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
RRERABRAA BN EmfBA BRERE TEmA
T
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BNE EmBBA BREER i
TR 1R
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
BN ERBEBA BREREE ik
Tkt
EBEEBRABBEAR  MakKai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BNE ERBEBA TEA ok

L - Long position ¥ &



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 45 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10
years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the option scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the option scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.

3. Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2020

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 9.97% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2020.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed one per cent.
(1%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such eligible participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be
granted to such eligible participant must be fixed before
the shareholders’ approval and the date of board meeting
for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

8. The remaining life of the option scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfilment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had 28,800,000 share
options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION GRBRESSMEH @
SCHEME (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s T XREBFARNRGIRIE T — A FHERE
share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme T &I18 T i R 1T{F 2 B A AEE
during the year:

Number of share options
BREHA

Closing
Cancelled/ price
forfeited/ Exercise at grant
Granted  Exercised reclassified Date of Exercise price of date of
At 1 April during during  during the At 31 March grant of period of share share
2019  theperiod  the period period 2020 share options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HKS per share  HKS gsr share
R L Rk R - ) ABEE
ZE-nE . BH/RY/ -%-%f% Bl id (i) RHAH
mA-B RARRE RBRTE  ENBE ZA=t-B  BRERHR BRENE BREER ZWmE
UED) (g2
GiRET GRET
Executive Directors
HiTE
Ma Kai Yum 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
SNk 15-10-2020
Ma Hung Ming, John - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
e 19-2-2025
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Leung Pak Yan 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2016 to 0.81 0.81
Z2ER 31-7-2020
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2017 to 0.81 0.81
31-7-2021
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2018 to 0.81 0.81
31-7-2022
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2025
- 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Chan Francis Ping Kuen - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2020 to 0.714 0.70
RinE 2-6-2025
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2021 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2026
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2022 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2027
Ng Yan Kwong 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000 - 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 o 0.81 0.81
REX 15-10-2020
12,200,000 10,000,000 - (2,000,000) 20,200,000
Other employees and 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 4,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
consultants 156-10-2020
HttESRER - 2,300,000 - - 2,300,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 1o 0.714 0.70
19-2-2025
- 2,300,000 - - 2,300,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
2,000,000 4,600,000 - 2,000,000 8,600,000
In aggregate

5 14,200,000 14,600,000 = - 28,800,000




INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company had 28,800,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$21,926,000 (before issue expenses). The fair value of these
unexercised options measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial statements)
amounted to approximately HK$5,512,000.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2020, according to the register kept by the W-_Z-_ZTFE=A=+—8 RELAQIFEZ
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was  (FEHLHEKEN) F336IEFE ZELMA
known to the directors, the following persons or corporations T/~ AMBLE BFTA TH A LA RIER
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying A& Z %) RBBERMDBEAEERIORE I
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to /,jEﬁ‘E (BHEHEERG) EXVEBE25 8 &
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part ~ $35 HrAIA R A fEHFE

XV of the SFO:

Name of
substantial shareholder

FTERREM

Capacity/
nature of interests

B/ RHEME

Notes

k3

Number of
ordinary
shares held
=]
AREBREAE

Percentage of the
Company’s issued
share capital
RN
BITREABOL

Ma Kai Cheung
ENE

Ma Kai Yum
SN

East Asia International Trustees
Limited

Golden Yield Holdings Limited

Regent World Investments Limited

Beneficial owner,
security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust

ExEAA BRR
s BB
REFEXHA

Beneficial owner,
security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust

ExEAA BRR
s BB
REFEXHA

Trustee

EFEA

Interest in controlled
corporations
SR NG £

Holding corporation

BEERERAR

a

519,809,446 (L)

210,286,189 (L)

360,330,065 (L)

259,129,025 (L)

184,121,625 (L)

41.35

16.73

28.66

20.61

14.65
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continuedy ¥ B % 3 (@)

Number of Percentage of the
Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued
substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
=] R VNG
TERFER 2V F:1:3-1 B EE AREBERYA ERTRATHL
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled e 101,201,040 (L) 8.05
corporations
XEREER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation d 75,007,400 (L) 5.97
HEERAT
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation e 74,651,040 (L) 5.94
BEERAR
Rainbow Choice Holding Group Beneficial owner f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
Limited ExBEBA
FEREREBBR AR
Chen Chu Zhen Interest in controlled f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
PRIE H corporation
XEREER

L - Long position ¥ &
S — Short position % &
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

a.

The 519,809,446 shares comprised:
190,916,044 shares owned by Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the
spouse of Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (d)
below); and

iv interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Cheung (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

The 210,286,189 shares comprised:
41,970,772 shares owned by Ma Kai Yum;

i interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the
spouse of Ma Kai Yum;

iii interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his family are
the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (g)
below);

iv interest in 1,200,000 underlying shares pursuant to
options granted under the 2015 Share Option Scheme to
acquire shares of the Company; and

% interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Yum (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

East Asia International Trustees Limited (‘EAIT”) is the trustee
of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“‘Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his
family are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company. As
at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively interested
in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.

¥

B

a.

ﬁﬂ:

H R a0

#%519,809,4460% I {7 B2 45
i SN E%H A /190,916,044 8% 15

i BENEMNZETRESHEAD
7,050,0008% & {7 2 #E 2 ¢

i. BAEMTERERABSIZANZERE
M4 A 79259,129,0250% I& 15 = HE
m (B TXOFEENR LG )
&

iv. EEBENENE2,714,377RMD 2 #E
w (BTXOFEENR—HRGD) -

£%210,286,1890% M {7 B2 45
i M 5597 8K A E941,970,772R% AR 15

i. HENENEFBREHEEN
3,200,000/% f% 17 2 1 &

i. BEMTREERAABZZANZES
FER A #9101,201,0400% P& 15 = 1
@ (B TXEMFEENR—HRG)

v. RE-Z-—AFEREFERTIK
H8 A AR 10 2 BB AR 7 #91,200,0004H 78
B2z &

v. PG ENRE62,714,377RRAR D 2 #E
@ (BT XOFTEESR—H#ARD) -

East Asia International Trustees Limited
(TEAT ) ABSNERERKIEAZEA
MY —BE2EETENETA TE
B E 2 & W E A AlGolden Yield Holdings
Limited ([Golden Yield | ) i i £ % & &~ 2
7]259,129,0258% J% 1% ° Lt 1 - EAITIR & BF
BENREERKEASm AMKILE
—EHEEEANETA LERAEZEKH
J& A & Wealthy Platform Limited ([Wealthy
Platform | ) i & #2 # & 42 §]101,201,0400%
B fn - RIREEIR EATERBEEAL T AT
360,330,065 A% 17 °



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World
and Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirectly owning the
entire issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful
World, was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the
Company. The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful
World and Real Potential are the same block of shares as
disclosed in “Other interests” of Ma Kai Yum under the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited (“Rainbow Choice”) is
wholly owned by Chen Chu Zhen. 62,714,377 shares in the
issued share capital of Rainbow Choice were charged in favour
of Ma Kai Cheung and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2020,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF CHAPTER
13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

TIHETAEEER 2 AR EARR ZE
R ABITREERE:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2020 banking facilities obligations
HK$'000
R-EB-ZEF=A=+-—H BTERBREIBA HEBITEE
REBRITERERE
FHET
115,544 14 July 2024 (Note)
—EMFELA+MA (BtsE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding a 41.35% shareholding interest
in the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding a 16.73% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

Mo

ARBZHBEIRREBRBERENELELERER
NA41.35% 2 AR - RARB Z EEBFNRE
ERBARE6.73% 2 AR - AR RIFE
FREARXTIRARAEKD42%



CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 15 to 29.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 264,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
T 57 % BR R

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

ERAE
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R EITERZ  RIPERFERR T AA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREXER

Independent Auditpr’s Report
1 5 ¥ YR o

LE S 373 AE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNNEERREREE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)
FEBERERAYERIFIEHEYFE (7 [WE]).Z A
B

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$286,440,000 and HK$439,923,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2020.
RZZEZZEF=A=+—H EBE5BZZ&RT
W3 R & W 5 Rl %) /286,440,000 7T &
439,923,000/ JT °

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the estimated costs to be incurred to
completion.

VIR R R FEME T CRIEEAR -ETE
EREMECAERFESEABEEREZHE X
et BRENAFEBBEF 2 HAEE AFTHEE
X REBTIETES 2B

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:
BMBIEBYECL AR FEMET I EREFS
B (EREE)ATEIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
o  FRMEFEIIEHEMETENE N KRBT

ak,
BE

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

e FHFEHBRMZABLEERBERMTGE
HERBZEHEERE TERILEBABIE: &
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERREREE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREXER

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)
FEBERFYERIFIELHEYFE (7 [WE]).Z A
B )FE (E)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
values is required.
EREZE-—RBVEXSERMEEMAR ([HME
fHERD ) RIBRITH R LR A ER AT EERIER
ERERRBEE 2 HEEEYEETHE M
B ERENEERRHYE L AIERFEELE
fa] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BN RER RRNDARAEZERNE T #
B K fhET RAVEF UL EIR

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HEAREHNEGR A M B RERMEIR21

we assessed certain key assumptions and
estimates including, among others, (i) the
expected selling prices of the Properties by
comparing the expected selling prices to,
among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant
information; and (i) the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion for PUD by checking the
estimated costs against budgets approved by
management and examined, on a sample basis,
relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.

BAME S T EERERMEE BF (Ah
BIE) ((FEBRGATEER (AR aE) &
LLEBMEZ TSR S ETHRMBERITH R
HEMEESE: ()FREEL FHHER X B
AL EETHE R M AT SR R (i)E Bk
STTREIR AR LB M  TREEITHEM
At R E R ER TEE 2 R I
AR FEES N RHEAM A FERE -
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Key audit matter
AREXER

Independent Auditpr’s Report
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNNEERREREE

Assessment of fair values of investment properties

FEREY R 2 FE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$1,982,167,000 as at 31 March
2020.
R-_E-_ZFTF=ZA=+—8"
49 /51,982,167,000/ 7T ©

BEEBZREME

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by the management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.

EEECREMERATAEIERRERESRR
B ESEEREZRE-—MBIEXSEEMAERD
naEl ([FNELER]) EFEE - REMEBELIR
BAMFREBR BF (AR aE) RABERIEZ
M HEBERERNMRUREELBUA 25T

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BN MG @R N AR ZEXRE T #
B X (T mAVER UL EIR

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

R ERNEGR A B RERMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair values of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRTEREMEC A FEMETZIERIEFE
B (EREE)ATEIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers; and

o  HMEAEIMNEGHEMZFEMNL  seh KRBT
iRk

° with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation
techniques used and assessed the underlying
key inputs and assumptions through, among
others, enquiry with management and the
external valuers and with reference to relevant
historical, underlying and market information.

e BMEEFHMAZARBBEZRBGEHFER
MERERIMNEGHEMELEARRERERE
s BEARTSERMAEAERA 2 EERTER
BREYEIEEE-I PN ¢ 95 B &
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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ERAEEAREMENAT - AMERE
RERMBNER ETEREAVHRE
R AR PIRhLE 3 h O AZ BRED R o

BHPESEEMBERENERLTREEME
B BT AR E R ERERTARE

T Y EA
REEEm e

ERMEZGEEMBRETE RANEES
MBEMER MAELBES RMEEEHR
EHNESREEMHRERIBMEFZRA
B THOBABRENT XEGUFFEE
KRB - ERRAIZETETE A
RREMERNFEE AR - AR FIAR
SEREE LM T RAOLBEMRS -

%?ﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁ%%%%%%
i

BEAREEAREREEERHALLEN
B (EBHBIEER) RES (AFAEN)
TRBER EUABMATHRRELY
BAMBRE REBESETHENGA
BERERBAE Y AHER AERERA
BB BR TR RN RS R TR
AR -

RREEEMBEHRRE BEAREFAR
il EXRBERTERNEERELE.
BRE(MER) BENEKLERER LEM
REKEETHE RIE BERRESHEE &
SEBFRAKIEE IR 2 IS BEERR
BRI BISER® -

ERREFEERZEEH TEITREE
B EREMBHRHAENET




AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

GBS A MBE#REAK
B2 EML @

o EEEFARAZEABERRBEMENA
tEHZ @atfhst MR RE 2 A B -

s HNEFRAREREEEGEZRE
IR A - RIBATISERGRE - HE=
BFEEEHXNBERBEBIERNTEE
- RmAEY SREFELERED
EXBEARE -HMEAMAZERRTFLES
ANHEEN  AE L ERZEMRE D
RFIBSEEYBHMRAZAABEME
SMBRBESE QAR LIFERE
BER-BMzEmIERBEZBENR
TEHHALES ZERRE - RW
AREREMHHERATEEH SREEEX
FERE-

s TESAUBBRIEBERIA &
BRAND BERBER ARGEH
BHREREEEAFHRREBZZILE
18 -

o B BERERNERBIEBEBIHMBKE
HERFED REE 2 BRERE LR
EMBHRRERER -BMEAAESE.
EBERWTEEZEZ BRAHHEM
ERERAERNEE-

BMNEEZZESRE (AP e JR 2
EHEMKHELEUAREREZER B
HPEEZBRTEA 2 ARMEE 2 TME
KRR



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

GEEER

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2020 2019
—E-BF —E-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihE=2 FERT FHET

REVENUE WA S 1,031,070 970,210
Cost of sales SHE KA (553,412) (499,896)
Gross profit EF 477,658 470,314
Other income and gains, net HEa A R F5E 5 116,321 79,218
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HMAEZ (200,261) (206,806)
General and administrative expenses — #& & 17 5 52 (140,075) (147,680)
Other expenses, net HEMAX  F58E (36,005) (55,952)
Finance costs B 7 R AR 7 (77,259) (53,345)
Share of profits and losses of FE(REEE R ElR ) R EE

associates (71,804) 256,623
PROFIT BEFORE TAX KR A= R 6 68,575 342,372
Income tax expense Frisfimz 10 (53,714) (41,652)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEZER 14,861 300,720
Attributable to: FEAS -

Owners of the parent UNEIEF=N 14,123 277,958

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2= 738 22,762

14,861 300,720

EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAAIEEREFEA

ATTRIBUTABLE ELHtERER

TO ORDINARY EQUITY

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12

— Basic —HAK HK cents 11281 | HK cents 2212

— Diluted —#58 HK cents 1.12/{l | HK cents 22113l




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A2 WA ok

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2020 2019
—EB-EHF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 14,861 300,720
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS H2HER
Other comprehensive loss BRERBETEFHDES
that may be reclassified to profit or Bms HM2HEE:
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: MEHER:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINEBCERER
foreign operations and reclassification & REUHE &N
adjustment on disposal and EBrEHHBERAE
deregistration of foreign operations (145,874) (146,543)
Share of other comprehensive loss of paK[Ly: AN v
associates Ht2HEEE (18,785) (44,517)
(164,659) (191,060)
Other comprehensive loss that will not BREEABTAERHSEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in BmsHM2EEE:
subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at fair 15 E BRIEANTEYER
value through other comprehensive REMEEBATREZ
income: BRIRE -
Changes in fair value N EEE (66,973) (70,902)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR AEEHth2HEEE
THE YEAR (231,632) (261,962)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ AEEZERKRA
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (BB &% (216,771) 38,758
Attributable to: AL -
Owners of the parent SYNEIEZEPN (211,662) 18,881
Non-controlling interests eI IR R 2 (5,109) 19,877
(216,771) 38,758




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

b B BB &

31 March 2020 —FE=F#F=H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hg=a FERT FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M BE REE 13 741,979 807,215
Investment properties LEYE 14 1,982,167 1,822,580
Right-of-use assets TREEE 15(b) 137,355 =
Prepaid land lease payments A L EFKIE 15(a) - 31,315
Goodwill [ 16 76,451 50,207
Interests in associates REE AR 2 Em 17 916,728 993,174
Equity investment designated at fair 18 & A&k A FEFIER &
value through other comprehensive HREMZEWAFEE 2
income EERE 18 104,225 175,098
Derivative financial instrument TESMIA 33 - 41
Properties under development BRPYE 21 286,440 298,520
Deferred tax assets EERRIEE E 32 719 49
Other receivables, deposits and Em KRR Ee RFER
prepayments B 24 349,043 304,069
Pledged time deposits [REERCIR VeS¢ 26 15,014 35,492
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 4,610,121 4,517,760
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties under development BRPYE 21 - 68,392
Properties held for sale BELEWE 21 439,923 527,622
Inventories BE 22 32,927 24,220
Tax recoverable AT 4 [B1 7% 18 573 535
Trade receivables EUWE 5 R 23 52,245 23,571
Other receivables, deposits and Ef KRR R RFER
prepayments B 24 246,930 656,336
Due from directors EUE E308 25 5,984 10,498
Due from non-controlling shareholders & Y FE 4% A% B% 38 30 18 45(b) 6 206
Due from an associate FE Uy — FEV B 2 X B 3R OA 17 272,656 60,736
Financial assets at fair value through 3% A F1E5 R KM Bz R
profit or loss BremMEE 19 185,995 197,097
Equity investment designated at fair 157 A& A F AR &
value through other comprehensive HREMZEWAFEEZ
income EERE 18 39,004 37,643
Structured deposits HEB TR 20 241,103 817
Restricted cash XRHIRE 26 167 90
Pledged time deposits [REEEIaR:rEE ¢ 26 19,682 9,920
Cash and bank balances Re MIRITHE R 26 245,895 126,259
Total current assets MBEERE 1,783,090 1,743,942




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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31 March 2020 —ZF - FF= —

2020 2019
—ERF —E-hEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
{hg= FERT FHET
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade payables BB SER 27 (51,987) (51,012)
Other payables, accruals and HEmEMNER EBAERAK
deposits received Blkize 28 (317,802) (341,790)
Provisions B 29 (960) (1,050)
Due to directors EREEFHIE 45(b) (654) (485)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & {<F 3E 5= A% i 3R 7518 45(b) (27,893) (22,391)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EZRITIEE 30 (1,000,079) (976,323)
Lease liabilities HEGE 15(c) (66,449) -
Finance lease payables ENRmERE 31 - (18)
Deferred income B A 34 (31,543) (35,328)
Tax payable FETRIIE (244,775) (248,556)
Total current liabilities mBBEEE (1,742,142) (1,676,953)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 40,948 66,989
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#AEBERABERE
LIABILITIES 4,651,069 4,584,749
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Accruals and deposits received EErERRERIRS 28 (8,115) (56,735)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M2 2 RITIEE 30 (675,133) (308, 576)
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(c) (59,922)
Finance lease payables ENREESE 31 - @ )
Deferred income EERA 34 (88,866) (142,646)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEBIEAE 32 (253,217) (243,289)
Provisions B 29 (2,812) (3,412)
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EETE (1,088,065) (754,683)
Net assets BEFE 3,563,004 3,830,066




C_onsolidated Statement of Financial Position
EAMBRITE

31 March 2020 —FE=F#F=H=+—H

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ihr=g THET FHET
EQUITY [
Equity attributable to owners of the — &1\ Al B A EIL 1z
parent
Issued capital BEITIA 35 125,709 125,709
Reserves e 37 3,473,650 3,744,101
3,599,359 3,869,810
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (36,355) (39,744)
Total equity EnEE 3,563,004 3,830,066
Ma Kai Yum Chan Francis Ping Kuen
BN R A 1
Director Director

EF EZE




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GAMENEHR

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRAEA AR
Leasehold
land and
Share buiding Share Exchange Capttal Capttal Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option Goodwil  fuctuation  redemption Reseve  Farvae  andother  Retained controling Total
captal account reserve Teserve resenve reserve resenve funds reserve Teserves profts Total interests equity
HELH
BEf i3 REF BiE B} i% ATE EER FER
BE EEER  ERER R BERE RBRE  EORR i BE  EbEk £hail gt BE  ERgE
Notes HKS000  HK$000 K000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§000  HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HKS000 HK§'000 K000 HK$000
Wit Tin  Thn T T Tin Th T Tin Th T Tin Tin T T
A1 Apil 2018 RZF-NE
BA-A 126,509 1,395,421 56,060 4991 (86,230) 233385 316 581 56,371 (42.907) 2,167,529 3910,026 215 3910241
Proft for the year TERRT = - - - - - - - - - 21798 2798 2762 300720
Other comprehensive loss REEEMEE
forthe year; B
Chenges nfarvalue ofequty ~ RAFEFIER
investment at far value REHRE
through other comprehensie  MARREZ
ncome BERANTE
29 S . - - - - - - - - o) V]
Exchange diferences on BERNEHL
tranlation of foreign (3533
operations - - - - - (143659 - - - - - (143658 (2,885 (146,543
Share of other comprehensive A —HEEA
Joss of an associate JEMREER - - - - - W) - - - - - W) - ()
Tota comprenensive ncome.~~ REE2E
forthe year WASE - - - - - (i8817) - - o) - omes 881 198 3758
Acquistion of a subsidiary hE-mHERE % - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,33 2,334
Disposdl of a subsidary LE-HHBAT - - - - - - - - - - - - @] n
Acquistion ofnon-controling B -TEHE AT 2
inerest i a subsidiery FoRES - - - - - - - - - 1802 - 1,802 (1,915) (119
Issue of shares upon exercise of  RTERERHER
e oplons Bk %) W 19%8 - 518 - - - - - - T ) )
Divdend paid tonon-contoling 2 FHEERBEZ
Shaehodes Be - - - - - - - - - - - - p9sy p98%
Equity-setted share option NEREE BlE
anangements zi - - - 3% - - - - - - - 3% - 3%
Transfer of share option resene. VR MEREEER
upon forfture of share options AR IEEE - - - (1,009 - - - - - = 1,009 = = =
Final and special 2018 chidend =% —/\E
FEREHRS S . 5 2 - - - - - N L X - (e
131 Vch 2019 R3-hE
ZAZ1-R 15700 1Y SO 87 ) 4520 316 Sr (ISS) (1005 23360 389810 (9744 380066




C_onsolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GoMnER

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-FE=-FF=H=+—HIFZ

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRIREARE
Leasehold
land and
Share  building Share Exchange Capital Capital Non-
Issued ~ premium  revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation redemption ~ Reserve  Fairvalue  andother  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve resere funds reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
HELH
2&f R it :3 BRE E} g4 APE EAR FER
B BEE  EHEE ff HERE RERE EERE  ERe BE  HERE  REEN it BE  EESE
Notes HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000
i i TAn T TE1 T T T T T T Thn T T &1
At 31 March 2019 and WZF-1%
1 Aprl 2019 ZR=1+-Bk
EA-A 125,709 1,397,359 56,060 3,799 (86,230) 4510 316 581 (15,531) (41,105)  2,383642 3,869,810 (39,744) 3,830,066
Proft for the year RERRER - o - - - - - - - - 1418 14128 738 14861
Other comprehensive loss REEABRE
for the year: i
Chenges nfarvalue of ety RAFEFIER
nvestment at far value REBRE
hough other comprehensie  ARREZ
income ERRELATE
29 - - - - - - - ) - - oy Y]
Exchange differences on BEENERY
translaton of foreign Eiza
opeions - - - - - (100 - - - - S0 B (45874
Share of other comprehenshe  AE—HBER
Joss of an associate JENEEER - - = = - (1878 = = = = - (1878 - (18789
Total comprehensive oss for the K52
year BBuE - - - - - (158812) - - (66973 - 1413 Qe 5109y [16771)
Aoquistion of a subsiciary hE-EHEAE % - - - - - - - - - - - - 69 69
Disposal of a subsicary HE-BHERT X - - - - - - - - - - - - 69) (63)
Deregistation of subsidares ~ BUEERKBAE 40 - - - - - - = = = 9 = €] (196) 205)
Aoquistion of non-controling B -TEHERFZ
ietet i a subsdry HERER s s - - - - - - - e - ps) 216 (166)
Contrbuton fom non-contioling SRR 2 HE
Shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - mm m
Dividend paid tononcontroling 2 3EERBRE 2
Shaeholders e - - - - - - - - - - - v I Y
Equity-settled share option NEREE BlE
anangements 47 % - - = 73 = = = = = = = 733 = 73
Final 2019 dividend Z5-0E
#80e 1 - - - - - - - - - - @y e -
At 31 March 2020 RZZZZE
ZA=1-A 125,709 1,397,359* 56,060 453 (86,280 (113,602 316" 5811 (82504 (62914) 2,360,062 3599,359 (36,355) 3,563,004

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * It E AR ,?(\78,47?3,6§0,0005%7_|: (ZE—Hh
approximately HK$3,473,650,000 (2019: HK$3,744,101,000) in Ef 3,744,101,000/ 7t) B B & E 4R & M 75
the consolidated statement of financial position. MARZEREHEZA -




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EABSHER

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2020 2019
—E-=HF —ZT-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ZE XK MEZEHERE
ACTIVITIES o
Profit before tax B B At A 68,575 342,372
Adjustments for: AR
Finance costs BRI 3 7 77,259 53,345
Share of profits and losses of FEAR B X Bh&E ) &
associates 518 71,804 (256,623)
Bank interest income RITA S A 5 (4,319) (1,816)
Investment interest income AR B YA 5 (13,179) (5,779)
Other interest income H At A 2 A 5 (10,489) (33,295)
Dividend income from equity BE RiRAFESER
investment designated at fair value R E b 2 E U A H
through other comprehensive BRI ERIREZ
income & B A y 5 (6,948) (12,073)
Dividend income from financial BRAEIERNIERT R
assets at fair value through BromEEL
profit or loss RS A 5 (1,918) (1,364)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMEZ W
properties ) N 5 - (8,697)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off e FHEDE BB K
of items of property, plant and wEEZEBE
equipment, net (Wrss) B8R 6 8,084 (117)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB A A 2 WaE 5 (422) -
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries BUH T it i & A 7l 2 &8 6 919 -
Impairment of goodwill 2R (E ) 6 - 8,721
Fair value loss/(gain), net: N %EEESTE\/ (Yezs) -
JR A
Financial assets at fair value BATESIE MR ERETR
through profit or loss RIEZ S MEE
~ held for trading -BEBE 6 27,929 (3,474)
— designated as such upon - A MR
initial recognition _ RIIETE 6 1,809 (878)
Derivative financial instruments ITEE@TA
— transactions not qualifying as —PTHEHPERZ
hedges L RP . 6 9 )
Depreciation of property, plantand ~ #1% - ME MR HE 2 ITE
equipment . 6 69,773 52,231
Changes in fair value of investment & & 1% A ¥ &
properties, net B RE 5 (48,846) 9,079
Impairment of trade receivables, net W E 5 BR 2 HE
HEE } 6 4,620 3,161
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  FE 4t i€ Y BR SR E
of other receivables, net ORERED ) - F5E 6 (29,601) 5,603
Recovery of other receivables written 4z[6] 2 5185 2 H th fE UK BR 3¢
off \ A 6 (2,490) -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets/ fFREBEEZITE,
amortisation of prepaid land SRS L HEE
lease payments RIB 7 G 6 77,490 507
Release of deferred income EIE WA B PR 34 (35,759) (165)
Unwinding of discount on receivables &Y 3018 2 4T BB # [0 5 (19,112) (11,643)
Equity-settled share option expense  LA#E &5 48 5 2 B8 X1 7 2 36 733 335
Impairment of right-of-use assets EHREE ZRE 6 10,544 =
Gain on lease modification MEEE 2 W 6 (349) -




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SEBLHER

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-FE=-FF=H=+—HIFZ

2020 2019
—ERF —ZE-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt FExT FET
Decrease/(increase) in properties BRBAMEZRD
under development (3% hn) 59,996 (34,649)
Decrease in properties held for sale £ {EHEWE 2 R 1,076 9,830
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL (M) (8,847) 3,473
Decrease/(increase) in trade FEWE BERFORL
receivables (1) (32,626) 8,649
Decrease/(increase) in other HtEWERR e &
receivables, deposits and TE RIER A (35 0n)
prepayments 22,305 (144,551)
Decrease in amounts due from JEWE EHRIBR D
directors 4,070 251
Increase in trade payables FEFHE 5 BRFRIE 1N 1,389 7,607
Decrease in other payables, accruals £ & {<f B 7% «
and deposits received EETERAREWES
Ve (78,215) (5,258)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due  JE{HEEFKIARE /1,
to directors (R 2) 163 (4,664)
Decrease in provisions B (570) (1,125)
Cash generated from/(used in) KBRS,/ (A2
operations R 214,857 (21,010)
Hong Kong profits tax paid 2R EAMEHK (633) (2,409)
Overseas taxes paid EATEINR K (28,298) (21,542)
Net cash flows from/(used in) KBRS,/ (A2
operating activities REREFE 185,926 (44,961)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

g4 ﬁ%fii
Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - F-FF=F=1+—HIFF
2020 2019
—E-ZHF —ZT-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZEBHZEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received E WERFT ) B2 4,319 1,816
Other interest received H b 2 WF B 23,507 34,811
Realised fair value loss on derivative 7 E‘i\ MIAYE8E
financial instruments NEEEHE
— transactions not qualifying as T\ﬁ“\ R B R
hedges 5 - 101
Dividend received from equity BYIEE BEAFEYE R
investment designated at fair value ~ REMM 2 EWAFRIE >
through other comprehensive ERREZRE
income 6,948 12,073
Dividend received from financial EYIE A FE R RR B
assets at fair value through profit PREBZEHEERS
or loss 1,918 1,364
Purchases of items of property, plant B A% &= &
and equipment ZEBIEE (61,590) (157,034)
Purchase of investment properties B A% & ¥ % (77,330) (82,775)
Proceeds from disposal of derivative H&EHT4E S E T A/
financial instruments Fri5 5018
— transactions not qualifying as —TRHEHHERZRS
hedges 32 -
Proceeds from disposal of items of &Y - KE
property, plant and equipment REIE B TSR 4,410 3,457
Receipt of consideration receivables  Y2ER i & i 8B A 7] B E
from disposal of subsidiaries 24 383,566 132,726
Purchases of financial assets at fair 8 A& A FEFIBR &
value through profit or loss REZEFREEC
PREE (249,437) (92,702)
Proceeds from disposal of financial &% A (A8 &
assets at fair value through profit RIBEREREZ
or loss B E TS A 230,640 12,439
Proceeds from disposal of HEREYMEMEHKIEA
investment properties - 63,897
Acquisition of a subsidiary W ig— B AR 39 (25,497) (3,494)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EWB AR 40 285 =
Increase in pledged time deposits 2 i E #BFH N B EKIE
and pledged bank balances RITEER 2B (9,566) (474)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted ZRHFE 2D
cash (1) ) (85) 473
Investment in structured deposits EHUTRZRE (247,732) (817)
Redemption of structured deposits & [2] 45 & 1 17 3¢ 817 116,248
Investment in an associate & — =R A (181,980) (77,927)
Repayment of/(increase in) amount & 145( —MBE AFRIBZ
due from an associate = (HEhn) (43,923) 108,894
Addition to prepaid land lease i} ﬁ :I:i‘MHE FRIBIE HN
payments - (18,322)
Deposits for acquisition of WIBIREME 21 ®
investment properties (51,440) (167,389)
Net cash flows used in investing KEEEMAZ
activities ReREFHE (292,138) (112,635)




Cpnsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SEBLHER

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZT-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
ihE=3 FHExT FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEEEFMEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares TR AR M 1T
upon exercise of share options f& 10 2 FriS I8 - 1,620
New bank loans FIGIRITE R 1,127,600 614,781
Repayment of bank loans EEFITER (716,409) (484,784)
Acquisition of non-controlling el
interests (166) (113)
Contribution by non-controlling FEFERR AR R E
shareholders 777 -
Changes in balances with non- IR R AR S TR
controlling shareholders, net 6,011 (5,864)
Principal portion of lease payments/ &R BEBHE L~
finance lease rental payments R BRI D (65,497) (18)
Dividends paid Ef’RE (37,713) (62,854)
Dividends paid to non-controlling B IR AR R AR B
shareholders (13,723) (59,838)
Interest paid EATF B (76,620) (53,189)
Net cash flows generated from/(used @& EBFT1S, (FTA)Z
in) financing activities RenEFa 224,260 (50,259)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HERBEELEEEH
IN CASH AND CASH ®m, CRd) B8
EQUIVALENTS 118,048 (207,855)
Cash and cash equivalents FzHekBEeEE
at beginning of year B H 122,497 342,433
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNEE[E RS E R Ro 2
changes, net peikc] (5,012) (12,081)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZHRE&R
AT END OF YEAR ReEEER 235,533 122,497
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HERBREEE
OF CASH AND CASH HE &R DN
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and unpledged bank balances ¥R 4 N R IR1T 4 8 235,533 126,259
Time deposits with original maturity 4 8& % R 2| HA B >
of less than three months when R=M®AZEBRFR"
acquired, pledged as security for ERIRITE X 2 KR
bank overdrafts - 9,920
Bank overdrafts RITEX 30 - (18,682)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated GFABEREXRNETIZE
in the consolidated statement of e RFEEFEER
cash flows 235,533 122,497




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. Al kEBEHEH

INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

FEBEEZERER AR ([ARF])
E-HRBREIMKNLZERAF -
AR B 5 3 = B 2 7 Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMB AR (58 [R%
BOMEEXBRAREZR MEKRE
RBERARGEBE BRERMER -

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

Wit B 2 =) M1 A ¥ R
ANREENBARAZFHENT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMARL BRAEE/ ARREERE
ARAR MR E KR FrisREER HEBRA BAl FEEK
2020 2019
ZEIZE | ZENF
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
BENMBERERAA EiE LER 2B MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
EREXHES Lidk e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 82,5 825  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited*
EEH CAN ) ERBBR R &E Lak 8,000,000 7T it S
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited )
EERRARR (FE) Eit Lidk 900,000 70 REZR
BRAR
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100 Property investment
and development
EEMEEERAF &k LER 25,000,000/ 7T NERBRER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.*® of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
EEH (R RE FEARLNE AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REBRRMERE
BRAFO (el / REE
HRE AR
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2l R&EBHER @)
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W8 2 &) B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
B/ BRTEE/ ERREGERE
ARAR AR E L PR R HEMRA BAk TEEK
2020 2019
SE e
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100 83  Investment holding
Materials City Limited
EREROHHEERRT  BE Lk 1,000,000/ 7T REER
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$13,733,601 63 60  Restaurant operations
Services Limited *
REEBEHRBERLR BB Limik 13,783,601/ 7T ZRKE
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NEEEBRLA KBRS E e REER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
BEERBRAA" KBRS LRk e REER
Goldfield Properties Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
FYEXERAA Eit Limik 28T NERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERAR" EREXHES Limik e REZR
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
TEREBRAR Eit Limik 18T REZR
Profit Smart Group Ltd. Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 60 60  Bakery operations
MERREEAERAF BE S 5,598,059 7T ERESE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
EE Eak 2007 NERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
ERRE 1,000,000% 7T
R
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited# )
EMHMERREERLEY B/ REARE HMEX 51,000,000% 7T MERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited ~ Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$10 90 90  Investment holding
HEEEERAA EREXHS Limik 10%7T REZR
EBR (B b PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAF"O operations
HE/REAE HMEL AR ¥14,700,0007C BEREREE
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CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 k&EEEFR @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W 8 2> 5] M B & R (a0
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
SR CRITEE/ ARF MR E
ARER AR E Fris R R R A BAl TBER
2020 2019
“E-BF | ZZ-NE
R EEPERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR HE/REARE FEA AR %5,000,0007 il 4
EEEEHARRBRAA®  PRC/Manland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
HE/REAE Balli-v AR H31,000,0007 EmES
HEERRRREEEE PRC/Meainland China  Registered capital  RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
BRAFR R B AR AR AR BELE
100,000,0007C
FIEEHEEERE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR HE/REARE FEA AR %5,000,00070 il 4
ERFBHERMEAMEAE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 100 83 Property investment
(BEH)ERAF R R EARE FER 46,000,0005 T and development
MERERER
Carrianna Food PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 100 100 Food business
(Shenzhen) Ltd.* (! R R E AR AR 1,000,000% 7T Bm#EB
E=fam OFI)
BRAFH
FITMEEPER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR hE/REAE FEA AR 6,000,000 il ey
B (EM)mELELE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 100 Property investment
ERERAR REREARE & & AR #40,000,0007C NERE
BEEEPERRSE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRARO HE/REARE FEA AR ¥50,000,0007T il 4
EREEHARRBRAA  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75  Food business
HE/REAE Balli-v 2,000,000% 7T RmEH
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (“Sleek Treasure”) }
IEE &% B R A A RERLHE EaRk 77,200% 7T BAER
(TEg))
RITIEEERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB8,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRAR RE/ HREAE HHEXR AR 6,000,000 il £y
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

*

Direct subsidiaries of the Company

i The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies

® Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group, as well as certain investment
holding and other subsidiaries, which in the opinion
of the directors, are of specific importance to or of
specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties, a
derivative financial instrument, and certain financial assets
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

2.1

NEIN &SR-S

Wt B 2 B M B & R

* ARABEENMB AR

o RERAZEEVBRRLBLRE
LG BB LK G BN E T
Pre@m e i 8 &t = /A

XA
o SEBELE
@ PIRERE
@O RNERE

EERR ALERIARARZHEBRR
RIBFEFEREYANAIEBREE
FEZEEZHY UREBERR BT
BEBREEMHBARYAEEFRIE
BHAERKRAN EER/EREF
SR B AR Z &R BLENBR
ke

iR

ZEVBBRRDIEBRELGAMAE
(FEEMAE]) B2 BBMHR
SREA([EAMBREER]) (B
AR BREER FEGHER
(IFagstE) RRE) BEAR
SR REFEB R BUEG 2 WERER
H-PHBREAELKAEREL
AnFEFEZETHEL W RET
REDE TEEMIARETEZRE
ERIN-ZEMBHEBRRTIAETZES)
BREHA MAEBECHBERERD
P



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2020. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

2.1 HEEE a)

GAEE
REMBEBRREBIERARFRENBAR
HE_Z_ZF-_A=+—HILFEZ
PBHRR-BRARAARREZKME
BN EE (REABTEER) - EX
EEAXIZELHAREBHREBKME
M EOH BB BEREHRNE
(B FASERBENETEREY
KBS TEEN) X EZFE R
B - BNERIS 2 4 o

MARFERAMEREEIRNRELHR
REFHRERBLER - AARER
AEEERRAHREYRNENE
SEEMARBEERBR 24

(@) BEREHRHMEEREAANA
WL

b) BEMEHRPERTELNER: &

(0 AEEMEEERBEREE-

RPN bR i E =R AN
MR WRAB—BZ @ BORRE - M8
NEZRKEBAEEEGES#E 2 AL
REFE THESASAREERESR
BRIEHIEZ AR
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 21 HIRELE )

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the period
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation.
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating
cycle may be longer than 12 months. The Group’s
current assets include assets (such as properties under
development and properties held for sale) which are sold,
consumed or realised as part of the normal operating
cycle for the property investment and development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

GARE @

Rz KA EERASARES HHE
IMAEE SR TES AR I RIERS -
B bt 58 5| BUIEIE AR AE 25 T B S A A 4
TR - A EERNAFTRZ BERERE -
1% WA B RAEER S ATBER
SHABZBSRENEA RS2 K

G0

68 F B R BERBER £ ATt = {EE 5
BAZHEF-RIZEAE AIAKHE
HEFFEEEDEHREHR KB
NEZFEAERSEE (I ERAIEH
)RR IR S -

i 2N & B 2k 5 8 — I Bt B & Bl 2 %
#REREBRIZNB AR ZEE
(BREEE)RAE (EAFEH#ER
ZBREE (i) RN RETRE
EZ8 RERNEWRE 2R FE - (i)FT
RBEMIRE 2 A TEK(i)ERERE
AT A L E A 2 BERTBAL ° SERTR E AL
ZHBRANERZAEEREBI R
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 €# B % kB & H
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs Amendments to HKFRS 3,

2015-2017 Cycle HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and

HKAS 23

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19 and
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle,
which are not relevant to or have no significant impact on
the preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the
nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs
are described below:

(a)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases
— Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for
the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account
for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model
to recognise and measure right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, except for certain recognition
exemptions. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors
continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS
17. HKFRS 16 did not have any significant financial
impact on leases where the Group is the lessor.

REBERAERE 2 BB ME B RRM
ﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁ&%@ﬂZ%%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
81l
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

@)

(Continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective method with the date of initial
application of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the
standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at 1 April 2019, and the comparative
information for 2019 was not restated and continued
to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations.

NEW DEFINITION OF A LEASE

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys a right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use
of the identified asset and the right to direct the
use of the identified asset. The Group elected to
use the transition practical expedient allowing the
standard to be applied only to contracts that were
previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or
changed on or after 1 April 2019.

22 FEF MR K HE 2 EH (9

(@)

(&)

REBERAKETEPERAE
B IREE R 165 - HIRER
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 &3tk kR BE 2 %8 (o)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

AS A LESSEE - LEASES PREVIOUSLY
CLASSIFIED AS OPERATING LEASES

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS
16

The Group has lease contracts for various
properties. As a lessee, the Group previously
classified leases as either finance leases or operating
leases based on the assessment of whether the
lease transferred substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under
HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach
to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective
exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected
on a lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
(elected by class of underlying asset). Instead
of recognising rental expenses under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease
term commencing from 1 April 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of
the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental
borrowing rate at 1 April 2019. The right-of-use
assets were measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted mainly by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the lease recognised in the statement of financial
position immediately before 1 April 2019.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

@)

(Continued)

AS A LESSEE - LEASES PREVIOUSLY
CLASSIFIED AS OPERATING LEASES
(Continued)

Impact on transition (Continued)

All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 on that date. The Group elected
to present the right-of-use assets separately in the
statement of financial position.

For the leasehold land and buildings (that were held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation)
previously included in investment properties and
measured at fair value, the Group has continued
to include them as investment properties at 1 April
2019. They continue to be measured at fair value
applying HKAS 40.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April
2019:

° Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application

° Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease

° Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics
when measuring the lease liabilities at 1 April
2019

° Relying on the entity’s assessment of whether
leases were onerous by applying HKAS
37 immediately before 1 April 2019 as an
alternative to performing an impairment review
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @i Bk kB ZE &8 (9)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@ (Continued) @ (&)
FINANCIAL IMPACT AT 1 APRIL 2019 R_FE-LFEMWMA—-HzZMH
Hw s
The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 RZZF—hEFNA—BRAEEY
at 1 April 2019 was as follows: ERF1GRFTEEFENT
Increase/
(decrease)
#m, R
HK$’000
FExT
Assets BE
Increase in right-of-use assets FREEELN 196,774
Decrease in property, plant and equipment  #1% - BB & 5% & 4 (2,749)
Decrease in prepaid land lease payments  FE{} 1 ith T2 & FRIE I (31,315)
Decrease in other receivables, deposits and Efth FEUEEFN - & &
prepayments* TET FRIER A (2,166)
Increase in total assets B EBEE N 160,544
Liabilities =R
Increase in lease liabilities MHE & &0 162,093
Decrease in other payables, accruals and ~ H M EM R Bt E R K&
deposits received Bz &R (1,549)
Increase in total liabilities B EBEE N 160,544
* Included in other receivables, deposits and * RZZE-—NFHA—H B8R
prepayments at 1 April 2019 was the current portion H W ERR - e RIBN IR
of prepaid land lease payments of HK$828,000. ZBNEREB M M TS L A E IR

7%828,000/% 7T
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Year ended 31 March 2020 EZ=-F-—FTF=H=+—HIFFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 @it H %k kB E 2 &8 (4)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@ (Continued) @ (#&)
FINANCIAL IMPACT AT 1 APRIL 2019 R_FE-LFENH—-HZM®
(Continued) B¥E @
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to RZE-NF=ZA=+—HHNKEE
the operating lease commitments as at 31 March MEAENR_T—-NFHEA—H
2019 are as follows: MEEBEYREOT
HK$’000
FET
Operating lease commitments as at R=ZB-—NAF=A=+—H0W
31 March 2019 KEHERE 185,020
Less: Commitments relating to short- B R HAE K2 S T A
term leases and those leases with RZZE_FEF=ZA=+—H3K
a remaining lease term ended on or Z AR E RN RE
before 31 March 2020 (5,946)
Commitments relating to leases of HEEEEERERBNRE
low-value assets (906)
178,168
Weighted average incremental borrowing R =—ZF—hLFMA—HK
rate as at 1 April 2019 MEFHEERER X 4.57%
Discounted operating lease R-ZE-NFHEA-—HWEHRRLE
commitments and lease liabilities HEARENHEAE

as at 1 April 2019 162,093
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ—=-F_-FF=H=+—HI FE&E

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope
exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in
an associate or joint venture to which the equity
method is applied and does not include long-term
interests that in substance form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture, to which
the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28,
including the impairment requirements under HKFRS
9, in accounting for such long-term interests.
HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment,
which includes the long-term interests, only in the
context of recognising losses of an associate or joint
venture and impairment of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. The Group assessed
its business model for its long-term interests in
associates upon adoption of the amendments on
1 April 2019 and concluded that the long-term
interests in associates continued to be measured
at amortised cost in accordance with HKFRS 9.
Accordingly, the amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope
of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether
an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by
taxation authorities; (i) how an entity determines
taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation,
the Group considered whether it has any
uncertain tax positions. The Group determined the
interpretation did not have any significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

23 EREf R RERZFHEMR
T i o 4 A

AEENZEFMHEHRRP ERRABAT
ERMIE MR ERZ T REIERTER
fA s R o

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business’ BERUBRERR RTEH
EIR BT
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the BRUBRERR S A AER
Conceptual Framework* EX LA
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark BERUBRERLR  FEEEEE

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Reform’

SO BAGS
EAFERE

AU BREEA
ETR 2]
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution BERUMBRERR KREZHEREBENFHLE
and HKAS 28 (2011) of Assets between F10NRERE LRABRELEARA

an Investor and its
Associate or Joint

HEB|Fo85R 7

BT (=2

Venture® %)
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent ERMBREED 2019THFEREES
Concessions? F165 2 1BFT HE R E?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts® BERUBRELER  REALP
ERVLH
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’ BEGHHENS 1R ATEA
and HKAS 8 REE G LA
ELlivA I
Amendments to HKAS 16 Proceeds before BEGER EZRERANET 7
Intended Use* F16% 2 B3] #
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost BAESTHER ERMEA-EITEHZ
of Fulfiling a Contract EITH2EF] A
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 0185 220205  BEBABHEEAEIH
HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 BENFEELE BB B HEER
and HKAS 41+ Zo%  BRABHE
EHEI6FEREBE

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

BHEERE415

! R-ZB-ZF-A—-HAZE&MIEZ

January 2020 F R HIRE A

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2 RZEZTFA-—Bs2BgRABZ
2020 FEHR AR

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 E RZB-Z—F-—A—BAszE&RAKZ
January 2021 FEHMER

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 ¢ RZEZZF—-—HA—Hsz2&RKBZ
January 2022 FEHBER

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 2 i) A< 7E 58 il A Ak B BB AT 12 B 4N

for early adoption
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is still in the process of assessing the
impact of the above new and revised HKFRSs. Further
information about certain of those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired
substantive processes together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs. The amendments have
also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on
the date of transition.
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23 EEMifEM RERZFEM
BooE R e

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The Group
currently is still in the process of assessing whether
the amendments will have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any significant dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.

24 FEGHHRRZME

IR -
BERRRAAKRERATPR20%Z
MEER RN KRR WA HETT
FEAFEZER BEAFERESER
BRERRMBREERRRR ZEN
BIEE B R FIE S FBOR

AEEREERR 2D JIRARH
REBEDZSAFTEMEEERERE
EREEBERERS MBI KT
R-HNABRTFET —BNERGFH
REEHAE  AEHE -

4 4 B (g 20 0 R MO 1 2 4 B A
FERAD RIS RS BHEREFAR
RERA - HAh - IHE BB AT
AETERA MR - A E 0TS

B AKEEEBERRRRZNRE
Rz MBEGARRE R E QB
BERREHE ERNAERBRERME
FEEBERENRFRRI BB E D
BIFTELRB I AERARERE 2
NE)ZREHEEED ©




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=-F=-FLF=HA=+—HI FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

If the initial accounting for a business combination was
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurred, during the measurement
period (i.e., the period after the acquisition date during
which an entity may adjust the provisional amounts
recognised for a business combination), the Group shall
recognise adjustments to the provisional amounts as if
the accounting for the business combination had been
completed at the acquisition date. Thus, the Group shall
revise comparative information for prior periods presented
in financial statements as needed, and disclose the nature
and amount of any measurement period adjustments
recognised during the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instrument and certain financial assets at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHPRZHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) AR ESAE P
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured FIERMEHRRIZ AT EFERIEE
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised BERBE DEREATEASES
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based MEBEE HEEBHASBIEUTA
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value FEERDE:

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—H/ — ERBREEXEER
in active markets for identical assets or BTG RCHABRE
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which F/ — EREHAFEFEEEK
the lowest level input that is significant to FE THERHESR
the fair value measurement is observable, KK AR 2 (HET
either directly or indirectly =

Level 3 -  based on valuation techniques for which F=H/K — HREAFEFEREEK
the lowest level input that is significant B TR BENRIEE
to the fair value measurement is AR ZEELE
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the HREVBRRUABEEERRANEE

financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group RBE AEEEBNSRERRER

determines whether transfers have occurred between HATEFTEREFEATENEKE
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation BABBENIGEIE UEEREH

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the ETRERER -

fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

I 2 R & E W E 8

EEREPREFEEERNBEDER
ZEERERIR RN B FEK A GER
PZHR - WHRERZERR - S5
AlEHE - REERANBEEENK
O B8R 2 5T IR B 2R - A AT i AT
R BERERBER R BEESER
YA REBEFEYERZEE
BREMBEBEZBERIT ZEERN
KA 2 BREE (BHIBREAITE) <&
BEEBRZBROFAREEHR ZBER
hORFEENE[BESBAR ELER
T REBBRBRRREZEHREEZE
Bt BRI -

B A+
ATHERT AUFBREAEEE
MMEAL

@ BETR—BALTIZALZEZR
BB Mz AL

() EHIHHAREGAEER:
(i) HAKEEEEAZEN A

(i) RAREHLEHBRRNER
EEABKE:



Year ended 31 March 2020 # % —

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& B B R W aE
SEFZ A ALFE

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

WAL a8
b) BEADNEE WHERETHHE
faj—18:
() ZERESAAEEAR —£H
)2 4=FNCIH

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

ZERAS —MHEE (HZB
—EERBZERA KB AR
SERMBAR) ZHE QA

jz/\AA/‘\

ZEBMNAEERR-F=

HEOREAT:

—HERAEE=
ﬁ&%_ﬁﬁgm

EBNBE AR
ZERAUAREERENE
ERECERNEERY S
AR RRET & -

Ei?ﬁ%ﬂﬁ(a)ﬁﬁﬁﬁw}\im
YRGS H A

@OAFTERALTHZERE

BE E’gﬂ_kﬁmg (3%
ZEBROAR)MEZEEA
BB &

ZER K EMBERZEM

KERAEBRKEES B
AFIERESERERE-




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold lands Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

EN Y& 1Y S

BRERZ TR ZYE - BFE MRET
BRAESAER R ITEREARE
ERINE - W% - BB LREEE ZKA
BEREEREENEMNSCREEERER
EEENRNLIE 2 BERBIEKA 1)
X BEMRBHERAEERELZ
P (MBI RRE) —MRIZEELZH
fE) 1 1B 25 % R HNBR © i 157 & WERR AR 1

AEAREZAXEREERAETE
AMetERBEER - W% BEMRRBZE
REHBEHE SR MAKEEHZE
MOERSAREANERFHARFTEZ
& 5l & 2

F 2B ENRSENE  BER
BN R REH T ERERAER
SEM SR A FRA EEENE
T

B E Y3 BT
Gizk 0 ub:i 1R K FH
gx 2.5%%3%
MEMEEE EHEOFHR

20% 2 EE
R 55 Ko 1 25 10%2£20%
R B REE 15%%E20%

RE 20%ZE25%



Notes to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements
H%ﬁﬁmi

Year ended 31 March 2020 #ZE_-F—-%F ff ﬁ —HILFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property interest held as a right-
of-use asset (2019: leasehold property under an operating
lease) for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

UEN VRS Y EIE
(#)

W—EE BERREEE 285 2
ERFMTR  ZAR KA LEET
REMBHRABEENE TisHH
YIRS o (IRME - R R RIS
FELNEHBEEEE BB BE
EEERTRAE

MxE - BEMZERE (BREVSHER
ZEAEBEED) IR HERKTAMS
PREL R 3 o 5 I 4 A 07 M) i P R L
R-MREERILERZEFEAN RBaEXR
FPRERR < B SRR 2 (] M sk B 1R
Ty E PSR F R AR & ERRE (E
ZERe

ERTREEEET  NIERAREM
HEBRI  BENEFHRTE - KA
ERREHRNERRERA -ERTRE
RETHAIEERSSERFEAME
R K s B E R R

k&Y E
BREVMEREREL W NERY 2 ER
(BRESERAREERENHEERES
(o195 - REMETTWHERES) &
AN AREMENTER) - URIHES
WAR/HRTEREE ITEAR
EENEHEE M AR HARITEA
& REABERPHE - ZFWEER
BRA (BREZXSHKA)FE - VaHER
® RBEHR KEVWERARFET
R ARBRTTISAR N




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL
2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. At
inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the
Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease component(s) and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease component(s)
as a single lease component.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold lands
Properties

25 to 50 years
2 to 35 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL
2019) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

©®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL
2019) (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL
2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

Jf%)% (ZF—-RAFMH—H b

OREFRBEIN NEEFEERTRZE
REoEHREEREERAEEZHE
T nmERE-RREMERKE
HEEEZKRADRSERENK 2R
BERAEALERRRBEELBE 2K
E(IERMNEHD) K -REESHER
BARMEMERACEE (BRIRER
BHEEzENLHES) BFFAWME - B
ER&REALRERNEE 2 HEt A E
REHzRRERE - ARAEE MK
AR TN EE A ZEE L RN B R
FAER o

ARFEBERMEMLEZEBANBEA
ZEBETABEREARK HEZEEMN
HAFTAIEAFERFTE-

NEERAES K 2BRED B 5 MR
eBLBEAMRE  MEBHREIN R
REHE - WAKBERLEA  AEER
REEEETHEZEET ARIER
BEE MEEHERT 2EKHEEA
BRHEBUEREFARER - HAKHE
REBEA KEHEETZENEES
RN ERENBRERMER -

RBEEMRNBN 2 TS B IRAK
AR - MEER RITRHBA B ARATER -
HETARLRET Y 2 HA SEit
DERE - 2MEE IR L RETFT 2K
RIRADE BEMRBZBREHE -



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
4B W R IS

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable estimated selling expenses and other
estimated costs to make the sale, and the estimated
costs to be incurred to completion or by management
estimates, based on prevailing market conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investrments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make the
sale or by management estimates, based on prevailing
market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

U when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

U in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=-F=-FLF=HA=+—HI FE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

i & B (&)
ELRBEEE EEEENERESK
VEH B YRS RESHEFTER

A A XD ELERIRE E A 8
e MERWIER ZELCHBREEIRN

BHMERREHG - LR ERTOE R
RUAHFAE LB IEERIBEEAHE
FH H:_‘_:f EE it °©

BEMBEEERBEDIRBHERNE
REENEEAEHHZHE KBR
Wiﬁiaﬁﬁif%taxﬁﬁﬁz
ME(RBE)GE

(EPSSER DR SETES o pr e M4 ko K
ZHER - LA R [R) — B 5 1 B Y [R) — B
AN ERKTFERTEE RGN
AR ZAHEBEEERNAHBARE
ARELRABEMEERAREER
B XABENRREEALAEMIK
AEXEEHRBREXEEZHHEA
M@%%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ

ﬁkﬁﬁﬁ?&ﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
8 °

B A B 2

BT B2 R Al & 1 1 E W 12 A
EWR - WABST R 2 — Y& - i
WALEFAIEE B B Rt ER
RTEBEFTHE (B 2 AR X 85 AR 2 A
MA@ HEERR AHEQTER
ANBRZEWARN - WEEEEEE 2G5
AFEAFHUNERGEEREETEBRTRN
B A & E 8RR TE B BRI LUK A 3T
EERAXGTABREK



Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
4B W R IS

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z_—%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

(i)

(i)

()

V)

(V)

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised
at the point in time when/as control of the asset
(a promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Bakery operations

Revenue from the bakery operations is recognised
at a point in time when/as control of the asset (a
promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when/as control of the
asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the food
products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vii)  Property agency services
Commission income from property agency services
is recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered which is generally the time when the
transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby eligible participants
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHHURZHE @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEGH K ZME @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to
renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew (e.g., construction of significant leasehold
improvements).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on
the realisability of these properties taking into account,
inter alia, management’s estimates of the expected
selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable estimated selling expenses and other
estimated costs to make the sale, and the estimated
costs to be incurred to completion. As at 31 March
2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s properties
under development and properties held for sale were
approximately HK$286,440,000 (2019: HK$366,912,000)
and HK$439,923,000 (2019: HK$527,622,000),
respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the higher of the cash-generating units’ value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2020 was
approximately HK$76,451,000 (2019: HK$50,207,000).
Further details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the
investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of
the Group as at 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$1,982,167,000 (2019: HK$1,822,580,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including right-
of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-
financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on, inter alia, available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of completed properties. Before the
final settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the completed properties, these
costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimates.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are generally allocated to individual phases based on the
estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE A

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs
on financial assets at amortised cost other than trade
receivables, which are determined with reference to,
inter alia, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, change in which can result in different
levels of allowances.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engages in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that bank interest income, unallocated other
income and gains, net, finance costs as well as corporate
and unallocated expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are mainly transacted
with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties or at the agreed prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_ZE-_ZF=A=+—HLFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
38 MERE
BRRERE RERE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER TEr
Segment revenue (note 5) DI A (HEE5)
Revenue from external customers REMNFER 2 WA 768,403 262,667 1,031,070
Intersegment revenue DERE 2 WA 1,121 9,686 10,807
769,524 272,353 1,041,877
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WiE o HE WA (10,807)
Total revenue BRA 1,031,070
Segment results FHEE 22,634 137,731 160,365
Reconciliation: oL
Bank interest income RITHBUA 4,319
Unallocated other income and gains, net 72 Bt E A I A Je 5 -
3 20,852
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRAEX (39,702)
Finance costs B Rk (77,259)
Profit before tax BB A4 Al 68,575
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFHBER (w0
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued) BE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HLEFEE
(#&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
38 NERE
RRRERE RER @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
Other segment information HivpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REMELATE
properties, net 2% 598 - 48,846 48,846
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ JEIRER & 12 )& I i B5 18 - (71,804) (71,804)
Other interest income HF 2 A
- segment -2 - 161 161
- unallocated xR 10,328
10,489
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of EWE SRR RE,/
trade receivables, net (RERE) F8 5,422 (802) 4,620
Reversal of impairment of 8 [0 HL fth 8 M0 BR ORI E -
other receivables, net HE
- segment — D - (26,204) (26,204)
- unallocated Vel (3,397)
Recovery of other receivables written off W[ 5E 85 2 £t FEUR X
- unallocated vl (2,490)
(32,001)
Unwinding of discount on receivables FEMER 3R 2 IR E R E
- unallocated Vol - - (19,112)
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREBEME 10,544 S 10,544
Depreciation of property, plant and mE BERSEIE
equipment
- segment -8 61,619 6,514 68,133
- unallocated Vol 1,640
69,773
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECHE 76,708 782 77,490
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment -5 57,695 81,165 138,860
- unallocated vl 60
138,920*
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-_Z—NF=ZA=+—HIFE
Restaurant, Property
food  investment and
and hotel development Total
2% MERE
R RBE RER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THT
Segment revenue (note 5) WA (FiEES5)
Revenue from external customers REIMNPER 2 A 855,723 114,487 970,210
Intersegment revenue AEEZ A 1,406 7,574 8,980
857,129 122,061 979,190
Reconciliation: I8
Elimination of intersegment revenue WD ERE 2 WA (8,980)
Total revenue BRA 970,210
Segment results DWEE 93,795 293,770 387,565
Reconciliation: Tl
Bank interest income HITH BHA 1,816
Unallocated other income and gains, net 2 Bt E A I A Je e -
ek 38,480
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRAEX (32,144)
Finance costs B RSB A (53,345)

Profit before tax B A A 342 372
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4. BETHBER (@)

INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued) BE-_Z—hEF=ZA=+—HILEFE
(%)
Restaurant, Property
food  investment and
and hotel development Total
ZR- MERE
R KBS RER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TET
Other segment information HthpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REMF 2 RTHE
properties, net 2% 38 - (9,079) (9,079)
Gain on disposal of investment properties &R & ¥1% 2 Yz - 8,697 8,697
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ JE {4 Bt & A Al% | K & 18 - 256,623 256,623
Impairment of goodwil BEHE 8,721 = 8,721
Other interest income HioF S A
- segment Sk - 8,386 8,386
- unallocated -KHl 24,909
33,295
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) EUKESRTZRE
of trade receivables, net (RERE) FE 3,244 (83) 3,161
Impairment of other receivables, net HiEWERTORE F8
- segment -28 - 4,072 4,072
- unallocated Vol 1,531
5,603
Unwinding of discount on receivable KRR 2 i ER D
- unallocated Sl - - (11,643)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- BERSEITE
equipment
- segment Pk 44,209 6,915 51,124
- unallocated VL 1,107
52,231
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment -7 141,147 101,737 242,884
- unallocated Vol 2,992
245,876*
e Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * EARLTBRERAEYE BERERER
plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding KEME TRERENBARIMBE

assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries. Ee
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - E _-TF=H=+—HIF&E

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

H 15 & R
(@) KEMNBEFZWA

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR FH&T

Hong Kong BB 387,321 404,411
Mainland China B K FE 643,749 565,799
1,031,070 970,210

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

BRI AERTIRIER P IE 2

& 1 E e

b) FERBEE

2020 2019

—2-%F —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FHT

Hong Kong B 940,425 397,287
Mainland China B K 3,434,695 3,605,723
4,375,120 4,003,010

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

HitIEREEEERTIRIEEERR
Ezp@mER T EEeRIAR

EXETHRIBEE



4.

Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

OPERATING SEGMENT 4.
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR
CUSTOMERS

Revenue of approximately HK$172,218,000 (2019:
Nil) was derived from the sale of certain properties
under development by the property investment and
development segment to an external third party during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

No revenue from any single external customer accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

gEsHER (8

HREZEEPZEH

HE_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—HLFE"
#9172,218,0008 L (Z T — N F : #|&)
WAREBME=ZFHEMERERERE
DEHIBE R A

BE-_ZE-NE=A=+—BIFE"
WEREEME—INTFRE ZWAMGR
EBBU Z10%B A F o

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H bk A KUK
GAINS
REVENUE A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADITEAT :
2020 2019
—EB-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Revenue from contracts with KEEFEHZ KA
customers
Income from restaurant, B R MBEEBKA
food and hotel businesses 768,403 855,723
Proceeds from the sale of properties, $5&E ¥ ¥ A5 7E -
property management service YT B REBA K
income and commission income (RPN 180,045 25,723
948,448 881,446
Revenue from other sources X5 B M KR A
Gross rental income HeW B 82,622 88,764
1,031,070 970,210
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Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H A A KW (a0
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH RKEEPAHZHRA
CUSTOMERS
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEEHR
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_E_FEF=F=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
B -RAR MERER
Segments BIE BR @t
ansi] HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT TER TER
Types of goods or services ERSREER
Restaurant operations EERE 389,445 - 389,445
Bakery operations M ELE 111,924 - 111,924
Sale of food products RmHE 229,329 = 229,329
Hotel operations BELE 37,705 - 37,705
Property management services MEEE R - 1,062 1,062
Sale of properties MEHE - 178,792 178,792
Property agency services - MERIERS—
commission income GEALON - 191 191
Total revenue from contracts with R E B & 4 Z 218 A
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
Geographical markets 38 T 5
Hong Kong 005 370,397 4,341 374,738
Mainland China AR A 398,006 175,704 573,710
Total revenue from contracts with  RE B & 4 2 218 A
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
Timing of revenue recognition U A 7 57 B
At a point in time P J — B P B 730,698 178,983 909,681
Over time s B R 37,705 1,062 38,767

Total revenue from contracts with KB B & 4 2 I8 A
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (5
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 HE—_FE—NFZA=+—HIFF
E
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-BRER MERER
Segments i BR @t
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET AT
Types of goods or services ERRREESR
Restaurant operations EERE 447,105 - 447,105
Bakery operations M ELE 112,970 - 112,970
Sale of food products RMHE 244126 = 244,126
Hotel operations BELE 51,522 - 51,522
Property management services MEE R R - 559 559
Sale of properties MEHE - 23,477 23,477
Property agency services — MERBRE-ReBA
commission income - 1,687 1,687
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 BUA
customers 855,723 25,723 881,446
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong e 393,974 1,687 395,661
Mainland China R A 461,749 24,036 485,785
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRF & #HZ B
customers 855,723 25,723 881,446
Timing of revenue recognition W\ R 0
At a point in time RE—Fr 804,201 05,164 829,365
Over time B B 51,522 559 52,081
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRFA K 2 BUA
customers 855,723 25,723 881,446

5. WA~ H e A Rk g s

KEEPAHZWA ()
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ HE Mg A Rk s
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEEPAHZRA (80
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEER (50
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXHINKERFELHZWAESY
from contracts with customers to the amounts HMERHEZ SRR

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE_E_ZF=F=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ER-BREMR NERER
Segments BIE BR @t
bR HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TERr
Revenue from contracts with ~ KEEFAAZKA
customers
External customers INBEP 768,403 180,045 948,448
Intersegment revenue AEEBA 1,121 - 1,121

769,524 180,045 949,569
Intersegment adjustments and 7 EP R E R R8s
eliminations (1,121) - (1,121)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFP A4 2 WA 4%
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. We A~ B A oA Rk a0
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEBEEPAHZRA (80
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAPEEH (5)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 Bz —FE—NF=HA=+—Hif
FZF
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
8 -BmK MERER
Segments BE BE @it
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TET
Revenue from contracts with ~ REZEFAHZWA
customers
External customers SMBEP 855,723 25,723 881,446
Intersegment revenue AR A 1,406 - 1,406

857,129 25,723 882,852
Intersegment adjustments and 7 ER AR R8s
eliminations (1,4006) - (1,408)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBP A4 2 WA 4%
customers 855,723 25,723 881,446
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.

5. Wo A~ e A Bl g a0

KEHEFAHZRA (50

(i)

WA»EE R (8)

TRETRARE BREERT AR
BEPNZENEBEZRASE-

2020 2019
ZEZERF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue recognised that was st ARBREH I 2
included in contract liabilities at & # B &2
the beginning of the reporting B #ER A
period:
Restaurant, food and hotel B R MBS 10,328 11,420
Property investment and MERERERE
development 6,991 8,272
17,319 19,692
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. W A~ H Al A Bk g (s

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations

KEEPAHZWA ()

(i) &&=

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Restaurant operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Bakery operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,
from the date of delivery, except for new customers
or certain food products, where payment in advance
is normally required.

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as goods or services are provided and
payment is generally due when the services have
been rendered.

Property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of one to eight years and
payment in advance is normally required.

BRREERAORE2ER BN
T

BROET BN ERIREERR
HTPEFRER - TFPREBE,H
1S PTEE & an S IR TS 2 425 Il R R —
RASN R HER-

s
BHORE—RRNERIREERET
BEFFER -FTFENBE IS
AR S RS IR 2 A B R — R A
XRS5 ER-

RoHE
BHEE—RRARE R ERE
ERC —MRR R E H%30E90H
AR (EERFEEREZEERY
BR) HEHEFPXAETRMBIN E
BEEEBAR

B AR &
BHE T —MANREE R REE
BERS R - TR — R ERER
TR FH o

YVEEERE

JB 40 & 11 12 11 AR 765 B B B i
K-MEEERBENRE—FE
NE - WREFBBFLARK
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H btk A KW o)

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEPFAHZWA (8

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued) () fB&FEAL
Sale of properties Y EHE
In respect of the sale of completed properties, the EJEIQI#’%%Z%% ms  BAET
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in REFREERTIWEZEEMA
time when the legal title of the completed property w2 B E ¥5 LEX RBEE—MTY
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the BRIEEE WSS B ZIERM e

transaction price is generally made in accordance
with the terms of the respective sale and purchase

agreements.
Property agency services IR .
The performance obligation is satisfied when the BARTRER Hﬁj‘% FREERK - (I3
services have been rendered and payment is —RE A5 B EIE T30 B -
generally due within 30 days from the agreement
date.
Other income and gains E A Rz
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HMWA KRS DHTAT :
2020 2019
—E-ZHF —ZET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR FAT
Bank interest income SRITA B WA 4,319 1,816
Investment interest income HEF B A 13,179 5,779
Other interest income Hip A 208 A 10,489 33,295
Changes in fair value of investment & & ¥ % N (HES)  F5E
properties, net - 48,846 (9,079)
Dividend income from equity EEARAEEIELER
investments designated =
at fair value through other %@%ggﬁgﬁ?%z
comprehensive income m I & 6,948 12,073
Dividend income from financial BATEEYERRIBEPE
assets at fair value through =i &
orofit o loss B2 BAEZRBIA 1,018 1,364
Fair value gain on financial assets 1%/ (E 5|88 K A B 25
at fair value through profit or loss EEYSRMEEY ATE
W g - 4,352
Gain on disposal of investment HEE Y T IS
properties - 8,697
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AT Z W 422 -
Unwinding of discount on FEU FRTE 2 YT IR (A B (O]
receivables ; 19,112 11,643
Government subsidies* Bl B 3,800 -
Others Hi 7,288 9,278
116,321 79,218

* This mainly represented subsidies approved by the Finance  * ZREZERBARFIITEE BT LA B

Committee of the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong Special BEESRHNFERYERFEABETE
Administrative Region for Food License Holders Subsidy LART 28 37 LR AR on B b A 15 5| RV A8 & R

Scheme to cope with the operating pressure caused by the
novel coronavirus epidemic.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Fx B i i Al
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBEBRBAVEFE R, (GTA) AT
(crediting): BIE:
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &x FEx FHET
Cost of inventories sold and services BEFE KB IRHRE 2
provided B 553,412 499,896
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% - BE RRBEZITE
equipment \ R 13 69,773 52,231
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & E 2 1 & (2019 : 18
(2019: amortisation of prepaid RN HERE 2 EE)
land lease payments) ) 15(a), 15(b) 77,490 507
Impairment of right-of-use assets* £ A& EE 2 M {E" 15(b), 15(c) 10,544 =
Gain on lease modification HEE s 15(b), 15(c) (349) -

Minimum lease payments under L EEFLE
operating leases in respect of land A2 HEHR S

and buildings - 83,763
Lease payments not included in the Kt ATREAFEFNEZ

measurement of lease liabilities HERR 15(d) 8,130 =
Contingent rents under operating AR Lith RIEFLE

leases in respect of land and MOz AEE

buildings 15(d) 74 424
Auditor's remuneration T 4,119 4,639

Employee benefit expense (excluding 1& & #& 7|5 52
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (B EHE (K:8)

BRAN) #
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE #Fekita 192,335 246,248
Equity-settled share option NEmEE 2
expense BIRERAX 377 212
Pension scheme contributions RSB
(defined contribution schemes) (REHZEE) 9,072 9,655
201,784 256,115
Foreign exchange differences, net ~ SMNEZ %8 » JF58 15,786 38,085
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) A N &8 2 8E
of CREER) :
— trade receivables, net ~-EREZER F8 23 4,620 3,161
— other receivables, net —HiEUERR - F 24 (29,601) 5,603
Recovery of other receivables written U [8] 2 35 35 2 H b fEUR BR 3¢
off (2,490) -
Direct operating expenses (including BEVAS 2 R EMEELZE
repairs and maintenance) arising BEEL
from rental-earning investment (BEEBRRE)

properties 670 770
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB WAl e

2020 2019
SE-RF —TNF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FTEx FET
Changes in fair value of investment  REWE A FEEE -
properties, net HE 14 (48,846) 9,079
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NEEEE (M) -
AR
Financial assets at fair value BATESERRERHR
through profit or loss BEZEHMEE
— held for trading —-BEEE 27,929 (3,474)
- designated as such upon — R TR
initial recognition RItIEE 1,809 (878)
Derivative instruments TEIE
- transactions not qualifying as = T HEEHEER IR
hedges 9 3

Bank interest income fﬁﬂ* 2 HA (4,319) (1,816)

Investment interest income BERBHA (13,179) (65,779)

Other interest income ?‘;@2 Eﬂ%éfﬁﬁl] E5 (10,489) (33,295)

Dl\{ldend income erm equity A fﬁ% H\ i m%@ W )\I&P

investments designated IR ERRE
at fair value through other
comprehensive income (6,948) (12,073)
Dividend income from financial & /D\{.TE?’_'J AR &
. . RERPEEZ
assets at fair value through profit SREEYRIKA
or loss (1,918) (1,364)
Gain on disposal of investment HEREMRZ W
properties - (8,697)
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off H /f.i/ IR - BiE K
. =EER 2 ER/
of items of property, plant and ( rz5) - Fam
equipment, net 8,084 (117

Impairment of goodwill B RE" 16 - 8,721

Release of deferred income” BT AR R (35,759) (165)

Unwinding of discount on FEMRIA 2 473 (E R B

receivables (19,112) (11,643)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FMBAR 2 WE 40 (422) =

Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries ~ BUH i i Hi B 2 7] 2 &1 40 919 -

i Inclusive of an amount of HK$152,717,000 (2019: # BESEAEEFENDIREERSEZ
HK$173,470,000) classified under cost of inventories sold B A152,717,0008 70 (—Z &2 — h 4
and services provided. 173,470,000 7T) 2 & 5 »

* The impairment of right-of-use assets and goodwill are * FRESEN ﬁgﬁg WES AL B
included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated &AM S K
statement of profit or loss.

" The release of deferred income is classified under cost of ' g%gé?ﬁ?% > J?JZ Tﬁ;ﬁi [BER

inventories sold and services provided.
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MB A
2020 2019
—BEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZHE 74,520 56,059
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEBEZHE 6,795 =
Less: Interest capitalised B BEMEFE (4,056) (2,714)
77,259 53,345
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIEEBMERSMBRARIESR LM
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The MAN(TETRARAL)  BEQBEHE
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 383(1)@) (b) O RMEREERA (HKE
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong EEFEER) BOE2RBEBEAFTEE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong EMeT
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2020 2019
i —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees we 600 600
Other emoluments: Hith & :
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 9,067 9,445
Bonuses paid and payable* BT R IEAT 1,922 3,889
Equity-settled share option expense ARz &S E 2 BEIAER X 356 123
Pension scheme contributions RRET B
(defined contribution schemes) (FREHKEFE) 204 225
11,549 13,682
12,149 14,282
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled O ARAETHROERARB IR
to bonus payments which are approved by the Group’s MARE HMEBGHRERSER
remuneration committee with reference to the Group’s SEEFRMNBEREARRMETE -

current year profit and the individual performance of the
directors.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM 2 s
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE (A) BarEafr#ES
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive AREEESNBYIFRITESHE N
directors during the year were as follows: T
2020 2019
—E-BHE —T-NF
Fees Fees
we e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BA B S A 200 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BEXHEEE 200 200
Mr. Wong See King HEEREBEE 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the REFIWMEA BB IEMITE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENFH(ZZE-—NEF |

(2019: Nil).
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& W ok Wk
Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z— Tff ﬁ +—HILFE
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L s
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A B) HfTEER—MFRITEF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions  remuneration
21 NEREE Bie
& REf ZHBRE T e
ik b1 #A B f#t ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TR
2020
Executive directors:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum - 2,216 865 - 70 3,151
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong - 2,144 480 - 57 2,681
Mr. Leung Pak Yan - 2,374 577 118 - 3,069
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John - 601 - 118 18 737
Mr. Ng Sze Ping - 200 - - 6 206
Mr. Chan Frangis Ping Kuen" WWE TAE - 88 - 120 1 209
Sub-total Nt - 7,623 1,922 356 152 10,053
Non-executive director: FniTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENELE = 1,444 = = 52 1,496
- 9,067 1,922 356 204 11,549
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
e Bt NEREE RBIKE
&k RIER ZBRE TE Be
e b= fear A% 3R Fok]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT FTHT FTHET FTHT
2019 “E-hE
Executive directors: WIES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENREE = 2,401 1,750 = 70 4,221
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REXEE - 1,984 972 - 62 3,018
Mr. Leung Pak Yan PEARE = 2,540 1,167 123 11 3,841
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SRS E - 606 - - 18 624
Mr. Ng Sze Ping REELE - 421 - - 12 433
Sub-total it - 7,952 3,889 123 173 12,137
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBEE - 1,493 - - 52 1,545
- 9,445 3,889 123 225 13,682
" Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen was appointed as a 8 RMELEER T _TF=F—
director on 1 March 2020. BEZAARES-
During the year ended 31 March 2020, Mr. Ma Kai BE_T-_TF=-HA=+—HIt
Yum, initiated a temporary 50% reduction of his FE - B-FT-_ZTF_A ;ﬁ A
salary for two months whilst the other executive £ /&O BNREERFLERT
directors and senior management had a 30% #50% __7“% H'Efﬁ f H,: i & ﬁti}{g
reduction of their salaries for 2 months, with effect ESNRAEEAEHTETH

from 1 February 2020. 30% - RAAmEA -
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2019: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2019: one) non-director,

DA 5 # R B 2 #

-

RAEE AfusksHEERENE (=
T-NF OB ES EFMFERT
REXHFE8 BT —R (ZF—NF:
—R)HEF FEBTRABZESH

non-chief executive highest paid employee are as follows: EBEZHMFBWOT:
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries e 1,346 1,403
Equity-settled share option expense  AREZ4EE 7 BRI X 54 -
1,400 1,403

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
highest paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2019: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

B FEFTBTHABZESHES
R A 2 ¥ B & 51,000,001 T 2
1,500,000 THIEAN (2T — NLF:

1,000,001 7t 1,500,000/ 7T ) °
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10. INCOME TAX 10. Fi 15 B
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BEENEBEIEBFAREEBEE 2
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits STERB G IZ165% (ZE— N F:
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one 16.5% ) 2R BB - HEREEH
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under —ENBRRANGHRMAEN THE
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective from the ERERA T\ /2T -NARBF
year of assessment 2018/2019. The first HK$2,000,000 ERAEBNRESE -ZNBRARINE
(2019: Nil) of assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed 2,000,000 7T (=& — .- 8 ) 1) B 5%
at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed T F BB R 58.25% © #4 T K FERR B4 F
at 16.5%. Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China T K 316.5% o FH B K B FE AR A s
have been calculated at the relevant rates of tax prevailing 2 TRTE T p B K BE 2 M RAIR 1T R R 5t
in Mainland China. K
2020 2019
—BERF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current — Hong Kong BNER— &%
Charge for the year REEZH 838 1,158
Current — Mainland China BVER — R B K e
Corporate income tax BN 39,778 53,976
Land appreciation tax T IEE R 16,170 =
Overprovision in prior years BAFERERE (14,435) (9,577)
Deferred (note 32) EAE (HT5ES2) 11,363 (3,905)
Total tax charge for the year REEHIBS LR 53,714 41,652




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 B Z-—F-_FF=A=+—HIF&Z

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. P 5 8 (o)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit BEBEEM R EEARBRT AN
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax ZEHBRAS ERERHERGTE 2 BB
charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: XHEBRWAT
2020 2019
—BEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit before tax B 52 Bl A 68,575 342,372
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) —E—NF:165%)
FEZHE 11,315 56,491
Effect of higher/lower tax rates REE DB R E M 2
for specific provinces or enacted LISy R v -2 -
by local authorities 23,424 17,448
Adjustments in respect of current tax B EIfE 2
of previous periods BN IE AR (14,435) (9,577)
Profits and losses attributable to FE(REE & N alaF R EE
associates 11,848 (42,343)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (29,298) (22,800)
Expenses not deductible for tax T 32,978 35,524
Land appreciation tax T HpIE(E 16,170 =
Tax losses utilised from previous FRABTHRN
periods TIEE 1R (14,963) (1,646)
Tax losses not recognised RERKTIBEE 16,675 8,555
Tax charge at the Group'’s IRANE B TR X
effective rate AEZHES S 53,714 41,652
The share of tax credit attributable to associates DIEEE—EBE AR ZHIBER2RE
amounting to approximately HK$4,188,000 (2019: tax 4,188,000 L (ZE— N F : BB H
charge of HK$99,125,000) is included in “Share of profits 99,125,000 7t ) B st Afra Bk [
and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of g T RFI REE] -

profit or loss.
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DIVIDEND 11. k&
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Proposed final - HK3 cents (2019:  &:% & #1 — T A% T @ MRS L
HK3 cents) per ordinary share ZE-NRF 3B 37,713 37,713

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,257,087,536 (2019:
1,256,654,659) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
for the year ended 31 March 2019 is based on the profit
for the year ended 31 March 2019 attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
31 March 2019, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration
on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amount presented for the year ended 31 March
2020 in respect of a dilution as the share options of the
Company outstanding during the year ended 31 March
2020 had no dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share amount presented.

12.

REE 2 2B AR B BFRNRBBRR
REVEABRZBRBFEARE L1 /ER
JTRIEE

B w5 kAN A
5 Mk & A

BREARNSEIRESG AR EBER
BB ARERFEREMNRFRNE T
TR 2 I 15 801,257,087,536%

—T— R4 :1,256,654,6500% ) 5 & o

(E_E-NAF=—A=+t—BLFEZ
BRHEBRMNESBIOIRES AR LA
RESEARERE_T-NLF=A
=t —HUEFERNFE - EERA
RRzEBBRNEFHEAESR
ERBNAEBBE_ZT-NE=A
St HALEFEZEHTEREREA
AERRITRNBRMEEEHEER
PR E BRI R D BEEITHE B
REFH R -

HRBE T _TF=-_A=1+—BLLF
EARRBARITEBBREAMZ2I 28R
EXBNSEREHETE RtHE
E_ZE_THE=A=+—HILFEM=E
Pl BIRERAENSFLAELREZ
BEHE-
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12, B 2 6] % 8 Ik 6+ A O\ e S
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 5% & A g)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERN DREA T SIER
are based on: &
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Earnings 2 F

Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ R T EFRER L #E
holders of the parent, used in the V| PASYNEIE S g
basic and diluted earnings per share  #& A JE15 % Tl
calculations 14,123 277,958

Number of shares

R EE
2020 2019
—E-BHE —T-NF
Shares i &l
Weighted average number of ordinary ARt EFREREF ~
shares in issue during the year used FRABE 377 E @M
in the basic earnings per share ke
calculation 1,257,087,536 | 1,256,654,659
Effect of dilution — weighted average #8222 — @Ak
number of ordinary shares: InEFIHE
Share options BB AR - 749,055
1,257,087,536 | 1,257,403,714
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. WE-FER&E

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER &
EENE THREF  WEES #E RERRE EH  ERIE X
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THET THT T FET FHL Fi#n
31 March 2020 “E-EF=B=t-H
At 1 April 2019 (restated): RZE-NFRA—A
(5 =31) :
Cost o valuation BRABSREE 383,493 331,320 213,598 79,095 116,480 25,688 118,697 1,268,371
Accumulated depreciation and ZATERAE
impairment (120,878) (80,460)  (127,771) (25,201) (88,486) (21,109) - (463,905)
Net carrying amount REFE 262,615 250,860 85,827 53,804 21,994 4,579 118,697 804,466
At 31 March 2019, net of RZZ-NEF
accumulated depreciation and ZA=+-B K2
impairment HERRE 262,615 250,860 88,576 53,894 27,994 4,579 118,697 807,215
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 BN BREER
EAl 02 - - (2,749) - - - - (2,749)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZZ-NFMA—H
(& #=31) 262,615 250,860 85,827 53,894 27,994 4,579 118,697 804,466
Additions RE - - 18,621 18,031 7,267 1,119 16,552 61,590
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-FHERR
(note 39) GiEZY) - - 5,726 - 15 1 - 5,742
Transfers B - 119,385 - - - - (119,385) -
Depreciation provided during FRTERE (Mi6)
the year (note 6) (10,446) (15,653) (17,227) (15,944) (9,140) (1,363) - (69,773)
Disposals/write-off HE /8 - (16) (7,519) (614) (4,300) (45) - (12,494)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAR
(note 40) (Bizk40) - - (156) - (287) - - (443)
Exchange realignment EHAE (16,709) (17,249) (4,461) (2,753) (738) (253) (4,946) (47,109)
At 31 March 2020, net of i St 33
accumulated depreciation =A=1+-B"
BB ZHIE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
At 31 March 2020: RZZ-FF
=A=+-R:
Cost o valuation BRAEREE 358,687 429,661 215,183 92,054 108,451 25,884 10918 1,240,838
Accumulated depreciation and ZETERAE
impairment (123,227) (92,334) (134,372 (39,440) (87,640) (21,846) - (498,859)
Net carrying amount REFE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-FE=-FF=H=+—HIFZ

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ¥ %~ Bk B B #% e (50
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles i progress Total
HE % R &l
EENE  IHREF  DERE KR KERRAE B ERIR £

HK$000  HKS000  HKEO00D  HKS000  HKSO000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TAL TAR TAL TAR TAL TAR TAL

31 March 2019 —Z-hEZAZ1-A
At 1 April 2018; R=Z-N\EMA—-A:
Cost o valuation BRAEREE 410,599 326,257 197,904 45,189 112,155 23,975 70174 1,186,253
Accumulated depreciation and ZETERAE
impairment (117,570) (73,095 (119,795) (24,388) (85,435) (21,008) S (441,288)

Net carrying amount REFE 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
At 1 April 2018, net of accumulated R=ZF—N\EEA—A"

depreciation and impairment BHBEERAE 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
Additions RE = 23,843 29,790 36,202 11,693 2,59 53,240 157,454
Acqisition of a subsidliary (note 39)  WifE — I B A )

(Mi5£39) - - 4,493 467 160 - - 5,120
Depreciation provided during the year £ A347 % &% (Hizt6)

(note 6) (11,088) (10,424) (18,532) (2,394) (8,981) (812) = (52,231)
Disposals HE - - (1,579) (676) (1,076) ) S (3,340)
Exchange realignment ERAE (19,326) (15,721) (3,705) (596) (522) (166) @4,717) (44,753)
At 31 March 2019, net of R-E-h&=A

accumulated depreciation =t+-B BHREF

e 262,615 250,860 88,576 53,894 27,994 4579 118,697 807,215
At 31 March 2019: RZE-NF
=A=+-R:
Cost o valuation ERAERGEE 383,493 331,320 217,406 79,005 116,480 25,688 118697 1,272,179
Accumulated depreciation and ZETERAE
impairment (120,878) (80460)  (128,830) (25,201) (88,486) 21,109) S (464,964)

Net carrying amount REE 262,615 250,860 88,576 53,894 27,994 4,579 118,697 807,215
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equijpment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$634,000 (2019: HK$807,000).

At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$174,788,000 (2019: HK$184,718,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 44).

13. ¥~ Wi &t (o

BUYBESERGEMDIREREAH
B EERARAMER-—AAAFE=A
=+ —HYEAREEETHE T RETF
ETEH -B—ANAFRE AEECH
fii’@&*ﬁ?jﬂﬁﬁ’_iﬁ—iiﬁ R
AAAEBEBRRESESSAELFE16
5)‘#277%‘ =R 2 ﬁqﬂ%SOAAExFﬁ%CZ
BEGSUR 2 B W SR E IR
BINRZME BERBBHETE—S
B ZHE -

WMz EHE T RIEF R LK AR
B EREMBEBEBAR L4E
H1EE4) A634,0008 7T (ZF— 1LF:
807,000/ 7T ) °

AZEZEF=A=+—H AEEE
H B 4174,788,0008 7L (—E— N
£ :184,718,0008 L) 2 & T¥W % - &
ERZBECEER EFRATSERRSE
FHRITEE 2 ER (Ki3H44) o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. &Y ¥

2020 2019
— i —FE-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FExT TET
Carrying amount at beginning of K& 2 BREE @ R4 {E
year, at valuation 1,822,580 1,764,648
Additions R 77,330 88,422
Transfers iR 21 55,784 -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value NFEREEE
adjustments W,/ (E#8)FE 6 48,846 (9,079)
Exchange realignment bE SR (22,373) (21,411)
Carrying amount at 31 March, at A=A =+—HZRAE
valuation RiGE 1,982,167 1,822,580

The directors of the Company have determined that
the Group’s investment properties consist of three
classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and
industrial properties, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 March 2020 based
on valuations performed by Vigers Appraisal &
Consulting Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers, at approximately HK$1,982,167,000 (2019:
HK$1,822,580,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuers to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s
investment properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
management has discussions with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for financial reporting. Certain
investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,518,759,000 (2019: HK$1,618,605,000) were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 44).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal properties are
included on pages 265 to 276.

AAREZCREBESYE ML  FiE
MERBETAEEREMER=-EEE
HA(BMEE BmERIEME)AK-
RIE-_EF=A=+—H Xx&EB2
REMERERBYUEESERGE
BT EEF GEMERAREITY
HEEHYA1,982,167,0008 7T (ZF
— N4 £ 1,822,580,000/8 7T ) - §FE -
AEBEZEBEREZTINEGEEME
EREEEEME ZIINBHE - BURE
BIBIEmS A B2 B REDY
BEEZE - AEBEEERTES
WETHERAHEM T REERR

HEER - ETREVENREERE
MFE=H E—PHREFBEEHRY
EHREWFE15A

RIE-_EF=A=+—H X&EELE
HE{E# A1,518,759,000 T (ZE— AN,
% :1,618,605,0008 ) 2R EMEE
BRI (EAAEEERE TR TEE
ZER (MI5E44) -

AEBEENERZE-—TFBIARSE
265ZF 2768 °
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. & W ¥ )

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY A fE 8 %
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINTAEEREYHE 2 AT EFE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: [

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2020 using
R-E-Z2F=A=1+-H
ERUTREETZAFETE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EBEATEE EXTUEER
ZHE BAE BAER
(5-%) (5=8&) (B=8) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET FHET
Hong Kong: BiE:
Commercial properties HENE - - 154,200 154,200
Industrial properties IENZE - - 165,448 165,448
Residential properties FEME - - 13,700 13,700
Mainland China: SIEpNE
Commercial properties HENE - - 1,583,645 1,583,645
Industrial properties T¥M% - - 65,174 65,174
S S 1,982,167 1,982,167




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
4B W R

Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z-FE=-FF=H=+—HIFZ

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

14. £ &YW % )
NEEE K (5)

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2019 using
R-ZBE-NE=A=1+—H
FRATSEETZATEHNE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERMS EAHEE EXTIER
(B BAE BAE
(5—#) (BF=®) (B=R) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TET
Hong Kong: BB
Commercial properties HENE - - 128,500 128,500
Industrial properties IXME - = 118,542 118,542
Residential properties FEME - - 6,828 6,828
Mainland China: SIEN
Commercial properties HENE - - 1,495,877 1,495,877
Industrial properties I¥M% - - 72,833 72,833
- - 1,822,580 1,822,580

RER BEEENTAE -REF
M2 AFEFERLELFE=RTPEA
FEH(ZT-NFE)-

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. & W ¥ )

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) N T8 o)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE=RAFEERAZ AFEE
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHER:
Hong Kong Mainland China
3 PEAKE
Commercial Industrial Residential  Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
BENE IEUM% FENE BENE TEN%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tir T THr Tir

Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 RZE-N\EMA—-H
LEEE 49,501 108,628 2,400 1,528,168 75,951
Additions NE 82,585 - 5,837 - -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments R EZHRZ AT EHE
recognised in profit or loss i/ (BR) 38 (3,586) 9914 (1,409) (14,577) 579
Exchange realignment EHAR - - - (17,714) (3,697)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019and R =E— A&
1 April 2019 ZA=+-RHk
“T-NE
MA-BZEEE 128,500 118,542 6,828 1,495,877 72,833
Additions HE 29,886 47,444 - - -
Transfers EF - - 4,160 51,624 -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments REZHERZ A TFEFE
recognised in profit or loss Wi/ (B18) 58 (4,186) (538) 2,712 53,990 (3132
Exchange realignment ERAE - - - (17,846) (4,527)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 RZZ_ZE
ZA=t-H
LEEfE 164,200 165,448 13,700 1,683,645 65,174
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

14. £ &YW % )
NEEE K (5)

TR EMRGEM B Z A ERM

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and

the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REBHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fhE R il EATUBEBAE &E
2020 2019
“BIRE | ZENF
Hong Kong:
ek
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$16,500 to | HK$17,000 to
(per square foot) HK$51,000 HK$40,000
EESUES BERIBE fhatmfE (B FHER) 16,5008 LZE | 17,0008T%E
51,000/ 7T 40,0008 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach ~ Estimated market price HK$2,400to | HK$2,250 to
\ (per square foot) HK$3,500 HK$3,250
I%m% BERLIBE fhat B (B FHER) 24008%ZE | 2250802
3,500/ 1T 3,250 7T
Residential properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$7,000to | HK$7,000 to
N (per square foot) HK$11,000 HK$8,500
FEmE ERLBE fhst B (B FAHER) 7,00087Z | 7,0008LE
11,0005 70 8,500/ 7T
Mainland China:
B R -
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach ~ Estimated market price HK$22,453 to | HK$22,807 to
\ (per square metre) HK$79,737 HK$81,871
EEZUES BERLIBE fhat i (B FAK) 24538TLE | 280782
79,7378 1T 81,8718 T
Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$49 to HK$58 to
) (per square metre per month) HK$164 HK$175
WAERIE fhst8E (B FAKER) 498 E 58T E
1648 1T 17587
Capitalisation rate 8.5% 8.5%
AR X
Industrial properties Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$15.6 HK$16.4
(per square metre per month)
I%m% L UN- VN |87 fhEAE (BYHKER) 156 7T 1647 7T
Capitalisation rate 7.5% 8.5%
A%

REBEELEE R VFENSEMROE
PmEZ AP ZERE LHATE
HEMREZNME 2R 5 BH Bk
BEEEECZRIEHAE-

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,
etc. between the comparable properties and the subject
properties.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold
lands and properties used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased lands
from the owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 1 and 35 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension options, which are further
discussed below.

14.

15.

KEWE 9

N TE S o)
BEWABREE  AEEEEZY
XS AN KERAE Y EEE
HiEEte

At HERGHATE (BFTR/ ¥
K)EBRIBEZMN, WO EBIREY
EORTEKREBEM HLD BRLE
BEAREN, RO BEIREMEN
DNFERER D0

il

A% B AR R KHA
AEBERANEENSERELIBRY
2 AREAN AEECRAES
—REMFAMEEBAE Lt BH
AR25EE0F - TR B 3% % + 1M & o
2 K E B AR E S R -
BENEHRHBHN T12365 - — &
MmE AEETTAREEUSIALE
ERHHRREAE - RRERBNET
BEAHZHBRIIMT -
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 @)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEBAMA (8)
(a) Prepaid land lease payments (before 1 April (a) Ff LM % K I ( — N
2019) FWA—HE)
HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amount at 1 April 2018 RZZE—-\FHEA—BZEKEE 13,409
Addition during the year FARE 20,157
Recognised in profit or loss during the year F RPN IR RER (Fi:E6)

(note 6) (507)
Exchange realignment ME 5, B (916)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019 R-E—NF=A=+—HzZKREE 32,143
Current portion included in other AT K e U AR K

receivables, deposits and prepayments Re RERNRIBZREIBS (828)
Non-current portion EMENE 31,315

(b) Right-of-use assets (b) i FiHE & 7
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use REEZEAEEERBMERFA
assets and the movements during the year are as ZEmT
follows:
Prepaid
land lease
payments Properties Total
FE AT Lt
HERE L/ES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHT FHT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—NFEMNA—H 32,143 164,631 196,774
Additions during the year F W/J\ = 36,325 36,325
Addition as a result of AR E— B A F

acquisition of a subsidiary &0 ( #f5£39)

(note 39) 1,098 - 1,098
Remeasurement on lease ~ EFTAIEHEERT

modifications = 5,837 5,837
Impairment A - (18,564) (18,564)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (M 3¥6) (799) (76,691) (77,490)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEH B R R

(note 40) (Ff15E40) S (1,108) (1,108)
Exchange realignment bE X E (2,072) (3,445) (5,517)

As at 31 March 2020 RZEZZEF

—A=+—H 30,370 106,985 137,355
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) A E A RAMA ()
(c) Lease liabilities (0 MEATMHE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the rEE HEABRAERFAE
movements during the year are as follows: EJR U
2020
—E-EHF
Lease
liabilities
HEESE
HK$’000
FET
Carrying amount at 1 April REA—BZEREE 162,093
New leases MHEE 35,957
Remeasurement on lease modifications ~ E¥TAIEHEEE] 5,837
Termination of leases RIEEE (8,369)
Accretion of interest recognised FAERZFEIEIE
during the year 6,795
Principal portion paid ARG (65,497)
Interest paid B F B (6,795)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 40) & — B AR (F3E40) (1,078)
Exchange realignment bE W R (2,572)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—RHZEEE 126,371
Analysed into: Sk i =1
Current portion mEEL D 66,449
Non-current portion EMENEL D 59,922
126,371
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed HMEBBEZHEHAM T (ZE—A
in note 48 to the financial statements. F . RMEROEMNRIE) £ KR

=M1 E48h KRR o
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 @)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEEAERAMA (8
(d) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in (d EstABEGEREMEMMN2
relation to leases are as follows: BME
2020
—EB-EHF
HK$’000
FTET
Interest on lease liabilities HEARZME 6,795
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {FAEEEZITE 77,490
Expenses relating to short-term leases and B33 B30 & & #42 T Hf R
other leases with remaining lease terms —ECEF=R=+—H%KZA
ended on or before 31 March 2020 fEmzEMEEEENER 7,463
Expenses relating to leases HEEEEEHEEHRANER
of low-value assets 667
Variable lease payments not included in the KRt ATHEBEEN
measurement of lease liabilities AR ERIE 74
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBm KRR RIBMATE 92,489
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 =)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) A E A RAMA ()
(e) Extension options (e) T Hi 2 4
The Group has several lease contracts that include rEEEETEECHEREY
extension options. These options are negotiated MEER -EREHE 7TELEE
by management to provide flexibility in managing EAEETEEHEEEMAS
the leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with WEEASENERT KREFE—
the Group’s business needs. Set out below are B TXIH T HEMANITHEZ
the undiscounted potential future rental payments 1% B HAREI AR B MO R HT IR B0 BE R 2K
relating to periods following the exercise date of He SEHENREARTARE
extension that are not included in the lease terms. &Ko
Payable
within
five years
REFREN
HK$’000
2020 —E-EF FET
Extension options expected not to be TR T IT 2 B R 2
exercised 34,524
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. Ml & (a)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of commercial properties, industrial properties
and residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of
the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$82,622,000 (2019: HK$88,764,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2020, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

A% W AR R LA

AEERBCEHETHLRAREIREY
% (MisE14)  BIEREE KT B AR
MEAYE TAVERTEDE -HE
MIEFKBEERARPXNERIESWR
BENEATIMEHAZRES A&
A F A HE R £ U A A82,622,000
BT (ZF— L4 : 88,764,000/ 7T )
HABHR YRR EES ©

RZB-_ZF=A=+—H0 Z&£ER
BEHEMBPEI S 2 NI BUEM G EHE
B R 2R B FE) FE U 2 R BE IR AE & FRIE 1A
T

2020 2019

—E-EH —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Within one year —FR 91,611 67,827
After one year but within two years ~ —F & BRMER 67,437 46,045
After two years but within three years FIFEER =F N 50,428 38,039
After three years but within four years =& {ERIUE R 38,300 33,994
After four years but within five years  PUEEEREFENRN 30,398 22,388
After five years hF% 48,699 67,245
326,873 275,538




16. GOODWILL
31 March 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2020 # % —

16. 75 &

& B B R W aE
—FFCAZFALFE

—E-BF=A=+—H

HK$’000
FEx
At 1 April 2019: R-E—hEMA—A:
Cost %N 58,928
Accumulated impairment BEETRE (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 50,207
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of impairment RZZE—NFHEA—BZKA"
HERRVE 50,207
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39)* UeBg— R B A7) (7E39) * 26,244
Cost at 31 March 2020, net of accumulated ANZEZTF=A=+—HZHAE"
release and impairment k2 EL MRE 76,451
At 31 March 2020: R_E_ZEF=A=+—H8:
Cost B AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 76,451

*

to note 39 for further details.

The goodwill was determined on a provisional basis. Refer

39 e

Y ZEBNEEEEETE - FEH2HN
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)
31 March 2019

16. 7 & (@)

—ET-NF=A=+—8

HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2018: R-T—NFMA—A:
Cost and net carrying amount BN K BR TE SHE 58,928
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of RZZE—N\FHEA—BZKA"
accumulated release and impairment Mk R EL RRE 58,928
Impairment during the year (note 6) FARE (KisEe) (8,721)
Cost at 31 March 2019, net of accumulated RZEBE—NF=A=+—H2KE"
release and impairment Mk 2 EL KRE 50,207
At 31 March 2019: RZZT—h&F=A=+—8:
Cost BN 58,928
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE (8,721)
Net carrying amount ERTHEFE 50,207
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel;

o Mainland China food supply business; and

° Hong Kong restaurant and food.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the

16. 7 & (g)

w2z G A
MEBEHANEBBESEENT
B4 B A AR B

o REAEER ARNEE:

s HmEXERMEEED X

MERERER-

PEERREELEU 2 AERIMEN

cash-generating units are as follows: T
2020 2019
Sl 23 —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Mainland China restaurant, food and B KBEZ 8 B 5 KBS

hotel - _
Mainland China food business PR KPER mER 26,244 -
Hong Kong restaurant and food BEEEHRERRM 50,207 50,207
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+—HZERHEEA 76,451 50,207

The Group’s recoverable amounts of the Hong Kong
restaurant and food cash-generating unit and Mainland
China restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit
have been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets/
forecasts covering a five-year period, which were
approved by senior management. The discount rates
applied to the cash flow projections range from 8% to
9% (2019: range from 10% to 11%). The growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the Mainland China
restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit and the
Hong Kong restaurant and food cash-generating unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (2019: 3%).

AEBREBERLEMREELEEN
PEAEZER RGRBEEReELSE
Uz EeBEEARBRRREEA
EMECHFRMBEE BAZ
Ren8BAZEREEAEETE B
ERMEEBER I BEEN T8%EI%
ZZE-AF N T10%E11%) - BB
TEHzREREER Rm&BER
SEEBUNULRBEEERLRRESE
E%LLZEE@WELM@E17%3% (_ =
—NF 3% )EITIER -
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 2 (&)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2020
and 31 March 2019. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

In the prior year, the Group recognised an impairment loss
of approximately HK$8,721,000 relating to the goodwill
allocated to the Mainland China restaurant, food and
hotel cash-generating unit, being the carrying amount
thereof (before deducting the impairment loss) that it
could not recover. The impairment loss arose mainly due
to increasing intense competitions and other negative
operating factors affecting that cash-generation unit.

The recoverable amount of the Mainland China food
supply business was determined based on fair value less
costs of disposal using company transaction method
under the market approach, which falls within Level 3 of
the fair value measurement hierarchy. Under this method,
fair value was estimated with reference to applicable
transaction price of the underlying entity’s equity
instrument. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there
were no transfers into or out of Level 3 for such fair value
measurement.

A 2 W E R s

HE T TZFE=ZA=Z+—HEK-ZF
—NWE=ZA=Z+—RHAZ LR EELE
2 EREER BERARR - BRER
HIRE RS TR 1T BR BRI Fr ik
Bz EETERIBHMPOT :

HERABREN -REEERE,
FRBAEBREMMAIEEBEIEE
RERFEE TARANFEN—FBE2F
BN BRERN YERERRRE
TR/ RERATSERMAR -

PrIRE — P A 2 IR R B ARFBIAA
KRR ELL B B 2 e AR -

REFE AEEBRRSRiHa+BEARE
B REBEBEREELBNZER
7 2R (B 18 2K 498,721,000/ T BD A&
@A E 2 BREE (R EEEE
A1) < BEBKEELHN B ZIfE
FMEMFEZRSELEMN2A@E
ESTIESE

FRAERMRER 2 JKRESEIRE
FMATEFEGBRRN2THEER
BARSGEREREAFERLDEXNANT
NEBE -TEHLEET REETIREME
AR TAMNEAXSHEBERELGE:
HE_Z-_TF=-A=+—HIEFE"
BB AFEFERFE=RPEALE
4o



17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
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17. R B & A E 2 &

2020 2019

—EEHF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Share of net assets DIHEEFE 825,146 733,595
Due from associates JE U B 5 N /) 2 FRIE 320,801 273,114
Loans to an associate LT —HEBEAFZER 43,437 47,201
1,189,384 1,053,910

Portion classified as current assets D8 AR ENE & 2 39 (272,656) (60,736)
916,728 993,174

The amounts due from associates and loans to an
associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

In the opinion of the directors, except for certain
amounts due from an associate totaling approximately
HK$272,656,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$60,736,000), which are considered as short-term
advances, the remaining amounts due from associates
and the loans to an associate (collectively, the “long-
term interests”) are considered, in substance, part of
the Group’s net investments in the associates, for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future.

There was no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from and the loan to
associates. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

FE B 2 R B FRIA KR T — 1B & A R
ZERREER R RIRBREE-

BEERE BRR_ZE-_TEF=A=+—
HEK-—MBB2AFRKREBEBEHEY
272,656,0005% 7t (20194 : 60,736,000
BIL)WRABREER - HpEEE A
RIRIERMBE R ARRENEREL £
WRAREBEEHERTFHFREN
—#n AR RS REERETEI BT
KATREE K -

JEWEE ARG THERT ZER
BOREEARBHEL -RZT—N
FR-_ZFE-FEF=ZA=+—H EBiER
B E AR
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. B & A & 2 B (s

Particulars of the material associate are as follows: FTEBENFFBOT

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest
Particulars Business incorporation attributable
Name of issued shares held structure and business to the Group Principal activity
EMEIR
E24 BEERTRAHE 32 EEE AEERERERSL EEER
2020 2019
S e
South China International  Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding
Purchasing Exchange
Centre Limited (“SCI")
EREREET ST TER(GELW) A % REER
BRAR ([EEEE])
SCl and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are EEEERREMNBAR (5#E [ =B
mainly engaged in property investment and development B FERTRAREREMELER
in Mainland China. The SCI Group is considered a EREG -EFHBEBREEREALTEE
material associate of the Group which, in the opinion of —HETEBERR ARREERAE"
the directors of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s HUAEE MEREREREE DB
property investment and development operating segment BREMEVER  WHRERE ISk AR
and has been accounted for using the equity method in =EARR

the consolidated financial statements.




17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any

Notes to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements

Year ended 31 March 2020 # % —

17. N2

(Exte

T\f#ﬁ

Nl Z B )

TRINREMBEREEZMHENRE
AR EMERIELAER) K

Ea‘i’%ﬁii%lﬁﬁ
—HILFE

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the B AMBRENREBERE:
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Current assets MENVEE 102,097 267,277
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,969,589 3,186,195
Current liabilities mENEE (764,100) (628,273)
Non-current liabilities EI e Ub=E (1,232,223) (1,578,628)
Net assets BEFE 1,075,363 1,246,571
Less: Non-controlling interests IR (1,542) (2,397)
Net assets attributable to owners of ZEmR B EBEHEAR A
the SCI Group EIEEEFRE 1,073,821 1,244,174
Reconciliation to the Group’s BT AERBEEZAEE
interest in the SCI Group included REMBEREE 2 K
in non-current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AN [ BT A #£ 2t 1 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of rEBRGEEREEE
the SCI Group BERE 536,910 622,087
Unrealised interest expense/(income) REIRF B E (U A ) H 8
eliminated 52 (109)
Due from the associate” JrE U Bt 2 X B SRR 47,957 212,205
Loans to the associate” BTBER 7 Z B 43,437 47,201
Carrying amount of the interest therein* /& & 2 %5 R EE* 628,356 881,384
Profit or loss and other comprehensive 2 BB £ BB A B 2
income attributable to owners of B kEME2mEmUA
the SCI Group:
Revenue WA 60,934 42,321
Profit/(loss) for the year REERF, (EE) (132,782) 516,971
Other comprehensive loss Hih>mEEE (37,571) (89,034)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) AKEE2ERUA (FHE)
for the year k] (170,353) 427,937
8 In the opinion of the directors, these long-term interests " EEZRA ZEREREES LAERSE

are, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the

associate.

ERBE R ZRE -
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

17. R BB NGB 2 (9
TEFIRAEBERNTEA S B S AT

information of the Group’s associates that are not B IS E R
individually material:
2020 2019
—E-BHE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Share of the associates’ losses FARMEEERREE
for the year (5,413) (1,863)
Aggregate carrying amount of the AEERBERA 2R
Group’s interests in the associates 28R E 288,372 111,790
18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED  18. 5 & J # 2 F 1 51 I J it
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER fit, 2 WA P B2 B A A
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME &
2020 2019
—EZEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHET
Equity investments designated EERRATFEIERR
at fair value through other Hth2EKWAFEEZ
comprehensive income EERE
Listed equity investment, at fair value TR E  H A FE 104,225 175,098
Unlisted equity investment, ELMERTE BAFE
at fair value 39,004 37,643
143,229 212,741




18.

19.

Notes to Consolidated F]'nancial Statements

A W B K W
Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z— Tff ﬁ +—HIEFE
EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. 1 & B # A F 15 5 I & i #
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER i 2 WA g B 2 B A AR
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) & (@)
The above equity investments were irrevocably ARASEER A LRI E BBt
designated at fair value through other comprehensive B MASESE AR IEEZER
income as the Group considers these investments to be BRATEINEERREMEEKAFRE
strategic in nature. I8 o
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the fair value loss E_T_TF=—A=1T—HILFE"
in respect of the Group’s equity investments designated $$@%ﬁ’rﬁl%@”ﬂl?\ﬁﬁ R IETE RIR
at fair value through other comprehensive income ATFEINEERNEMEZEBEAREERE 2
recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to R E 2 N EBEL 566,973,000
approximately HK$66,973,000 (2019: HK$70,902,000). 7T (Z T — A4 1 70,002,000 7T) °
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. #% 2~ F 5 5 Bk &R 48 3 R
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS B2 E
2020 2019
—ECEF — N
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Listed equity investments, at fair value TR E  H A F(E 50,472 35,911
Listed debt investments, at fair value LM EBKRE HAFE 98,050 149,547
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELEWRE BATE 37,473 11,639
185,995 197,097

The listed equity and debt investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were fund investment
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

S REFRERERFEREEM
DRABEAFEFABRRZERMEE -

FA3E FRIREHRR|ITHTZEERK
EEM BREGANRERENIFER
Re BB B Uk #5865 R R
AFEINEERERTRENSRE
B o
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

20

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments
were based on the market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period.

At 31 March 2020, the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$72,836,000 (2019: HK$83,564,000) were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 44).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed with banks. The
Group designated the structured deposits as investments
at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2020,
the aggregate fair value of the structured deposits was
approximately HK$241,103,000 (2019: HK$817,000)
and total realised and unrealised fair value gains of
approximately HK$3,155,000 (2019: HK$530,000) were
recognised by the Group during the year.

The fair value was based on the market values provided
by financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

19.

20.

EAFHEMNERNER PR
BZzemEE@w
EHRELTREY ATFEIRE B
iRy i, ATEINBESHFY
TS RE AL

R-E-_TF=RF=+—H KEBEE
B4 472,836,000 70 (=T — NLF:
83,564,000/ 7T ) 2 & A FE 5 R R R
BRbPRECeMEECDEER EAR
REBMERETRITEEZER (K
$¥44) o

& M T 17 K

EBETRNDRATEYEREFER
RITZHETR - AEEBD BEB T
HIEEREATEIERRESZTRE
Z2EREBE-R-ZE-_FEF=A=+—8"
HEREME R 8 T{EA241,103,000
B (ZZF— LF 817,000 7T) KA
REZBERAEHEANFEKSZRELY
3,155,000/ 7t ( == — J1 4 : 530,000
BIL)ERFABRAEERER-

NHEDEEREERRERRER
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21. PROPERTIES UNDER 21. B R ERFEL &Y £

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES

HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BREBY ¥
2020 2019
—ECRF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEx FET

At beginning of year REA) 366,912 366,693
Additions NE 51,576 34,649
Transfer to properties held for sale ~ EEEHIELEYE - (11,307)
Sales during the year FALEME (111,572) -
Exchange realignment M 5 R (20,476) (23,123)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 286,440 366,912
Properties under development TEEIR A THRE T 2

expected to be completed: BEAYME:
Within normal operating cycle BERRBEEZ

included under current assets* B E 4 mE A - 68,392
Beyond normal operating cycle HBHEERIERBDEEZ

included under non-current assets* B & 4% & A Hi* 286,440 298,520

286,440 366,912

Properties under development FEEIR T HELZEPR

expected to be completed within % T K e] el 2 R 2

normal operating cycle and

recovered:
Within one year* —F A - -
More than one year* iBim—F - 68,392

- 68,392

*

senior management.

Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s

REASESHREREFH 2 ERK &

it
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21.

22,

PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s properties under development are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Included in the Group’s properties under development
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$222,274,000 at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$294,679,000).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2019,
properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$10,989,000 were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 44).

During the year ended 31 March 2020, certain properties
held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$55,784,000 were transferred to
investment properties (note 14).

INVENTORIES

21.

BROPDERGHEDLED X
(8)

BRBYE 8

AEE 2 BRPYECNPERERE
o

FAREBRZERPMWEARNR-F
—ZEFZA=Z+—HAEEEY
£222,274,0008 T (Z T — h&F:
294,679,000/ 7T ) 2 T H s FA#E -

FHELEDE
NEEFIELEMEMRAPRAERE
HER—_E-NE=A=+—H0 ®HE
484 %810,989,000/8 L 2 IFHEH S %
EEEE LWERETRITEE (M
44) o

HE_Z_ZTF=-A=+—HILFRK"
AR (B A #)55,784,000/8 T 2 & T #
EHEMXEE BIEEWE (HiE14) -

22, 17 &%

Food, beverages and others B KB R HAL

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx THT
32,927 24,220
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. JEWE 5 K &

2020 2019

—E-EF —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Trade receivables FEWE 5 8RR 78,890 46,868
Impairment VERIE] (26,645) (23,297)

52,245 23,571

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on demand
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given credit terms of 30 to 90
days, except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade receivable balances. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

RER WERENEEERNE  A%E
HERPZEZHRRETEREFHIAR
AREE -BRMEEMS TP —RE
HI0EW0R 2 EEH HEHEPHET
RonfIFRIN  EE—RBFRNR A&
B SKEEH AR EERKE S RFNER
ETBREZ - SAEEEEHL AN
RERRETTERED

—RME  NEEYEREEWE 5
REBRFAEEMERRHERERT &
WE BRAII /TR
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

23. EWE 5 I3 (9)

RBEHR BREZEFRRERZAH
KR EEBE 2RO T

2020 2019

—E-EHF —ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 30 days BNERZ=30H 36,956 15,649
31 to 60 days 31Z260H 7,174 4,038
61 to 90 days 61290H 4,502 1,939
Over 90 days H3B0H 3,613 1,945
52,245 23,571

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

EWEZER 2 BEBRREBZSN

trade receivables are as follows: ™

2020 2019

—2-%F —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

At beginning of year RE ] 23,297 38,446

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE FRE (MIFE6) 4,620 3,161
Amount written off as uncollectible ~ {E& A U [a] 2 i 4 & 58 - (17,397)
Exchange realignment ME W R (1,272) (913)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 26,645 23,297
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EWE 5 K& (9)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting REBNEHE BB FREEMET
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit BEDNT  UFrEREEEHE - BEX
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due TR EEERUEBEXNZETES
for groupings of various customer segments with similar AR R R B HA B 8 E o iR AT E R
loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and RERHAIGHNEBRTENH A1
supportable information that is available at the reporting NRRREBEARRATBANEERATEE
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts o

of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TXEYE@ERREERGTEAER
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a ZEWEZEREERBAER

provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2020 R-E-EF=A=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
& A FE HA
FEERXR RE&E FEER
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FET FET
Credit-impaired receivables 15 BB B 2 fE UL BR 3K 100 19,711 19,711
Other trade receivables HitnfE 8 SR IR
aged: [
Current to 3 months BNER =@ =& A
past due - 48,632 -
Over 3 months past due #8938 = 1@ A 65.7 10,547 6,934

Total et 78,890 26,645
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

23. EWE 5 I3 (9)

As at 31 March 2019 R-E—NAFE=ZA=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
iyt 78 B
FEEEBEEX HEE =EEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FHET
Credit-impaired receivables 15 BB B 2 FE UL BR 3K 100 18,741 18,741
Other trade receivables HAth eI E F R 2 BR
aged: [
Current to 3 months BNERZ= @ H3 = & A
past due - 21,933 -
Over 3 months past due  #1 B/ 38 = 1@ A 73.6 6,194 4,556
Total et 46,868 23,297

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

24. 3 A B BR K - 4% @ R T K

AND PREPAYMENTS TH
2020 2019
—E-BE —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Prepayments FE A 245,457 213,594
Other receivables and deposits HEiREWEER RZS 353,247 781,959
598,704 995,553
Impairment allowance VERIERES (2,731) (35,148)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 595,973 960,405
Portion classified as current assets ~ D EARBEE 2 25 (246,930) (656,336)
Non-current portion EmB 2 E A 349,043 304,069
OTHER RECEIVABLES H i JE Wi Bk 5k
Included in the balance of other receivables and deposits HEMERERRIRe 2 &HBERKE
are amounts due from third parties of approximately =5 5 IE#9165,979,0008 7L (ZE— N,

F:216,626,0008 L) BEERBEAE
TEEW(B%JEA_ZE_EE_H_Jr HE
ETE=ZFERZETHMEKER
& H4)157,519,0008 L (ZF— NF:

HK$165,979,000 (2019: HK$216,626,000), which are
unsecured, except for certain other receivables totalling
approximately HK$157,519,000 as at 31 March 2020
(2019: HK$203,375,000), which are guaranteed by
certain third parties, bear interest at 5% (2019: 2% to 208,375,000 7T ) 1) ~ IR F F E5%
33.33%) per annum and repayable within three (2019: ZE—NF:2%%33.33% )it B &’E\
one) years. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by R=FRN(ZE—NEF: —F)EE-E
management. BETCHYBHEHREITERN-
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

In addition, included in the balance of other receivables
and deposits are outstanding consideration receivables
for the disposal of Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise Co., Ltd.
(“Hunan Carrianna”) of approximately RMB104,858,000
(equivalent to HK$114,473,000) (2019: RMB436,776,000
(equivalent to HK$509,805,000)), which are unsecured
and interest-free of which RMB104,858,000 (equivalent
to HK$114,473,000) (2019: RMB331,913,000 (equivalent
to HK$387,410,000)) was repayable within one year
and was classified as current asset and with the last
installment repayable by September 2020.

Impairment assessment

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed
at each reporting date by considering the probability
of default of counterparty. As at 31 March 2020, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.5% to 7.0%
(2019: ranged from 1.0% to 51.0%) and the loss given
default was estimated to be 60.6% (2019: 51.6%).
Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to, inter alia, credit quality of
debtors or historical loss record of the Group and/or other
reasonable and supportable information available. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.
The loss rate applied as at 31 March 2020 was 0.8%
(2019: 4.8%).

24. A W BR K - 4% @ R T K

TH (4)

H A & e BR SK (g0

o Hh EIRER R R IR & 2 *ﬁ%
RHEEEH (Hm)TEERRQ
(I#mm iﬂ%&ﬂBJ)Zrﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁz
FIBH AR %104,858,0005C (HHE R
114,473,000 7T) (ZFE—IF: AR
#436,776,0007T (48 & 7509,805,000
BL)) BERARBRAEERALKS
B Hh AR#104,858,000 (HHE ©®
114,473,000) (ZE2E—ALF: AR
331,913,000 (48 & #387,410,000/%
JT) ) AR— Eﬁq%ﬁﬁ&%&"*ﬁﬁm&bﬁ
WERH - e — BN _Z_ZTF
AR

I AE F A

REBZBERT BRES T IR GHRE
HEBEBREBRSEFHELHZAIEMNE
HET R-_Z-_TF=ZA=Z+—H B
FEANF0.5%E7.0% (ZF—NF N
T1.0%ZE51.0% ) Z E A Al g1 - lz%
A E & 2 B8 R {EET A60.6% (ZF
—NEF 51.6%) -FEEHEEEBIEB
FERBEERFAETH WRE (4
BRIEBAZEEEEZXNAEERESL
Rk REMAIBZAEAREE
BoBIEEEERARUREEARIK
RALEEA IR (WEA) -R=ZF=
EFZA=Z+—HRAZEEXE08%

—ZE—NF 48%)°
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24, H b FEUCHR 3%~ % 2 &k T AT A

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) TR (&)
OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 3 FE WRR 3K (8
Impairment assessment (Continued) WM ()
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of ﬁ{ﬁ%”&ﬁﬁﬂZ;ﬁ{EEﬁ B EEEN
other receivables are as follows: L
2020 2019
—EB-EHF —ET-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
At beginning of year REH] 35,148 29,778
Impairment/(reversal of impairment), JBEEE, CRERE ) -
net (note 6) F 58 (MIFE6) (29,601) 5,603
Exchange realignment M 3 B (2,816) (233)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,731 35,148

B L XX Rt 2 S ERON - Rigr & BB B
M EmENESE RS

Except for the balances mentioned above, the remaining
financial assets had no recent history of default and past
due amount.

25. DUE FROM DIRECTORS

Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

25. JE W # ¥ K

RABEB R AEHI55383(1)(d) ik &
RE(WEEENDER) RPIEIF 2
RERBZRWESFRRENT

Maximum
Maximum At amount
At amount 31 March 2019 outstanding At
31 March outstanding and during 1 April
2020 |during the year 1 April 2019 the prior year 2018
\ R-Z-ng
RAFE =ZA=+—-H REFER
W=2-2% HAME R-F-hE GAME R-T-N&
=ZA=t-H pa-k mA—A ZEREH mA—A
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TR TiEx FHT TiEx
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRAE 2,297 7,408 7,408 31,697 5,648
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNRELE 2,846 3,433 522 5,687 -
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BIRRILA 841 2,568 2,568 2,568 1,013
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong?* REA K& - - - 65 =
5,984 10,498 6,661
* Mr. Ng Yan Kwong retired as a director of the Group with * REMFEBREAEEERRNL - B

effect from 1 March 2020.

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

—ECRF-A-HAREX-

R EEFAREER RERIREKX

BE-
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Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

26. Jl e RRATH B - ZMNH B2

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED R B € B 7 K
TIME DEPOSITS
2020 2019
—EC-EF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Cash at banks and on hand (note (a)) 3R& MER1T47F (KitE@) 201,522 125,837
Time deposits EHFER 79,236 45,924
280,758 171,761
Less: Pledged time deposits for long & : ARHIRITE R
term bank loans B2 EHTFR (15,014) (35,492)
Pledged time deposits for short REHRITERR
term bank loans and other HMRTEEER
banking facilities EHFER (19,682) (9,920)
Restricted cash (note (b)) ZRRHIRE (MiED)) (167) (90)
Cash and bank balances & KIR1THE 84 245,895 126,259
Notes: B EE

(@ At 31 March 2020, the Group’s cash at banks of
HK$10,362,000 (2019: Nil) was pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 44).

(b)  According to the relevant contracts/agreements, property
development companies of the Group are required to
place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as
deposits for potential default in payment of mortgage loans
advanced to certain property purchasers. Such guarantee
deposits will only be released either after the property
ownership certificates are submitted to the banks as
collateral or when the property purchasers have repaid the
full mortgage loans to the banks.

@ MRZE-_ZTF=-ZA=Z+—H *5H
BE% A10,362,0008 L (2 — A1
FE)ZBTHEGEERR EAR
%;@Fﬁ%&%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁz%{% (P 3E
44) o

b)) REEEELH B AEEZYER
RARAFER—EE&BRIETRITE
FEREZES  RARERRBERZE
TOERBEREHRER - ZRRF2FK
ERERRTESFEEEFREMNZ
MEBRARITNBEZBRBERRE
7T TR -
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26.

27.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated in
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$127,695,000
(2019: HK$65,231,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

26. Jl & RMATH G - ZNH B2

K B E 8 s

RBEEHR XEBUARBE
MRS MRTEBEEHFTARA
#9127,695,0008 T (=& — L& :
65,231,000/%7C) - ARBEIWIERTERK
BMABHEMER R BB B KEL
CONMEE HlE DI K& 45 1E - SIE R EE
BIRPIRE)  AEBBEFBIFTHE
TINEEBIRITHIMARBAEME
ﬁgo

AETRITRSEABRITEFARANERZF
BRI RREUK B - R F AR B Z BN
EHFR BHERFERZBRT— NF
—BHE=ZEAAAF ARIEZEHE
HA 77 SRERER A B - $R1T 45 88 B E B 3K
RN EGEEBAHDREROCENR
T

27. JEfH B 5 Bk &

RIREBRR ENESRAIEEZAH
ZEREONTINT

2020 2019

—E-FF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

Within 30 days BIHEAZ=30H 29,734 30,495
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,217 8,057
61 to 90 days 61290H 8,861 7,367
Over 90 days B E90H 9,175 5,093
51,987 51,012

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally repayable within the normal operating cycle.

ENESERREMNELBEANES
LEBHAEER-
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28. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 28. H ih JiE £ HR 2% ~

DEPOSITS RECEIVED W% 2
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FET FET
Contract liabilities aHAaRE (@) 20,980 17,319
Accruals EEtER (b) 4,310 5,495
Other payables and deposits HiEMNERRERIZRS
received (c) 300,627 375,711
At 31 March W=A=+—H” 325,917 398,525
Portion classified as current DERATBEEZHD
liabilities (317,802) (841,790)
Non-current portion JERE) 2 B 8,115 56,735
Notes: BtsE
(a)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ AFEHBEFBEOT:
2020 2019
—2-2H —E-AEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Consideration/deposits received BREFRE 1&d:
from customers in advance:
Restaurant, food and hotel B Rm&BE 11,694 10,328
Property investment and MERE RER
development 9,286 6,991
Total contract liabilities AHBEBERT 20,980 17,319

Contract liabilities include consideration received from
customers in advance for the Group’s sales of food
products, sales of properties and leasing of properties.
The increase in contract liabilities in the current year was
mainly due to the increase in consideration received from
customers in advance at the end of the year.

BHAERRREEFPREREAEE
ZHERM HEMEURBEYE-
BHABRAFEENDEIEARE
FRZBREFREBMAB
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28. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 28.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED (Continued)

(b)  As a result of the initial application of HKFRS 16, accrued
lease payments of HK$1,549,000 previously included in
“Other payables, accruals and deposits received” were
adjusted to the right-of-use assets recognised at 1 April
2019 (refer to note 2.2 to the financial statements for
further details).

(c)  Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an
average term of three months.

Hih iRk &R KD
W% 2 )

) ARBREREEVHRESERSE
1655 LRIt ATEMEMIRR &
AEREREWERE|MEMNHEERE
1,549,000 TERABEER T —NF
MA—BHRAZEREEE (EFHEE
K BB mENE2.2) o

(© HEAEMERKETFES  FHHRA=
@A -

29. PROVISIONS 29. 15
Provision for
restoration
costs
BERRARBE
2020
—E-EHF
HK$’000
FERT
At beginning of year REH] 4,462
Amount utilised during the year RERNEBAZ SR (570)
Exchange realignment ME W, B (120)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 3,772
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEGB D (960)
Non-current portion EME) 2 BB 2,812

The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their
original state or to a condition, as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate.

ERAAREGEARENBRESER
RIS HEEENEREEFHEE
WMz ZMAREEIRR 2 EER
8 -

ERRARENSEBEERRTES
ARLRBARNEEREL 2 E TR
R AT - RS BR R T
FHRET (NER) -
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. MM ZHITHEE

BORROWINGS
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERFE BEBRRAE
(%) ZHA TAT %) EH#B8 TAET
Current
RE
Bank overdrafts - secured - - - 4.0-5.3  On demand 13,682
RTEZ-BHEA REKE
Bank loans - secured 1.8-5.4  On demand 888,244 1.9-5.7  On demand 753,873
ROTER-BHA RERE RE KB
Current portion of long term bank 2.3-6.9 By 31 March 2021 111,835 1.9-6.9 By March 2020 208,768
loans - secured
RBRTEFZNBHD R-Z=—-% WZZEZTF
-FER =R=t+-H# =R
1,000,079 976,323
Non-current
FERE
Bank loans - secured 2.8-6.9 2021-2023 675,133 2.7-69  2020-2023 308,576
BOIEH-FHE R-ZB--%ZF RZZ-FEE
—E-ZE —EC-=F
1,675,212 1,284,899
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. it B ZsMAT M & (a)
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2020 2019
e —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FH&T
Analysed into: pal il
Bank overdrafts repayable on RIRERFEEZRITEX
demand - 13,682
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFENR
Within one year or on demand —FAREERKFER 1,000,079 962,641
In the second year FE_F 252,182 63,185
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEZFERF
(BEEMFREEAN) 422,951 245,391
1,675,212 1,284,899
Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings RZEZEF=ZA=+—H XK
are borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount of SEMECZRITEETFAEEEAR
approximately HK$77,128,000 as at 31 March 2020 #77,128,0008 T (Z T — L F:
(2019: HK$130,010,000) which are denominated 130,010,000/ 7T) 2 B E A AR ¥ 5
in Renminbi. The remaining interest-bearing bank B HHWE ZRITEEUBTEE.
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings REBETHEZRITEE T A IR
are secured by the pledge of certain assets of the Group SEETEERER E—FHFBHEAR

as further detailed in note 44 to the financial statements. B ISR R BT 544 -




Notes to Consolidated Fi;lancial Statemenfs
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 31. JEff b & M &
The Group leases an item of equipment for its restaurant, AEBREER RERBEEKMA
food and hotel businesses. The lease was classified as a E—BRE - EEBUBEREI6HR
finance lease prior to HKFRS 16 becoming effective on 1 ZE-NEFNA—BEMF ZHER
April 2019 and had a remaining lease term of 2 years. HRmEMS SR TNHEER2F -
At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease R-E-NEFE=A=1+—H REHE
payments under the finance lease and their present values HTZARSERENREELERE
were as follows: (N
Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments payments
BIE ®ERE
HEMK NRZBE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Amounts payable: FEf 2 5RI8
Within one year —FR 18 18
In the second year FF 25 25
Total minimum finance lease payments &K & & 1 & 1~ L4258 43 43
Future finance charges REFEER -
Total net finance lease payables JEN R E T E AL 43
Portion classified as current liabilities (8 A& RBEE I H (18)

Non-current portion EMENE 25
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32. DEFERRED TAX 32. % it B I
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year AFEERELEREBEEE 2 EHUT :

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES I B E A

2020
“BCRE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from  Revaluation
related acquisition of of investment

depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
L
BBEHEAE AREEZ REME
MRERBE ATERE EXR @
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—H 20,752 6,598 215,939 243,289
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the AFEHE R+
statement of profit or loss during the ~ #1% / (5t A) 2
year (note 10) EIERE (MEE10) (157) (491) 12,700 12,052
Exchange realignment B 5 39 % - 245 (2,369) (2,124)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 RZE-ZEF=A=+—H
March 2020 ZIELERIBE ERE 20,595 6,352 226,270 253,217
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. i % i JE (@)

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) % I B VR & it om0
2019
—Z-NE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
Sl G:Ln)
BAEHANME  RARE4Z REMFE
WrERHE  QATESRE B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT THT THET
At 1 April 2018 RZZ—-N\EMA—H 20,641 6,894 221,598 249,133
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the AFEEEEZF MK,/
statement of profit or loss during the (3 A) ZIEIEF I8
year (note 10) (H33%10) 111 (461) (3,506) (3,856)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% - 165 (2,153) (1,988)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 RZE-NE=ZA=+—H
March 2019 ZERBRAREE 20,752 6,598 215,939 243,289
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are

32. E B TE (@)
RAEE R EEESSHNT |

as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i B E B E
2020
“ECEF
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
AR R
i bl
HEEE EHE2ER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFMA—H - 49 49
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AEEBRRPIHAN/
the statement of profit or loss (k) 2 EFERIE
during the year (note 10) (Ki3E10) 723 (34) 689
Exchange realignment EHAE (19) - (19)
Gross deferred tax assets R-ZE-FTF=ZA=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2020 ERERBEERE 704 15 719
2019
—E-NEF

Losses available for
offsetting against
future taxable

profits

A A LA B2 5K 2R

JE =R Tt A

W iH 2 E51E

HK$’000

FHET

At 1 April 2018 R-ZE—/\EMA—H -
Deferred tax credited to the statement of RNEEEERFITALZ

profit or loss during the year (note 10) EIEFLIE (MFEE10) 49

Gross deferred tax assets at
31 March 2019

R-E—NF=ZA=+—
EEFRIBEERLE

HZ
49
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$353,534,000 (2019: HK$297,139,000),
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$106,443,000 (2019: HK$159,058,000), subject to
the agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is currently not considered probable by
management that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2020, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,596,517,000 at
31 March 2020 (2019: HK$1,504,059,000).

32. ik % B E (@)

i AL BLIE & E ()

AEBBEREEBZHEBRY
353,534,000 T (=T — L F:
297,139,000 7T ) " BREEAHE B A
E% AR mMSBEERIR
NEEABBZ BEARZ RRERE
mREE AEETAERERPEKEZ
BB 18 49106,443,0008 T (=&
— L4 : 159,058,000 7T ) (B
MBHKERS®E  FAEE) - mtEA]
FA LA B8 5K 2R 8 SR T s ) 3K 88 2 B 1B Al A&
R—FERFRE B -BREXIERES
INBHRBEEBRIRABTAREELR
M ERTURF RERENBA 2 LE
IEEE BRI EEIBERETH
HEE-

BIE (PEBERERE) - IR EARE
A2 NI B R EMIBEIMNEEE TR
ZHE  ZBHWEUR10%TEINH - BRIETE
BT N\F—A—ABE® TEA
R_EZ+F+_A=+—BHEMES
Z BT o fis B K Bk B AME B & FT B
ALARER 2 BT A BBIEL - Bl RE
EEAREHH AEB2EALEA
5% 10% - At - REBEARZFRF
BREKRL 2B AR ST NFE—
A—BRELZAMNMDIRZFZEHR
TEH -

RZBEZZTF=A=+—0 &xEEL
KRB REER Y B BB BN 2
MBARZAEHANEMN 2B
BRELEH B -EERE ZEWBEQ
ARARRRDIRZERF 2 ET
A R-_TE-_TF=F=+—R1 @Y
PREAECZHBARIZIRER B B
M 48 = 58 A H 491,596,517,000/% JT i&)
RERRELEHBEEE(ZT—NF:
1,504,059,0005 7T ) °
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

32.

I B (a)

L BT B E (a0
AN 2 B A AR SRR A A% 8 36 4 2 A P 1S
BikR-

33. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 3. firEemITH
INSTRUMENT
Asset
BE

2020 2019

—EC-ZHF —E-hNF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Interest rate swap I &= 35 HA - 41
Portion classified as non-current DI RIERNE 2 H o - (41)
Current portion BNERER > - _

During the prior year, the Group used an interest rate
swap to minimise its exposure to movements in interest
rate in relation to one of its floating rate term loans with
a nominal amount of approximately HK$25,000,000.
The interest rate swap was not designated for hedge
purposes and was measured at fair value through profit or
loss. A fair value gain on the derivative financial instrument
of HK$3,000 was credited to the statement of profit or
loss during the prior year.

34. DEFERRED INCOME

The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies
received from a government authority in respect of
a property development project in Mainland China.
Deferred income of approximately HK$35,759,000 (2019:
HK$165,000) was released to the statement of profit or
loss during the year ended 31 March 2020.

34.

FERA AEBFERBRESEN
25,000,000/ 7T 2 F1) 2 $=2 HA DA K F1) 28
BREE —HERZEER T E T
Kig W EmIE TR AR RIZATFE
RESPREEFNGE-TEERIA
23,0008 T AFERZEN EFEREFTA
BmK-

i A

7N E2 B /9 3 SE MR R SR IR BT 6 P
R—EFBEAEDEZRREFE 2R
P-BEZFT_TF=A=1+—HBILHF
& IRIEWR A #535,759,0008 7T ( —F
—LEF 165,000 L) EBABZ R -
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. Mk &
SHARES 1 12
2020 2019
—2-2F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
Issued and fully paid: BET AR
1,257,087,536 (2019: 1,257,087,536) & & E1E0.107/8 T2
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 38 A% 1,257,087, 536 0%
—E-hE:
1,257,087,536/% ) 125,709 125,709
A summary of movements in the Company's share capital RRARZBRAEBHEMNT -
is as follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
BRT
ROBE ERTRE  ROEER st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i TET TET TR
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\F
mA—A 1,255,087,536 125,509 1,395,421 1,520,930
Share options exercised [REREE L (a) 2,000,000 200 1,938 2,138
At 31 March 2019, RZE-hE
1 April 2019 and ZA=+—-8"
31 March 2020 —T-nE
mA—AK
e 3
=HA=+—-H 1,257,087,536 125,709 1,397,359 1,523,068
Note: BEE
(@  During the prior year, the subscription rights attached to (@) B L4 - BE M 502,000,00097 8 AR

BZREEECRNEFYOREBEES
[%0.8107% jt F LAfT & (Ff7%36) - &
2 % 172,000,000/% & I @ E0.1075
TTZBINERER RENEBERENA
1,620,000 70 - RTTE B IER - £58
49518,000/8 7L B R L & /X F B AR 7 &
HEBEERMEER-

2,000,000 share options were exercised at the weighted
average subscription price of HK$0.810 per share (note
36), resulting in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration of
approximately HK$1,620,000. An amount of approximately
HK$518,000 was transferred from the share option reserve
to share premium account upon the exercise of the share
options during the prior year.
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 36. % M HE 5F 3

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“2015 Option Scheme”) during the year for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the 2015 Option Scheme include
the Company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group and
consultants of any member of the Group. The 2015
Option Scheme became effective on 24 August 2015
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

FR-ARRIRE -BERESS (=
T-HEBREE])  REAEEE
B2 IWEHERI & BB HEERM
BRI ZiECAERSEER
BRARREE (BEBLIFERITES) -
AEBEMBE T RASEEEMKE QA
ZEE - T -—RAFEREFTIHERZ
T-—RAFNA-TMNARBRES Kk
FERITHEIET HEZARTFR
FEB R

RIE—_T A FRREE AR
ZIRARITEBRE ERERNEITEE
ARBREMEBD BHITRODERZ
10% (R — FE L 2 BIREBGE I
[REE AR ERERAERRAS LHE
MAMZEEREBBABARERR

RTEEBERELTRERSAQRE
VIFRITESHE - WMREETEFHR
FEMBEAZERESEBBARF
PMEAT B R 2 #TTAAD 0.1 % RN E(T 12
18 A EIfE - B E (IR T BB ARA]
Z BB ) 8 85,000,000/% 7T - Bl &% H "
FEABBRRPBER KRS L - AR
AREBBEABANARE EHERE-

BRENR L E RE28RARIRE
BRMBRERSNRERIBT K THE
BENTENHESETE -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (jiij the nominal value of a
share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the

B 1% HE 5 A ()

BREZITEEIRERTEE MRS
LPRBUATEREZ&ESE (AR BBRND
REZAH (ZALAREER)NER
BAaRZAERAR ([BFr]) & AR
BRI ZWHE: (RN REERE
BRI A EZEXARBIMERRESR
POz F YT E K (iR £ i fE

BREY &R THRA AN ERRE %K
RERAEERE-

ERFERN —T—0FBRETET

2015 Option Scheme during the year: MARITE 2 BIRERNT
2020 2019
g 33 —Z-NE

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

mEFY TS

TkE BREHA 18E BREZE

HK$ HK$

per share per share

ghRERT BRET
At beginning of year REA 0.810 14,200,000 0.810 20,100,000
Granted during the year REREH 0.714 14,600,000 = =
Exercised during the year RERTTE - - 0.810 (2,000,000)
Forfeited during the year RERZIK - - 0.810 (3,900,000)
At 31 March R=ZRA=+—H 0.761 28,800,000 0.810 14,200,000

No (2019: 2,000,000) share options were exercised
during the year. The weighted average share price at the
date of exercise for the share options exercised in the
prior year was HK$1.180 per share.

FERIE(=—F— A F : 2,000,000)
EAEETE - EFR BITE 2 ER

ERITEBEBRZ NEFEHRGOERAES
f%1.1807% JT °
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. BB BB om0
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share R EBREARITE 2 BRIEZITEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATEERRI T

are as follows:

2020 —E-EF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE THEBH
HKS$ per share
BRET
5,200,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020

—E—RF+A+AHZE
—ZT-TF+A+EA

3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
T—-RFN\A—H=ZE
:g—gitﬂ_+ H

3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021

—E—+EN\A-BE
—E-—F+A=+—H

3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31 -7-2022
—7::$tﬁ + =
4,300,000 0.714 20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025
—E-EF-_/A-_+HE
Sl S S S I pVAN =
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025

—E-FFXA=ZBZE
—E-RFXNACH

4,300,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
T —FZA=Z+HZE
—EZRFZA+AIAB
2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026

—E_—FXHA=HZE
—EZRFARAZH
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
ZQZ:E/\H HZE
—E-+FRACH

28,800,000
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. % S E om0
2019 —T-hEF

Year ended 31 March 2020 # % —

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period

BiREE e TEE* TR
HK$ per share
BB T
5,200,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020

—E-RAFET+A+RBEZE
—E-FF+A+HAB
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
—E—-RENA—H=Z
—EEF+A=+—H
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021
—E—+FNA—B=ZE
T —FtA=+—H
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022
“T-NEFENA—BZ
—E-—Ft+A=+—H

14,200,000

* BEAETEERARBUMRATAETT
:ézli REEA 2 E AR B

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

AEERH2EREZATEAR
1,652,000/ 7T (50118 L) - A&
ERFERAFERAFRE ZBREA
TR 2 AR ¥ X 1 48 58 A733,000% 7T
—ZT— % :335,000/87T) °

The fair value of the share options granted during the
year was HK$1,652,000 (HK$0.11 each). The Group
recognised total share option expense of HK$733,000
(2019: HK$335,000) during the year in respect of share
options granted during the current and previous years.

RAFRBZ BREGEE 2 BRE L 2
EAE N A2 ZAAERN R MR B
Pt 2 AR R AR R AE S5 T RS
FRE AR 2 B ABR

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant
using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

2020

—TTF

Dividend yield (%) A% 22 (%) 4.30
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA K 1@ (%) 25.00 - 29.00
Historical volatility (%) ﬁi&%() 25.00 - 29.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) B ) 2= (%) 1.27 - 1.31
Expected life of options (year) ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁg 2 TBERBE A (F) 5.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) MmEFHRE (8RBT 0.714
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 36. M 1 #E EF E a0

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

No share options were exercised during the year ended
31 March 2020. 2,000,000 share options were exercised
in the prior year, resulted in the issue of 2,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital
of HK$200,000 and share premium of approximately
HK$1,938,000 (with a transfer of HK$518,000 from the
share option reserve) as further detailed in note 35 to the
financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
28,800,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 28,800,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$2,880,000 and additional share
premium of approximately HK$19,046,000 (before issue
expenses and excluding the transfer of relevant amount
from the share option reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 28,800,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 2.29% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

BREZAGERHERBBE=F2
St BB R TER AT BE IR A9 TT AR
= o TR AR 18 S R FF SE R AT TR R R 2R
BEZRE - Mgt —ERERER -

FEETE R FERARB AR B E
ZE AR

BE-_Z-_ZF=RA=+—HILEE
A A S AR R JE 1T {8 0 2,000,00017 8
BEEREFENEITFE BRET
2,000,000% A8 1 & & 8 I & ¥ R AR
200,0007% 7t & % 17 4 8 491,938,000
7 7T (G (A 148 W AR B 1% 1 83 #88518,000
L) (BTSRRI AE35RT i — P FF
i) o

NBEER BB - AFBERE
2 K 2 7] 5 28,800,00017 B A% 4 15 &
T8 o IRBA R RIRITIRALEE - 2ET
1 A AR TTEE 2 BB AR G B B A BB oh
#%1728,800,0000% & 38 A% & BE SN 1T
A% 752,880,000/ Tt A R BBAMNI 19 2 B 4
19,046,000/ 7T (¥1BR /TR Z AT BT
PREEEREREER ZABASHE) -

RELELRETHRRER BE=
T-HFEREFTE XRFH
28,800,00017 i AR #E M) AR 77 {5+ W &
FOTFERMEARREREBITRMNL
2.29% o
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 87
and 88 of the annual report.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. The transfers to these reserves
are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the certain subsidiaries of the Group that have
material non-controlling interests are set out below:

37.

38.

fit s
AEEHEAFERBAFEZRBER
HMEEZSHE 2R AFIRESTES
B HEEER-

AEEZ FHEE RSB B ALEERK
2B AT RED IR ZIETE [t o Mt
BRAZESERRETEBEEREN
ERBEZEHE WERBEZAR
SR - RIS R 2R 2 5 1R Y 5H s A AR
INE B R R Z B o

AfEAEERERZES
& W )& 2

AEEETHEQRRGERIFZRE
mZ BT

2020 2019
—B-%F | ZEFF
Percentage of equity interest held by — FE4% A% # 25 Fr 435 i i 2
non-controlling interests =i
— Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited — BB AR BR AT R
and its subsidiaries (“Sleek HEWB A A
Treasure Group”) (MNeE£R]) 40% 40%
Loss for the year allocated to non- Bt & IEIERR RS 2
controlling interests RFEEEBE
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & (13,638) (4,685)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT IR S 2 IR B
interests
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & 420 660
Accumulated balance of non- s BH 2 IEERER 2
controlling interests at the reporting &5t 4%
date
— Sleek Treasure Group —BE & (4,739) 8,605
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 38. B & k&R D 2 k%

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING &I B2 E @)

INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTIEESRE 276 AR
consolidated financial information of the Sleek Treasure B-IFE AT ARIKERZ
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- S

company eliminations:

Sleek Treasure Group

IEE£E
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Revenue WA 329,937 334,194
Loss for the year AFEEEE (32,141) (12,089)
Total comprehensive loss AEFEEHEEEBTE
for the year (32,141) (12,089)
Current assets REEE 46,028 45141
Non-current assets, IERBEE BRIEEHE
including goodwiill 153,525 76,726
Current liabilities mENEE (178,577) (98,847)
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (30,263) (2,684)
Net cash flows from KEEBMEREREFEE
operating activities 75,914 21,538
Net cash flows used in LEEHTA
investing activities REMEFHE (49,873) (17,400)
Net cash flows used in & EEFTF
financing activities REeEREFHE (31,550) (7,662)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReMRESEEHR
equivalents B F R (5,509) (3,524)
E The above summarised consolidated financial information * UERAUMBERBMEE RMUKESZE Y
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting, CHYE PEBERATFERE-

including goodwill and fair value adjustments.
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39. ¥% & B
e B R

LUCKY WISDOM ACQUISITION

On 21 February 2020, the Group acquired 100% interests
in Lucky Wisdom Development Limited (“Lucky Wisdom”)
from Liu Long Fen.

Lucky Wisdom operates a poultry farm in Huizhou,
Guangdong province, Mainland China through its 80%
owned subsidiary. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash paid at the acquisition
date.

CHAO MEI LI ACQUISITION

On 31 October 2018, the Group acquired 40% and 20%
interests in ZEIITHEEEREEBR AT (Shenzhen
Chao Mei Li Dining Management Company Limited)
(“Chao Mei Li") from Lin Fu Ran and Zheng Chong
respectively.

Chao Mei Li operates three “Chao Mei Li"(#i1§ &)
branded Chao Zhou cuisine restaurants in Shenzhen,
Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash paid at the acquisition
date.

The provisional fair values (2019: fair values) of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of respective acquirees as
at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RZZE-ZEF-_A-+—H8 AEERA
RSB ERESERAERAR ([BE])
Z100%7E 25

BB B A 80% 2 I B 2 T3k B R
FE BN A — RS - S A
2 B R (B AT 6 T 20 e B B B
fit o

e i ] A
R-ZE—-NE+A=+—HB x&E=EH
BlEMEA R EERE R T BEREE
REBERAR (EEE]) 240% K
20% 1 75 ©

A B B AR YR 2 = [ 048
B miE 2 NER  WEER B
REUNRSHARUKE BT

BWKE T 2 HREERBBERIE
BHEEAFE(ZZ—HF: AF
BE)T:

2020 2019
—E-FHF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Property, plant and equipment M S MR (MEE13)

(note 13) \ 5,742 5,120
Right-of-use assets (note 15) FREEE (M3E15) 1,098 -
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHE 503 16
Inventories BE 1,474 115
Trade receivables, other receivables, [EWE S8R EibEUERR -

deposits and prepayments BwE MIENFA 2,509 727
Other payables and accruals HiENRRRETER (11,501) (134)
Total identifiable net assets at BEERFE (2019 1 RF(E)

provisional fair value (2019: fair value) #H= 2 Al &5l & E ) FE L5 (175) 5,844
Non-controlling interests eI = (69) (2,334)

(244) 3,510
Provisional goodwill on acquisition WHEEEEE (E16)

(note 16) 26,244 -

Satisfied by cash AR & &R 26,000 3,510
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39. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 39. ¥% A b )

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Lucky Wisdom
during the current year was determined on a provisional
basis as the Group is still in the process of completing a
valuation to assess the fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

The provisional fair values recognised on acquisition as
shown above may be adjusted upon the completion of
the initial accounting for the business combination during
the measurement period, which shall not exceed one year
from the acquisition date.

In the opinion of the directors, the acquisition of Lucky
Wisdom enables the Group to expand into the upstream
part of the supply chain for its restaurant operations. The
goodwill arising from the acquisition mainly pertains, but
is not limited, to the expected synergies arising from the
acquisition. None of the goodwill recognised is expected
to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The provisional fair values of the trade receivables, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments of Lucky Wisdom
at the date of acquisition approximate to their gross
contractual amounts and the directors of the Company
do not expect any significant acquired receivables to be
uncollectible.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of subsidiaries is as follows:

P A 5 B 4D 4 it AT A P W B R A8 B
ENAERABHN R EETHE"
HWAFEWBREMELNEENEGE

R W B R RERR BV E TE A T (E A B8
REEHAN (B RERBMETEE—F)
EB AR E TR A

SRR WEREIEAKREERE
EMEBHERN LRy  WBES
BT 2 RENRNKEBELNR
BRI - R T WEERM AR E
BRIV EH 2 B -

EER BB R S ER K i
RIKER - R e RENKENE R AT
EEEANGLTEE RAAAES
Bl A A E AR KRR
R U ] -

FRABENBARIZRERES TN
T

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash consideration HeRE (26,000) (3,510)
Cash and bank balances acquired AU & 2 IR & K ER1T 458 503 16
Net outflow of cash and cash FAREESREREL
equivalents included in cash flows RekBHeFEEBERA M
from investing activities FEE (25,497) (3,494)

Since the acquisition, Lucky Wisdom contributed
approximately HK$1,196,000 to the Group’s revenue and
approximately HK$342,000 to the Group’s consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would have been
approximately HK$1,039,892,000 and approximately
HK$17,717,000, respectively.

AREETER BEAAEEZRAR
BA#91,196,0008 TR FEASEEHEZ_F
ZEF=A=1t—BHILEEZEAEHN
B R B #9342,00078 7T ©

WEZAEHREYB#ET AEE2—F =
EFZA=ZT—HILEFEAEERRKAR
REE 2w F# 5 Bl A491,039,892,000
7B 7T & #917,717,0007 JT ©
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40. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  40. BUi5 sk i B A 5 ki & —

AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY fi] Fit )& 2w
2020
Deregistration of subsidiaries BXH =X it B B A 7] —E-EF
HK$’000
FExT
Net assets of subsidiaries deregistered: BUHMMB AR 2 EEFE:
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments  JEWE S8R 24 M IER FIE 1,115
1,115
Non-controlling interests eI (196)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries (note 6)  BUH M B A 7 2 &8
(MtzE6) 919
During the year, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement FR BREAEESRE T BT IMRE
entered into between the Group and Huang Shin En, the HEER G ANEENER(EG76,00078 7T
Group completed the disposal of its entire 80% equity RZE-NFLtA=+T—"HTHKHEH
interest in Cheerful Goal Limited on 31 July 2019 for an Rit=mB R AR 22 ER80% A #
aggregate consideration of HK$676,000.
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHNEA R HK$’000
FET
Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 13) Y B KR (EE13) 443
Right-of-use asset (note 15(b)) FREEE (M7E150)) 1,108
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments  EUE SR - % & MBI FIA 427
Inventories FE 42
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTH % 391
Trade payables ERNE SRR (130)
Other payables, accruals and deposits HMERR BT &R
received KB WiZE (886)
Lease liabilities (note 15(c)) HE&ME (MHF150)) (1,078)
317
Non-controlling interests eI S (63)
254
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 6) HE—EW B AR (K15E6) 422
676
Satisfied by: AR :

Cash B 676
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40. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES ~ 40. Ui & ft W B A &) Kk i & —
AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY ) It B~ &) (%)
(Continued)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents FRLENBRARIZE S NESESEE
during the year in respect of the disposal of subsidiary is BERAFEINAT
as follows:
HK$’000
FERT
Cash consideration received BWIRESRE 676
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHER e MRITEH (391)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ZFERALEMRBRARZEE R
during that year in respect of ReFEBEARAFRE
the disposal of subsidiary 285

41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@)

During the year, the Group had non-

41. Za Bl ein B & WA

(@)

cash additions to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$36,325,000 and
HK$35,957,000, respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for leased properties

(2019: Nil).

During the year, the Group had non-cash lease

modifications to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$5,837,000 and HK$5,837,000,
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements

for restaurants (2019: Nil).

During the year, the Group reclassified

amounts due from an associate of
HK$211,919,000 from the non-current
to current as the directors consider these

balances as short term advances.

A TEEA&%XSH

FR - REEVENEAESL
EmE AEEFEREEE
MEEBEBENIERSEMN
7 B A36,325,00058 T &
35,957,000 T (=T — N,
FfE) o

FRNAEEREENEE
ZHED R EREEEMMA
EaBENTHEcHERAE
&3] 9 Bl /5,837,000 7T
#015,837,0007% 7T (20194F :
/) o

FW - ANEB SR — g
A A FIE211,919,0005 7Tt
ERBEFAEARE  REAE
REERAUSEHREESR
#3Ke
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41. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 11. AR & & KMk
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING B) MEFHELZARES
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest-
Balances bearing bank
with non- borrowings
controlling (excluding
shareholders, bank Lease
net overdrafts) liabilities
GHERTEE
FERRR (FEERT
®E 2E EX) HEaE
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx TEn TEn
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\EWA—A 27,844 1,142,239 -
Changes from financing cash flows BEEB REREL (5,864) 129,997 =
Exchange realignment 5 AR 205 (1,019) -
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-A 22,185 1,271,217 -
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 RAERNBENE 6 T E - - 162,093
At 1 April 2019 restated) R-Z-nEMA-A (BEF) 22,185 1271217 162,093
Changes from financing cash flows REEH RETEN 6,011 411,191 (72,292)"
Decrease arising from R E—RRBARS
disposal of a subsidiary 2D 480) - (1,078)
Non-cash items FHEEH
New leases yHE - - 35,957
Remeasurement BHAE - - 5,837
Interest expense MERZ - - 6,795
Exchange realignment ERAR 171 (7,196) (2,572)
Termination of leases BERX - - (8,369)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ_ZF=A=1-H 27,887 1,675,212 126,371
* Includes principal portion paid of HK$65,497,000 * BE ¢ 581965,497,00078 T *

and interest paid of HK$6,795,000. & B~ F 86,795,000 7T
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. S A A K

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

RB|ERKR RIAMBHEER 2LARE
[CRUNNE

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Guarantees given for mortgage RUMEEREEZ
loan facilities granted to property RIBERBEMED
purchasers B FE IR 3,619 6,144

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of their property units and provided
guarantees to secure the obligations of these purchasers
for repayments. The guarantees terminate upon either
(i) the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which will generally be available within one year upon the
completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction
of mortgaged loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The guarantee
period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
The directors of the Company consider that the fair value
of the guarantees is not significant and in the case of
default on payment, the net realisable value of the related
properties will exceed the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision has been made for
the guarantees in the financial statements.

AEEERETERZMEEM LR
TRE YRHEERUERZSZERRE
TERET - ARERNOFHLERRE
(—RRERBLTKE—FAN)EHL
% HMEEREMRBERRK L -

RIBERGK  MZFERIERIZIBN
R RAAEEEREEERNREEZR
BAL BRERENRT 2 EMES
MEBREF MRTEEXETRADE
REMBRENERE FERAERE
RIBAHERG - ARRIEERR  BR
ZRFEITEKR HHRERMARIE
o BBYERZERFE/ERER
BERBASERENERIRZE
e E BB RN B T R AL R (E
N
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #ZE—Z— Tff =+—HILFE
43. COMMITMENTS 43. &1
(A) THE GROUP HAD THE FOLLOWING A RMEHEA AEBEEUT
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AT THE B AR
END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD:
2020 2019
—E-EHF —E—-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHx FHIT
Contracted, but not provided for: & &1 % i A 8 4 -
Property, plant and equipment  #1% R E & & & 25,797 39,161
Investment properties REYE 51,439 108,866
Properties under development 2R FR ¥ % 13,911 1,744
91,147 149,771
(B) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS B) R-F-LEF=A=+—H

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

The Group leased certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
were negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 15
years and, except as detailed below, rentals were
normally fixed in accordance with the respective
tenancy agreements.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

Bﬁ&é%ﬁh%i‘#

AEBERKEHENLZHERETY
X -REME 2R HEBELOFHRN
F-—E+RF BKRTEMAI RHE
TRFRESHEBIEE -

RZFB-NAEF=ZA=+—H ' &&
IJFETJ““TTTESZ%%«%fﬂf\’JEATEIJHﬂ

BRI 2 KRR EFR L FRIB LTI
—|T:

2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
TR

Within one year —FR

78,194

In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF (BEEEMTF) 91,879

After five years AF&

14,947

185,020
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43. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(B) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 (Continued)

The operating leases of certain properties also
called for additional rentals, which would be based
on a certain percentage of turnover/revenue of the
operations being undertaken therein pursuant to the
terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective
tenancy agreements. As the future turnover/
revenue of these operations could not be accurately
determined as at the end of the reporting period,
the relevant contingent rental has not been included
above.

44. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, bank balances, time deposits, and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$1,811,441,000 (2019:
HK$1,943,288,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect
of certain investment properties of the Group has been
assigned to certain banks to secure certain loan facilities
granted to the Group.

43.

44.

K AE (i

()f_i h$3H3+—H
Y 8 2 MR 4 (80)

1098 1 o 2T PR R R Mt -
THEMEEROLGIRERRE A
EEEBNEEE WROETESL
W EREESMAS R IR E
28RBS R R REE
AR ARBRAES -

& 7 A

RREHR ASERXELEEED
1,811,441,0008 . (=T — L F:
1,943,288,000/ 70) 2 & TY % - W&
B REWME - RITES THER
IRZEATFEIERNEBEPEELS
BEECIEER (EALXEBMERS
TFRT- BIMEREMEE ZER-
N AEERERE TIREMELE
ﬁuﬁz s TETIRIT ERAEBMER
ETERBREZER
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. FREANLTR S
(@ In addition to the transactions, arrangements @@ KRETHRZETERREMESLD
and balances detailed elsewhere in these AR S LTHEREHRIN KEE
financial statements, the Group had the following HEFAEALRFEFRETTIR
transactions with related parties during the year: VR

2020 2019

—EF-FF —E-NEF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 FET FET

Rentals paid to related ~ NHEE4HABEE QT

companies (i) 885 1,124
Sales of goods to related M1 A& A R]HE & m
companies (ii) 3,704 3,047
()  The rentals paid to related companies were () BEEFAEBEZBERZINTT
made based on mutually agreed terms. The MENR S -BELRFTY
related companies are controlled by a director HAKE -FRMNBLRZ—
of a subsidiary of the Group. BEEE -
(i)  The selling price was determined based on (i) BEEFREZGRETE
mutually agreed terms. The related companies B -BEARIHAEE—H
are controlled by a director of a subsidiary of MEBARIZ —BEEE -

the Group.
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45. FREAL XS (8)

(Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: () BEBBEEATZREELEH:
()  The amounts due to directors are unsecured, () ENESFEAEER BB
interest-free and repayable on demand. NIRESKEE-
(i)  The amounts due from/to non-controlling (i)  FEUL MBS IETE AR AR 3R SR IE
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and REER RERZERE
repayable on demand. o
(i) Details of the amounts due from associates (i) PO ¥R & HA R ME Y Bk & A Bl K
and loans to an associate as at the end of the BHEGTHBERRZE
reporting period are included in note 17 to the REBERNY B REN T
financial statements. 17 »
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the ) AEEXZEBRABZHHN:
Group:
2020 2019
—ERF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Short term employee benefits 2 Hi{E & 1& 7 15,622 19,376
Post-employment benefits RRAE A 234 267
Equity-settled share option AR EE R ERERS
expense 518 123
Total compensation paid to key EXFEEEEAB
management personnel 2 4B SR B 16,374 19,766
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EEZME - BENIM R

in note 8 to the financial statements. KHTEES ©




CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
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Year ended 31 March 2020 #Z=-FE=-FF=H=+—HIFE
46. HEHE Nz 2 TR

TR RBENSBITANBERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period B BRE &
are as follows:
2020 —ECEF
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at fair value . .
through profit or loss Financial
BOVEIER assets al
REMTRENSHEE fair value
through other
Designated Financial comprehensive
assuch  Mandatorily assets at income
upon initial designated amortised - Equity
recognition as such cost investments Total
BATEIE
RREMZE
RER BWAREZ
BRAR DS A A S SREE
RIEE KEEE ENSREE -BHERE @t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRRT TRT TRRT TRRT TRRT
Due from associates ARG 2 HE - - 320,801 - 320,801
Loans to an associate BT -HBERFAZER - - 43,437 - 43,437
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15 A& A FEFIB R
other comprehensive income REMZEKAREEZ
EniRE - - - 143,229 143,229
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss & A FE % ki B2
RENGREE 37,473 148,522 - - 185,995
Trade receivables W E 5% - - 52,245 - 52,245
Financial assets included in other receivables, SARMEKES BER
deposits and prepayment BRFBEZEREE - - 348,243 - 348,243
Due from directors EREEHE - - 5,984 - 5,984
Due from non-controling shareholders USRI R 0B - - 6 - 6
Structured deposits HENEER 241,103 - - - 241,103
Restricted cash XBRHRE - - 167 - 167
Pledged time deposits BEATHER - - 34,696 - 34,696
Cash and bank balances ReRBITES - - 245,895 - 245,895
278,576 148,522 1,051,474 143,229 1,621,801
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. MBI 2 28 TR ()
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BEMNSRTANRESER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2020 —E-BE
Financial liabilities tHAR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
RAFHER
cHMEE
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables ERTE SRR 51,987
Financial liabilities included in other payables, SFAEMEMIR  EEERA M
accruals and deposits received Biresrema®E 261,082
Due to directors JETEFEFIE 654
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE A FEHE R AR 3R 3R IE 27,893
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE 1,675,212
Lease liabilities HEAE 126,371
2,143,199
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. ZHEEM N 22/ T H @)

CATEGORY (Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

TR RBENSBITANBERR
MBREE - (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2019
Financial assets

—E-hF
EMEE

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss AT
BATESIER aseet et
RNERPRBNS AR farvalue
through other
Designated Financial comprehensive
assuch  Mandatorily assets at income
upon initial designated amortised - Equity
recognition as such cost  investments Total
BRRTETIR
RREMZE
RER NEERA  WAREZ
R B SREE
RILIEE  REEER PREE RukA ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TR TR TR
Due from associates M & N B 2 B - - 273,114 - 273,114
Loans to an associate BT -RBEARZER - - 47,201 - 47,201
Equity investments designated at far value 16 E B 2 FEIE K
through other comprehensive income REMZEARATEE
JREERE S - - 212,741 212,741
Financial assets at fair value through BRTEIIRRAERS
profit or loss RENSHEE 11,639 185,458 - - 197,097
Trade receivables B E ZERR - - 23,571 - 23,571
Financial assets included in other receivables, &t A\ E KRR &4 &
deposits and prepayment BRFEZEREE - = 737,602 = 737,602
Derivative financial instrument PTESRIA - 41 - - 41
Due from directors R EEHE - - 10,498 - 10,498
Due from non-controling shareholders FEM IR AR AR 3R 08 - - 206 - 206
Structured deposits REMEER 817 = = = 817
Restricted cash ZREFS - - 0 - 20
Pledged time deposits EEATHEER - = 45,412 = 45,412
Cash and bank balances Re RRITHR - - 126,259 - 126,259
12,456 185,499 1,263,953 212,741 1,674,649
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 46. MBI 2 28 TR ()
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BEMNSRTANRESER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2019 —E—hEF
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LA 55
PR AEHE R
TRAE
HK$’000
FHET
Trade payables FERTE SRR 51,012
Financial liabilities included in other payables, STAEMEMIR  EEERA K&
accruals and deposits received Blkeremas 160,429
Due to directors JETE I8 485
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE < FE 12 IR AR 3R 5K I8 22,391
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EZRITEE 1,284,899
Finance lease payables ENRmEHREE 43

1,619,259
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the carrying amounts
of financial assets included in trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, loans to an associate, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from directors,
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders, restricted
cash, pledged time deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, accruals and deposits received, amounts due
to directors, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders,
interest-bearing bank borrowings, lease liabilities and
finance lease payables reasonably approximate to their
fair values largely due to the short term maturities/no
fixed terms of repayment of these instruments or because
the effect of discounting not reflected in the carrying
amounts of these instruments are not material. The fair
values of the non-current portion of financial assets
included in other receivables, deposits, interest-bearing
bank borrowings and lease liabilities have been calculated
and assessed mainly by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities,
as appropriate. The changes in fair value as a result of
the Group’s own non-performance risk for finance lease
payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease
liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 were
assessed to be insignificant.

47. e T RZAFH R A FH

J& %

AEBEREEREBTERIANTE
‘ﬁ%ZEﬁZ%&EF‘ REREEH - B8
IMERMTAZEEEHIYEEHE
TERCEIERABE-HEREEE
ESSE

ERMITANAFERZTIARENRS
hESERETRS GERblgEER
B ARBHEREAR

%IEEEEWEH)\%%FEW%%K Hity
EWER IR ZeMEE KT —F'Eﬁ
Bt N EIME R - EUEE A RIAIEK

JE W S 5RIR - R UE Hxﬂx%#f\lﬁ

XBRHEE SERTHER RHe MR
THHZEER BNEZER TAH
MR Bt ERREWZREZS
BMBE BNESIA  EAEERRE
FIE MEZRITEE HEBE UK
ERMAERE FZAINMARE

& T B0 8 B 77 48 SRR 30 I B a4
ETHAZEREERRZ FTRZER/MT
RE MATERFEEZEEAESIER
Aot AMGHEEM BRI 122 - Kt
BZHRITEERBEAG IR S
TREECATEIZEACAARE
PEF - EERR RS TEHA (W#E
A2 TRAERAFZAMEFIRBEER
RKEEREFERTH - RZZEZTF
ZA=+t—BRZZE-NF=ZA=1+—
B REBEBENBRERE M S 2RIT
EERBEEEBEZ RS TREAORRLT
HAILTERK -
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and structured deposits that are stated at fair
value are based on market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions.

The fair values of unlisted investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been
estimated using the asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation approaches require the
directors to analyse the value of the underlying assets
which is then discounted for considerations such as
marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2020 and

47.

SMTRZAFHEEAFHE
J& & (m)

DEREERAFEIREANEMEE
WARRE EHEmREFRENRD
FEMRATEIREN BT EREN
EREENRTFERMSREFE -D
BRBEAFEIRENBETREENS
BEEMNFLTRERRAFEZIN
RBETERN AT ERESBEEARER
HTHE R TEFE-

BERAFEIEREREMEEBAT
BRI 23 EM IR BN A FEEREAE
EMEINRLIRTFORREREE
EREMGE - ZEETEEREE ST
BEZHBEME AREEERLMS
MABMEZERERELITE

XA mTAGENERNTAERE
BABBERR T _TF=_A=1+—
BE_ZE-AF=A=+t—BHNELEK

31 March 2019: RRE DT -
Significant valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
BARMRERN FUBERGARE gE
2020 2019
—B-RE —T-NF
Unlisted investments Asset-based approach Discount for lack of 35% 30%

marketability

FLETRE BEEWE
As at 31 March 2020, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately HK$600,000 (2019: HK$538,000).

BREMERBMEITE

A\ZTEZEF=RA=+—81" F%ﬁA
fhEESRFTENBERLT  HetERZ

SmBEITER AN %H%%%észZK;ﬂ%
B Hb2mEmUk AR 4 49600,000

Bt (ZZF— L9 : 538,000 7T) °
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 7. 2MTRZ A PR R A FHE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& B ()
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with AEBEHS (EZERRTEETRD
counterparties, principally financial institutions with good SREB)FTUITESRT A -ITES R
credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including TA (BENEEH) KARESIELUE
interest rate swaps, are measured using present value or B EEEANBREBHETHE
similar calculations, incorporating significant observable
inputs.
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY NFHEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAAEEESHMIAZATFETE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B
Financial assets measured at fair value: EAFHAEZEMEE:
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EF=ZH=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ALEHEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REETH BAUBE EATTHE
ZHE BABE BARE
(%-8) (5=8) (5=8E) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TER
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATETIRRREM
through other comprehensive income FERAREBZERZRE 104,225 - 39,004 143,229
Structured deposits ERMEER - 241,103 - 241,103
Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIR IR ERES
profit or loss REZEREE 148,522 37,473 - 185,995

252,747 278,576 39,004 570,327
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47. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 7. 2MTRZ A PR R A FHE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& % ()
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) N 1E T8 )
Financial assets measured at fair value: (Continued) HEATFHFEZ2MEE: ()
As at 31 March 2019 R=ZF—NF=A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
NFEHEFER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERM S BRUBR EATAHER
ZHfE B AHE WAZE
(F—FE) (B=E) (B=E) ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THx FTHET TEx
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEIRRRER
through other comprehensive income PEBRAREZERRE 175,008 - 37,643 212,741
Structured deposits HENER - 817 - 817
Financial assets at fair value through RATESRRABET
profit or loss REZSHEE 185,458 11,639 - 197,097
Derivative financial instrument: fTHESMIA:
Interest rate swap pgect i - 41 - 41

360,556 12,497 37,643 410,696




Notes to Consolidated Fmancial Statements
HAMBHEME

Year ended 31 March 2020 BZ-F_-FTF=H=+—HIFF&E

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings,
and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the
Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions,
including interest rate swaps. The purpose is to manage
the interest rate risks arising from the Group’s sources
of finance. The Group’s accounting policies in relation
to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

A8. B 5 Ml b i P H AR R BOK
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

In the prior year, the Group had put in place an interest
rate swap arrangement for one of its floating rate term
loans to limit the variability in cash flows attributable to
changes in interest rates. This involved fixing portions
of interest payable on its underlying borrowings through
derivative instruments. Details of the interest rate swap
are disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would decrease/increase the Group’s profit before tax for
the current year by approximately HK$16,752,000 (2019:
HK$12,149,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets,
liabilities and transactions principally denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group
does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures as the majority of the sales, purchases,
costs and expenditure incurred by the operating units
of the Group are denominated in the units’ functional
currencies, except for the outstanding consideration
receivable in relation to the disposal of Hunan Carrianna
of approximately RMB104,858,000 (equivalent to
HK$114,473,000), after taking into account the
effect of discounting as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
RMB436,776,000 (equivalent to HK$509,805,000), after
taking into account the effect of discounting). The Group
has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to
foreign currency risk.

A8. Bt 5 Ml B i P H AR R BOK
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8. B 5 Ml b i P H AR R BOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued) o B R By (a)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TREATRRE AR L EREEEH
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in ZEBRKEENARBEZRNSIEA
the RMB exchange rate on the consideration receivable 2 EAMBEHMEERIETENBER
from the disposal of Hunan Carrianna with all other T EAREBRRT AR A B BRE

variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax

ARY Bk B A 35
HE(RE) #m/ OGRd)

% HK$’000
Bol FERT
2020 p g 223
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BT ARERE
against RMB 5 5,724
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens  f#7&7T 5 A RS FHE
against RMB (5) (5,724)
2019 —ZE-NF
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens BT A ARERE
against RMB (5) 25,490

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens #7875 A REFHE
against RMB 5) (25,490)
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8. BB A Bg s B H R R WK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades mainly with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures, as appropriate.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
individual customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

(80
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. W % A by H AT RBOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (8)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) f5 &R B (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Ja B b PR B 5 A B S s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF=HA=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12 R EH ZHES
FEFE FEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-K& ERE ERE Bt A% &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Due from associates** JE WO D B 2 R 320,801 = = = 320,801
Loans to an associate** BF-BBREQNRAZER™ 43,437 = = = 43,437
Trade receivables* EWE S ER - - - 78,890 78,890
Financial assets included in other FARMERERER 22K

receivables, deposits and prepayments* FENREZ EREE 348,243 = = = 348,243
Due from directors** EWEEHE 5,984 - - - 5,984
Due from non-controlling shareholders**  FEW3E#2 IR IR R AL B 6 - - - 6
Restricted cash® ZRHERE" 167 - - - 167
Pledged time deposits" EEARHER 34,696 - - - 34,696
Cash and bank balances" BERBITER 245,895 - - - 245,895

999,229 - - 78,890 1,078,119
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

A8. Bt 5 Ml B i P H AR R BOK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (4)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) fs B R B (50
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Ja B b PR R S AR B S (s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2019 R_ZE-NF=A=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12(8 R 2HEH
FEFE FEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RER FoREB 12 Bt A% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT THT
Due from associates™ NI A Ll 273,114 = = = 273,114
Loans to an associate BT -HBERRAZER 47,201 = = = 47,201
Trade receivables* ERESER - - - 46,868 46,868
Financial assets included in other receivables, &t AE (YR &L K
deposits and prepayments*™ BNFEZEREE" 770,227 = = = 770,227
Derivative financial instrument MTEERIA 41 - - - 4
Due from directors* EREEZE 10,498 = = = 10,498
Due from non-controlling shareholders* RN IR B AR SR 206 = = = 206
Restricted cash” XBHIRS" 0 = = = 90
Pledged time deposits” EEAEHER 45,412 = = = 45,412
Cash and bank balances" Re RBITES 126,259 = = = 126,259
1,273,048 - - 46,868 1,319,916

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the

simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial

statements.

= The credit quality of the financial instruments is considered
“normal”, as they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial instruments had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

A

Not yet past due

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

Y HRASERABRET AR R
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8. W5 A By i B H R R UK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK B 2 b
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds rEEEEReREERBENIHA
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and NEFEFRENERERAERERE
liabilities and projected cash flows. [ B o
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEERBRRBERERRITREME
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank B EESHBEMREZIHEZHAIREF
and other borrowings. 10
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at TERAEFASERDEHRNESRAE"
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual REHRITBRNREGTENDEHER -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2020
—Z-EF
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—F40T 3
HRERK ERE BFNE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHERT FER FHER
Trade payables ENES RN 51,987 - - 51,987
Financial liabilities included in other FAHMERER EHER
payables, accruals and deposits received REWHREZERER 256,787 4,295 - 261,082
Due to directors ENEEHE 654 - - 654
Due to non-controlling shareholders EAFERRRRE 27,893 - - 27,893
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) {8 2 8175 & (MFE30) 1,000,079 657,359 17,774 1,675,212
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank HfEZRTEEZ
borrowings FEXM 35,361 42,408 51 77,820
Lease liabilities HEER 65,705 52,599 8,406 126,710
Guarantees given to banks in connection RYEEZEREEM
with facilities granted to property BERTELER
purchasers 3,619 - - 3,619
1,442,085 756,661 26,231 2,224,977
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 48. W % W by & P H R R BOR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (4)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) &2 AR (5
2019
“E-NF
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
N —F
R EKE ZRE AENE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL TET FET THT
Trade payables ERESER 51,012 = = 51,012
Financial liabilities included in other payables, &t AE MR - FE:T B
accruals and deposits received kEMZEzeREE 154,737 5,692 - 160,429
Due to directors EEEHE 485 - - 485
Due to non-controlling shareholders R IR AR R R0E 22,391 - - 22,391
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note) M Bz RITIEE (HiF) 976,323 308,576 = 1,284,899
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank MEzRITEEZ
borrowings S 19,637 36,608 - 56,245
Finance lease payables ERMERE 18 25 - 43
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ S EEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers mRATIELER 6,144 - - 6,144

1,230,747 350,901 > 1,581,648
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48. W B W By B E A R B
(4)

W& L ERE @)
s WEZRITEEhEREEEY

48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term

loans with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$211,648,000 (2019: HK$175,486,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and
has been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the

211,648,000 T2 EHEHR (==&
— ML : 175,486,000/ T ) - B & 1%
EEEE BRI ERIER
T IRITEARFBER BB R -
it st i ZI B R M E - 22508
T A RER| RESEARDEAE

f&e

BEBA LGN BEEY TR RZE
ERBR2EA R ER2HERE
EXZRR/REERUREBEER G H
Pl 2 218 A R R - ZRHE R E B
SEEMEFBRRE B ZHBMN
T AEBEETERRZLY AEEL
TR RARE—BERFETHAL
RIER LB ES -

RIBEBE— B RRRKAIEERFHK
MERGET RBERR ZEFER
AR #IRITBR A 5REHE K B RS SR EAD
R K A RR 2 BB BIER

effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows: PN
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—FEUTH —F

RERE EgiR:3 EFHNE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
As at 31 March 2020 RZZ-ZE=A=+-H 106,177 86,067 36,588 228,832
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+—H 122,955 85,386 20,507 228,848
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8. BB A Bg s B H R R WK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) as at 31 March 2020.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai stock exchanges and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity index for the following stock
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading

(80

fix 8 B2

A% 75 (8 15 [ B 5 B IR 3= 98 8K K (&
AEFBECEIMEBURAZTSRZ
AFETHKZERB RZT_FF=H
=t+—H AEBFMEAHZREAERR
TR E D EAETRAFEYERERR
Hih2ERARBZERIEE
ERE (MFE18) 2B TR E &
DEARATEIERNEBERTEE .
CREE (19 hPa EhERRE -

AEBEN EHREERE RN LE
BEZSH LT RERREMROTS
HEMGBE

MHEEFEBR (REFAERERR 2K
BIIR S AEERRERE)  RFAZ

day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the e MEREEENT
respective highest and lowest points during the year were
as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
Asat  year ended As at year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2020 2020 2019 2019
REZE REZE
- St 222 —E-0E
=ZRA=+-H ZA=+—8H
R-Z-%H LEER |RZE-NF IEFEA
=ZA=t-H 2&/&|=R=1—A 25/ &
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index E&— B 23,603 30,280/21,139 29,051 31,498/24,540
Shenzhen - SZSE Component Index $28 31| — 378 25 A 5 8 25 9,962 11,869/8,557 10,869  10,950/7,011
Shanghai - SSE Composite Index 8 — B4R & 188 2,750  3,288/2,646 3,169  3,221/2,441
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the listed equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income, the impact is
deemed to be on the fair value reserve.

A8. B 5 Ml b i P H AR R BOK

(8

H 18 A B (@)

TNRERFTAE MR BRI KRG
BEMBBECEET REESRER
BERRKZREE HREREZQF

ZIEER R AR MR E M2 ERA
RIBZ FHEDRENE  AREZIHH
BRBATEREBREE-

Carrying
amount Changes Increase/
of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
e
BHE BRENENED BAE/ B
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TET FAT TET
2020 “ZCEF
Investment listed in: FTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8 —REM 2 ERAF
thought other comprehensive REERRE
income (note 18) (H3E18) 104,225 - 5,211
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fair value EE-REETREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 48,404 2,420 -
Shenzhen - Financial assets at fair value R -RERPREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 943 47 -
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value HE-REETREY
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (M19) 1,125 56 -
2019 —E-NE
Investment listed in: LTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investments designed &/ —REB 2 EMA S
at fair value through other REERRE
comprehensive income (M18)
(note 18) 175,098 - 8,755
— Financial assets at fair value -RERPREL
through profit or loss SREE
(note 19) CiEal) 35,911 1,796 -

* Excluding effect on retained profits

Y TERABENEE
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT A8, M F A By s P R BOK

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facility letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$3,000,000,000 (2019:
HK$2,750,000,000), which has been complied with
during the year. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019.
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48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings, net of cash and bank balances, structured
deposits, restricted cash and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

48. W B W By B E A R B
(4)

BEAEH @)

AEBUNERBELE (BIAEEKR
ZIRITRERR S MRTTHAR EBIE
R XREIRE MO ERERFERR
HARBERGERE AN EREEAR
MBI - R EHREARR B RWT

2020 2019

—EZEF —ET-NF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

{hr=g FTET FHT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings Hf &~ $R1T71& & 30 1,675,212 1,284,899
Less: Cash and bank balances i : IR & & IR77 45 &4 26 (245,895) (126,259)
Structured deposits BTN 20 (241,103) 817)
Restricted cash ZRHIRE 26 (167) (90)
Pledged time deposits EEREEBFR 26 (34,696) (45,412)

Net debt FEE 1,153,351 1,112,321
Total equity WSl 3,563,004 3,830,066
Gearing ratio EXRBELE 32% 29%
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

49. & 2% H 2 W B K 0 &

RBEHR RNRARZH BRI K ZE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2020 2019
SE L —NnE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries BB Bl 1,965,095 1,933,952
Total non-current assets EREBEERE 1,965,095 1,933,952
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and R G

prepayments e RIEA A 49 86
Due from a director R —REE IR - 2,528
Due from a subsidiary JE IR — P B A R 3R I8 80,000 80,000
Cash and bank balances e RiRTTH R 1,753 1,002
Total current assets MBEERE 81,802 83,616
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREBAE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE (127,577) (117,789)
Other payables and accruals HiENERERRESER (8,973) (8,126)
Due to directors ERTEERIA (9,369) (4,022)
Total current liabilities mBEaEEE (145,919) (129,937)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (64,117) (46,321)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#ZEBERABER

LIABILITIES 1,900,978 1,887,631
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZIR{TIEE (39,978) (59,855)
Due to associates JESTEE 2 N B FRIB (180,934) (85,287)
Total non-current liabilities FRBEERE (220,912) (145,142)
Net assets EEFE 1,680,066 1,742,489
EQUITY s
Issued capital BT 125,709 125,709
Reserves (note) fwEE (MIsE) 1,554,357 1,616,780
Total equity R EE 1,680,066 1,742,489
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 49. A8 E Z KR % )
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARRZREBERERNT :
Share Capital Share
premium  Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RAEEE EHER EABOREE BRERE  REEN h

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER AR ThARL AT

At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FNA—H 1,395,421 59,759 316 4,991 231,016 1,691,508
Loss for the year and total comprehensive ~ AEEERBRAEE

loss for the year EBRGE - - - - (13,624) (13,624)
Issue of shares upon exercise of share RTEERERETRG

options 1,938 - - (518 - 1,420
Equity-settled share option arrangements ~ WIEREE 2 BRETH - - - 335 - 335
Transfer of share option reserve upon RERER KR ERBRIERE

forfeiture of share options - - - (1,009) 1,009 -
Final and special 2018 dividend ZE-\ERBREARE - - - - (62,854) (62,854)
At31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019  R=-ZE-NEZA=+-BkK

RZB-hEMA-A 1,397,359 59,759 316 3,799 155,547 1,616,780

Loss for the year and total FEEFRRAEE

comprehensive loss for the year 2EEBAE - - - - (25,443) (25,443)
Equity-settled share option arrangements A E# £ & 2 BRER H - - - 733 - 733
Final 2019 dividend ZE-REXRERE - - - - (37,713) (37,713)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-EE=f=1-H 1,397,359 59,759 316 4,532 92,391 1,554,357
The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a KRB ZEBEHREBTIE—ANL—FNA
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991 T BZAREEEAMES BEAQT
and represented the difference between the nominal BITRAZEEERBEREESAMmK
value of the share capital issued by the Company and BrHBRAIIZEHEEFEZEZR
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired BEBTFEZARBITZHE-

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

49. & A 5 2 W B M0 & (a0

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of

REBRE-NN-FRQBE (,%‘375{'4}
7)) BRIASBARETHEERIDIKT
PR -

BREFRBEERRLERKRITEZER

BOVE FHE—THRPHRERH
2 AR RERSN Z @ EREK &
SEARNEABRERTERERER
0 (B AR 30 A B ME AR 3B B s B0R MR

share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium

account when the related options are exercised, or be Freg = REBEF
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

50. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 50. W B & Z #t

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised MBHMRER_ZE_TEFA=ZT1AB
for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2020. KEESHEWIREEM -




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEDEME

31 March 2020 —FE=F#=H=+—H

as at 31 March 2020 are as follows:

Name/location

BB

Tenure

ERAKE

Type
A

R-E_ZEF=ZA=+-BHAKEHFAENZT
BREMEFBEWT

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(FHK)

Effective
% held
BRES
Bt

Stage of
completion

52 7 P BR

Hong Kong
B

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase Il

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

RS B E2005%
BfaP.0E 5

2612B=E

Ground Floor and Cockloft
61 South Wall Road
Kowloon City, Kowloon
NENEW I FEE
B15EH T R A

Shop on Ground Floor

No. 188 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
B REKE

ke

1885k 1 4

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5
Young Ya Industrial Building
381-389 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
MALE

0 1 #E381-3895%
BOTERE

158 &

T ZE55R HE L

Notes:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

REFEA

Medium term lease

R A

Medium term lease

A

I

GES

GES

I¥%¥

1,568

87

114

2,694

GEE

100

100

60

100

Completed

BEK

Completed

BEK

Completed

B

Completed

MEFERI-IT¥ R—EE C-E*
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - ZF=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued) ZIREMEFBOT : (F)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
BEREH
B8 HRAME A HEEEBROH B THER
(m?)
(F7HK)

Hong Kong
gE

Shop No. 1 on G/F Medium term lease  C 104 60 Completed
together with the loft

thereto, Beverly Court

Nos. 151-159 Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon )
NEERKY R EARE 4 [EES BIEMK
Eigﬁhm-wg%)ﬁ

g
i 155 475
EREE

5/F and main roof Medium term lease R 50 90 Completed
No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street

Tai Po, New Territories i
RN R EARE 4 F=E BEX
R H355%

IRRIEXRA

Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 102 100 Completed
No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong )
EAEHM FHITHA) [EES =354

BS M K 4E1025%

N

Shop on Ground and Cockloft Medium term lease  C 89 100 Completed
No. 186A Hai Tan Street

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon i
NEERKY hEATE A EES mh:354
#BIEHT186A

T 4 328 ] R 48

F'I'i‘:

Notes: B

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB

Tenure

ERAKE

Type
A

Schedule of Principal Properties
FEY % 1 %

31 March 2020 —E_-F#=H=

R-ZZE_TF-_A=+—HAKRERHENT
RREMEFBEOT : (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)

(FHK)

Effective Stage of
% held completion
BEREE
Bolk THER

Hong Kong
B

Shop on Ground Floor
No. 270 Ki Lung Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NEERKY

EIE 5727058

T4

Flat F on 1st Floor
Gold Reserved Count
No. 16 Tai Main Lane
Tai Po, New Territories
WRKE

AR B 1698

—EFE

Ground Floor

No. 355 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
HREHE

/)18 783555

N

2nd Floor including Flat Roof and
Car Parking Space No. 19 on
Ground Floor

Shui Sum Industrial Building
Castle Peak Road/Kwai Sau Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

SV S

R IEAE2E

Kb 1955 JAE 7

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

R HIAR A

GES

GES

GES

77 100 Completed

B

50 100 Completed

B

53 70 Completed

B

1,082 67 Completed

[R5359

i3]
MEER: I-IT% R—EE C—HHE

ﬁl{‘:
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R-_ZE-_ZTHF=A=+—HAEBFANT
as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued) EREYEFEOT : (B)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERKE

Type
A

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(FF7XK)

Effective
% held
BRES
Btk

Stage of
completion

52 7 P R

Hong Kong
B

Lot No 423 on D.D. 292
No. 18 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung, New Territories
WRAER

= T E185
ERMIENH
EE2024) 1 B} 554235

Mainland China
HE K BE

Carrianna Friendship Square
Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

R E R
AEﬁ%&%ﬂ%i
FEPREES

A building at Hua Shan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Gua Jgdorwg Province

%%E

R
HHEIER
Kz —BEF

Notes:

Medium term lease

FHED

Medium term lease

FHED

Medium term lease

A

GES

T¥

70

28,390

4,647

i3]

F'I'i‘:

90

100

100

Completed

Completed

YEER: I-T¥ R—FE C—m%

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
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31 March 2020 —E_-F#=H=

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R-_ZE-_ZTF=A=+—HAEBFANT
as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued) SIREYEFEOT : (B)

Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
BERER
&8/ HRAME A WQEEE%J% B THER
(m?)

(FHK)

Mainland China
SEPN:

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 4,899 100 Completed

Hong Vi Cun

Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone \
AYA B R REBEL wE/ BEX

Eﬁﬁ% F=x

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 6,838 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal ‘
1 R ERTR AT [EES =354
B[R

1B BAER 1457

A building at Xi Huan Road Medium term lease | 18,922 100 Completed
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guan }gdon Province
LLE’\ 3

Eﬁ%ﬁ
HMEI%R
PRI 2 —BIEF

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C/R 4,210 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

IR A I% [R5329

Y B R FHERFR 4 EYE BEK
/\Eﬁﬂkﬁﬁﬂﬂki *=E
EEHREES

Notes: B oE -

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WEER I-T¥ R—EFE C—HEHZE
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31 March 2020 —FE=F#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R -Z -_ZF=A=+—HAEBEZHIEA
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: M BEREE L EEMEFBOT

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
8/ HR%tE 5l BEEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Hong Kong
gE

Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812 100 Completed
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L.21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase |l

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

HRER EATE A Ix BIERK
KB 5820055

EfmhOE =

26IEAZE REE195

2055 2155 ~ 2255 -

395 RA0SR B AL K

L2 EEAEN

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yeung Street

Shatin, New territories

AR H FEITH A Ix BIERK
B E14-185

EHETEAE

BEE18ER19E

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER: I-T¥ R—FE C-—HE




Schedule of Principal Properties
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31 March 2020 —E_-F#=H=

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-TFE=F=+—HAEBFEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: % -HERRBZ ESWEFBUO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
£/ HRNtE 5l BEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Mainland China
B K BE

Nos. 3-6, 5/F Medium term lease  C 1,068 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN BE R FHITR AT EES =354
ARBEREERBERA

EEMREES

F 3657

Units A, B, Cand D Medium term lease R 557 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building

Renmin South Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B E  ERAR 4 T=® BIERK
ZyR ARBRE

BEXE

141A B CKDERI7THEmMEBE

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commeracial YIEER: I- T R—FE C—HX




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2020 —FE=F#F=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-TFE=F=+—HAEBHEIELAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: % -HERREBEZ EEWEFBOT : (F)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
&8 HR%E 5l BEEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Mainland China
B K PE

Room 301-304, 321-326 Long term lease C 1,570 100 Completed
Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District

Futian District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

R BEE REALD RS =354
‘AR

BHPLERAEA

FIRLEBRE

301-304% [ 321-326F

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 12,954 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal

Il R HARE 4 [EES BIEK
B &

18 B RE 1457

Sales Centre Medium term lease  C 1,739 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BEEE R ERRE A [EES &R
BEBLERMAER

REEXR

B RAB R ACR

ZIHP D

Notes: B

ﬁﬂ:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—E%




Schedule of Principal Properties
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31 March 2020 —E_-F#=H=

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R -Z-_ZF=A=+—HAEBZHFERE

Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: RZEEMEFFET
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HRME A HEEEHENH Bl THER
(m?)
(FHK)
Hong Kong
g8
Ground floor & 1st floor Medium term lease R 83 90 Completed

Lot No. 424 on D.D. 292

No.17 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung North, New Territories

ATmAIL R EIR A F=E 2523014
BETFITH

EEMTEND

F292K) M BR F 4243

M8

Mainland China
B A BE

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C/R 212 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RGBT R H ERAR 4 GEY4 BI&K
AREERERERR T=E

EEPRERS

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 153 100 Completed
Hong Vi Cun

Baoan South Road
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

Y B R REHEY EEVE B
BELEE F=

// N *T

BEAER

Notes: MR

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WEER: I-IT% R-—FE C-B%
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Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZE-_ZEF=ZA=+—BAEEFEEEL

Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued) EZEEMEFBUOT: (F)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HRAME A HEEEBROH B THER
(m?)
(F7HK)
Mainland China
Bl KB
Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 34,510 100 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

EEE FEITR A [EES BEX
BEBEERMAER

REEXR

HLEE R A B A BER

HEREZHH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 49,157 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

EE) RETHA GES B
EEBEERMARE

REEXRE

HICBE R A BRI CR

EMZHH 0

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial VIR I- T R—FE C—HEX




Particulars of principal properties under development held by
the Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued)

Location

it B

Use

Jick

Site
area

T EE
(m?)
(EHK)

Schedule of Principal Properties
i%%%%%

31 March 2020 —E_-F#=H=

RZZEZEF=
P EEYEFBOT: (B)

Stage of
completion

52 R B

A=1+—BAKERBER

Expected
Effective completion
% held date
BERER
Aot BrtEMRBH

Mainland China
HE K BE

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
@ﬁ%

BB E R
h%?%[
HLER R A8 B A BER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road F section
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
géﬁ:

BEERMRER
%%F%[
B RABBEFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

BE;

BEBLERMAE R
mEEXR
R A BB ECR

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

Commercial/
residential

BE/EE

26,069

77,757

22,731

Foundation work
in progress

SR TIZETH

Foundation work
in progress

WETIZETH

Foundation work
in progress

R TI2ETH

100 N/A

100 N/A

TER

100 N/A
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Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-ZT-_TF A=+ —BAEBIFEEE

the Group as at 31 March 2020 are as follows: (Continued) FrZEFEYEFBOT: (B)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BREE
1t B A& THEE 72 B P B} Bot BrtxERBH
(m?)
(FFHXK)
Mainland China
B KR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
”_“/% BE/EE WEIRETH NiEB
BB R R
Em%?%[
MR RABEAER
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress
Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone
Lianyungang
@Eﬁ& mE/E METRETH TEA
BB E R
E&%F%E

B RABRAGER
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